CONTENTS

- 1. A Bifurcation Model of the Quantum Field (pp. 2-22).
- 2. Bifurcations and Pattern Formation in Particle Physics: An Introductory Study (pp. 23-30).
- 3. Complexity in Quantum Field Theory and Physics Beyond the Standard Model (pp. 31-40).
- 4. *Critical Behavior in Continuous Dimensions, E-infinity Theory and Particle Physics* (pp. 41-48).
- 5. Fractional Dynamics and Collider Phenomenology (pp. 49-52).
- 6. Fractional Dynamics and the Standard Model of Particle Physics (pp. 53-60).
- 7. Fractional Dynamics and the TeV Regime of Field Theory (pp. 61-71).
- 8. Fractional Dynamics, Cantorian Spacetime and the Gauge Hierarchy Problem (pp. 72-79).
- 9. Nonlinear Behavior of the Renormalization Group Flow and Standard Model *Parameters* (pp. 80-86).
- 10. On the Asymptotic Transition to Complexity in Quantum Chromodynamics (pp. 87-94).
- 11. On the Relationship between Hamiltonian Chaos and Classical Gravity (pp. 95-102).
- 12. Renormalization Group and the Emergence of Random Fractal Topology in Quantum Field Theory (pp. 103 -110).
- 13. Stability of Renormalization Group Trajectories and the Fermion Flavor Problem (pp. 111-116).

Physica A 165 (1990) 399-419 North-Holland

A BIFURCATION MODEL OF THE QUANTUM FIELD

Ervin GOLDFAIN

Research & Development Department, Optical Systems Division, Cambridge Instruments Inc., Buffalo, NY 14240, USA

Received 22 January 1990

The paper reveals a new interpretation of the Standard Model for elementary particle physics. The approach is based on the concept of chaotic behavior applied to the gauge transformation. Following the framework of bifurcation theory, the paper provides a simple and consistent picture of lepton and boson production.

The author reveals the fractal structure of the quantum harmonic oscillator. A map of quantum field organisation is developed together with the Lagrangian formalism of the model. On this map the structure of the field appears as a "branching out" pattern.

The paper describes the internal symmetry between gravity and electromagnetism with respect to the gauge transformation. A discussion on the physical meaning of the W field and of the isospin eigenstate T_3 is included.

1. Introduction

A major achievement in the field of elementary particle physics has been the development of the Standard Model (SM). As is currently accepted, this model represents a unique synthesis of the theory of the strong force (QCD) with the theory of electroweak interaction. QCD is basically a non-Abelian gauge theory on the SU(3) color while the electroweak model successfully describes the interaction of quarks and leptons.

Although a formally consistent approach, SM is far from being completed. There are several open questions that await clarification and further extensions are yet to come. Among the issues that are not covered by the SM, the key ones are as follows:

- (A) Why are there three families of gauge bosons?
- (B) Why are there three flavors of neutrinos and why are they left-handed?
- (C) Why six quarks and eight gluons?
- (D) Is there a physical background underlying the spontaneous breaking of symmetry and is the Higgs mechanism the only way to understand the mass spectrum?

0378-4371/90/\$03.50 © Elsevier Science Publishers B.V. (North-Holland)

The present paper is intended to fill in some of the remaining "holes" in the conceptual structure of the SM.

The approach is based upon the geometry of fractals and the theory of bifurcations applied to nonlinear dynamical systems. As stated, our goal is to deepen the understanding of SM without altering its fundamental construction. Consequently, our theory suggests an alternative route to SM.

Fractals have found wide application in many forefront areas of physics such as condensed matter, crystals growth, polymer statistics, fracture propagation, physics of spin systems and so on.

An analysis of the quantum harmonic oscillator performed in phase space reveals that it is possible to assign a fractal configuration to this space. Since the scale invariant properties of fractals are intimately connected with the chaotic behavior of nonlinear systems, it makes sense to further investigate how these concepts can be incorporated in the SM.

The physical foundation of this treatment lies in the following:

- (A) All elementary particles (leptons, quarks and gauge bosons)-taken as solutions of the quantum field equations-are essentially nonlinear dynamical systems.
- (B) The bifurcation theory-as developed by Feigenbaum in 1977-claims universality over the internal evolution of nonlinear dynamical systems.

As a result, there is a specific instability associated with the equations describing the field transformations. It is shown that this mechanism can unveil the spectrum of field quanta in a sequential manner.

The paper develops by applying the theory of bifurcations directly to the gauge transformation. The gauge transformation is the backbone of the whole SM construction. It is the nonabelian gauge invariance that makes the SM a renormalizable theory and determines the phenomenological structure of it [1].

The main benefit of this approach lies in the fact that particles appear organized in a regular and self-similar pattern. The quantum field has a structure which repeats itself from family to family. This "branching-out" layout is consistent with the nonabelian symmetries of the SM and brings into a unique picture all known bosons and fermions.

A possible extension of the bifurcation model is also outlined. This formalism explores the derivation of vacuum expectation values for the field in a manner that bypasses the Higgs mechanism. As mentioned earlier, the framework of the Higgs mechanism is not presently understood.

The paper finally examines a possible extension of the bifurcation model to include the gravitational field in the picture. The underlying physics relates to the internal symmetry of gravity and electromagnetism with respect to the gauge transformation. A discussion on the physical meaning of the W boson and of the isospin T_3 is presented. Several postulates are introduced to make



Fig. 1.

the treatment self-contained and to set its limits of validity. The rationale of each postulate is briefly reviewed below:

(P1). This postulate originates in the uncertainty principle and sets the quantum-mechanical zero point fluctuations of canonical variables. Therefore it has to be understood as a definition of the first order differential from the standpoint of the measurement process.

(P2). This postulate states the definition of a "noise-free" representation of the theory and originates also in the measurement process of canonical variables.

(P3). This postulate is a consequence of the "charge" conservation theorems from the relativistic quantum field theory.

(P4), (P5). These are transcriptions of the exclusion principle and of the Schwinger-Lüders-Pauli theorem, respectively.

Our approach is part of a general effort of theorists to broaden the knowledge basis of SM. Its relationship with the SM lies mainly in the so-called Renormalization Group ideas [1, 2] as implied by the diagram in fig. 1.

2. A fractal treatment of the harmonic oscillator

This section is an attempt to prove that the one-dimensional vibrational mode can be represented as a fractal object. As is well known, the linear harmonic oscillator is described by canonical operators p and q satisfying the commutation relation

$$[q, p] = \mathbf{i} \,. \tag{1}$$

The analogous classical system exhibits elliptical orbits in the phase space,

$$\frac{p^2}{2mE} + \frac{q^2}{(2E/m\omega^2)} = 1, \qquad (2)$$

where E is the total energy and m is the reduced mass of the particle. The area determined by the orbit boundary is always a finite number:

$$S = \int_{D} p \, \mathrm{d}q = n + \frac{1}{2} \,,$$
 (3)

n being a finite positive integer (Sommerfeld's quantisation rule). To evaluate the length of the orbit boundary we introduce two postulates as follows.

 $\langle P1 \rangle$. The first order differential of canonical variables has the same order of magnitude as their respective fluctuations [3],

$$dq = \Delta q = (2\omega)^{-1/2} \tag{4}$$

$$dp = \Delta p \ge (2 \,\Delta q)^{-1} \tag{5}$$

 $\langle P2 \rangle$. The coordinate fluctuation is smaller than the coordinate itself:

$$\Delta q/q = 1/q(2\omega)^{1/2} < 1 \tag{6}$$

The above statement takes into account the fact that measurement of q is supposed to provide an acceptable level of resolution. Only this circumstance is able to generate a "noise-free" representation of the field behaviour. The length of the orbit is the line integral given by

$$L = 4 \int_{0}^{(2E/m\omega^{2})^{1/2}} \left[1 + \left(\frac{\mathrm{d}p}{\mathrm{d}q}\right)^{2} \right]^{1/2} \mathrm{d}q \;.$$
(7)

Let us replace now the orbit slope by the ratio of coordinate and momentum fluctuations and use postulate $\langle P2 \rangle$,

$$L \ge 4 \int_{0}^{(2E/m\omega^{2})^{1/2}} \left[1 + \frac{1}{4}(\Delta q)^{-4}\right]^{1/2} \mathrm{d}q \ge 4 \int_{0}^{(2E/m\omega^{2})^{1/2}} \left[1 + \frac{1}{4}(q)^{-4}\right]^{1/2} \mathrm{d}q \quad (8)$$

$$\rightarrow \frac{L}{2} \ge \int_{0}^{(2E/m\omega^{2})^{1/2}} q^{-2} (1+4q^{4})^{1/2} \, \mathrm{d}q = \int_{0}^{1} \cdots + \int_{1}^{(2E/m\omega^{2})^{1/2}} \cdots .$$
(9)

This definite integral can be computed starting from the general form [4]:

$$J = \int_{0}^{1} x^{p-1} (1-x)^{n-1} (1+bx^{m})^{l} dx \qquad (b^{2} > 1), \qquad (10)$$

where

$$p = -1$$
, $n = 1$, $m = 4$, $l = \frac{1}{2}$ and $[0, 1] \in [0, (2E/m\omega^2)^{1/2}]$, (11)

which leads us to the following result:

$$L \ge 2 \sum_{K=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{2K} \frac{4^{K} \Gamma(4K-1)}{\Gamma(4K)} , \qquad (12)$$

where Γ represents the factorial function

$$\Gamma(1+z) = z! , \tag{13}$$

such that

$$L \ge \sum_{K=1}^{\infty} \frac{4^{K}}{K} \frac{(4K-2)!}{(4K-1)!} = \sum_{K=1}^{\infty} \frac{4^{K}}{K} \frac{1}{4K-1} .$$
(14)

This numerical series diverges according to D'Alembert's convergence criterion [4]:

$$\lim_{K \to \infty} \frac{U_{K+1}}{U_K} = 4 \lim_{K \to \infty} \frac{K(4K-1)}{(K+1)(4K+3)} = 4 > 1.$$
(15)

The result above indicates that the orbit length is a nonfinite quantity while the area (3) bounded by the same orbit remains finite. This indicates that the quantum field associated with the harmonic oscillator is suitable for a fractal description. Furthermore, since scale invariant properties of fractals are closely related to "chaos" and "strange attractors" in dynamical systems, it makes sense to attempt to fuse these concepts to SM.

3. The chaotic behavior of the global gauge transformation

Consider an isolated packet of waves representing an arbitrary free field $\phi(x)$. There are many examples of such "soliton-like" modes which can be

403

configurated as local peaks. For instance one can take the ground state of the quantum harmonic oscillator [5]:

$$\phi^0(x) \sim \exp(-\frac{1}{2}x^2)$$
, (16)

where x stands for the field coordinate and the first order Hermite polynomial is

$$H_0(x) = 1$$
. (17)

Another traditional "soliton-like" wave can be introduced by performing a Fourier transformation on the space packet such that [6]

$$\phi_0(\boldsymbol{k}) \sim \int_{D} d^3 x \exp(-i\boldsymbol{k} \cdot \boldsymbol{x}) \phi_0(\boldsymbol{x}) .$$
(18)

With a translation of the wave number,

$$\boldsymbol{k}' = \boldsymbol{k} - \boldsymbol{k}_0 \,, \tag{19}$$

where

$$k_0 = 2\pi / \lambda_0 , \qquad (20)$$

the function (18) has a unique maximum at k' = 0 and is symmetrical with respect to the origin:

$$\partial \phi_0 / \partial k' > 0$$
 for $k' < 0$,
 $\partial \phi_0 / \partial k' < 0$ for $k' > 0$. (21)

Consider now the standard gauge transformation which leaves the structure of the theory invariant [1] and apply this to (18):

$$\phi_0(\mathbf{k}) \to \phi_0'(\mathbf{k}) = \exp(-i\chi) \ \phi_0(\mathbf{k}) , \qquad (22)$$

where χ is equivalent to an arbitrary "phase" factor. Notice that $\exp(-i\chi)$ can be thought as a rotation operator in an appropriate space such that its components are always smaller or equal than unity. Since rotations generate a group of transformations with multiplication as a composition rule, a sequence of iterations applied to (22) will not alter its form. Consequently, from a

404

physical standpoint, there is no way of separating "a priori" a first order iteration from a nth order one given by

$$\phi_0^{(n)}(\boldsymbol{k}) = \underbrace{\phi_0 \cdot (\phi_0 \cdot (\phi_0 \cdot \cdots \cdot \phi_0(\boldsymbol{k})))}_{n \text{ times}} = \exp(-in\chi) \phi_0(\boldsymbol{k}) .$$
(23)

On the other hand, transformation (22) defined above belongs to a larger class of mappings which display chaotic behavior. Under a given set of iterations, (22) may exhibit convergence to a stable attractor or erratic divergence depending on the phase selection. It is shown that a gradual variation of the phase factor drives a sequence of bifurcations such that, for each $j \ge 0$, function (22) has a single unstable orbit of period 2^j [2]. On letting the phase vary beyond a critical value the cycles generation replicates itself and (22) develops unstable orbits of period $3 \cdot 2^j$. The bifurcation scenario unfolds in a manner that makes it comparable to the concept of scale invariance derived from the geometry of fractal sets.

The chaotic behavior of the gauge transformation is similar to the divergence associated with the harmonic solution of the Klein–Gordon equation

$$(\partial^{\mu}\partial_{\mu} + m^2)\phi = 0, \qquad (24)$$

where the frequency is a complex number,

$$\omega = \omega_{\rm R} + i\omega_{\rm I} = \pm \sqrt{k^2 + m^2} \qquad (k = 2\pi/\lambda) , \qquad (25)$$

such that $\omega_I = 0$ defines the marginal stability and $\omega_I > 0$ generates exponentially growing amplitudes [7].

The above considerations indicate that the non-univocity of phase choice leads to an internal instability of the gauge transformation. Therefore, the degeneracy of the gauge fields may be related to a "branching-out" pattern implied by the bifurcation mechanism. As a result, the operational equivalence of $\exp(-i\chi)$ and $\exp(-im\chi)$ may be regarded as the source of field architecture.

Furthermore, because gauging the elementary particles physics is the central idea of the Standard Model, we believe that a "chaotic" formalism can provide a simple and consistent description of the quantum field dynamics.

4. Postulates and conventions

To develop the frame of our approach the following statements are taken as assumptions:

 $\langle P3 \rangle$. Antisymmetric fields (labeling fermions) are generated or annihilated always in pairs. Consequently, the doublets are the fundamental eigenstates of the fermionic field, while singlets represent excited eigenstates.

 $\langle P4 \rangle$. Exclusion principle applies to all fermions.

 $\langle P5 \rangle$. CPT invariance is always valid when applied to either bosons or fermions while partial symmetries (like CP, P, T, ...) are not necessarily valid and may be violated.

As a result of $\langle P5 \rangle$, *CPT* invariance operates as a restriction rule which forbids some of the field states to appear as distinct (see section 5).

As a convention, the order in which the components of a doublet are listed corresponds to the time relationship between "cause" and "effect". Therefore, if T stands for the time inversion operator and (f_1, f_2) is a generic doublet, then

$$T(f_1, f_2) = (f_2, f_1).$$
(26)

Finally, because the history of field transformation may be tracked in terms of phase selection (χ) or the number of cycles accumulated within the bifurcation process (N), either one of these two variables can be taken as an independent field coordinate.

5. The internal dynamics of the quantum field

The goal of this section is to generate and explain a map of field dynamics as outlined in section 3.

If one takes the period of cycles arisen from bifurcations as an input variable (N) and the phase χ as the output, then a plot of the field architecture looks like fig. 2.

In this map V_1, V_2, V_3, \ldots or V^1, V^2, \ldots stand for bifurcation vertices. Let us consider a generic field of form (18) being subjected to the bifurcation mechanism. For the time being, the particular structure of the field is not relevant so $\phi_0(k)$ may be scalar, spinorial, vectorial or tensorial. In each of vertices V_j or V^j ($j \le N$) transformation of the field must face the following "dilemma": if n_j is the number of cycles already generated and p_j is the number of new cycles, then the field behaves either symmetrically or antisymmetrically with respect to the transposition $n_i \leftrightarrow p_j$:

$$\phi(n_j, p_j) = e^{i\alpha}\phi(p_j, n_j), \qquad e^{i\alpha} = \pm 1.$$
(27)

It seems natural to assign the symmetry of the field in (27) to bosons while



antisymmetry is associated with fermions. Since there is no privilege for either one of the two options, in each bifurcation vertex the field transformation may "jump" from the first branch of the plot to the second one. Therefore, if one considers the 2^{j} pattern of cycle accumulation typical for bosons and the $3 \cdot 2^{j}$ pattern typical for fermions, a transition boson-fermion appears to be a natural consequence of (27).

Let us discuss now each of the map vertices. Following the Standard Model, there are three symmetries to be taken into account for the gauge bosons: U(1), SU(2) and SU(3). Accordingly, three families of gauge bosons are introduced: the photon (γ), the weak triplet (W⁺, W⁻, W⁰) and the multiplet of cight gluons (g_1, g_2, \ldots, g_8). The above map suggests a logical extension of this configuration as described below:

(a) In V_1 a number of 2^1 bosons are created and a natural partner for the photon (γ) could be the graviton (g).

(b) In V_2 a number of 2^2 bosons are created and the weak triplet may be replaced by two SU(2) weak triplets as follows:

$$\mathbf{V}_{2}: \qquad \boldsymbol{\zeta}_{1} = \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{W}^{+} \\ \mathbf{W}^{-} \\ \mathbf{W}^{0} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \boldsymbol{\zeta}_{2} = \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{W}^{+} \\ \mathbf{W}^{-} \\ \mathbf{B}^{0} \end{pmatrix}.$$
(28)

Here B^0 is the "extra" massive boson added to the initial family (W^+ , W^- , W^0).

(c) In V₃ a number of 2^3 bosons are created and these may be identified with the gluon multiplet (g_1, g_2, \ldots, g_8) .

Following a similar judgement one can describe the structure of the fermionic vertices V^{j} .

(a) At V¹ the field triplicates because a number of $3 \cdot 2^0$ fermions are created. According to postulate $\langle P3 \rangle$ these eigenstates must be doublets. Since a transition boson-fermion is likely to take place (see (27)) and V₁ is the nearest bosonic vertex, it makes sense to assume that V¹ is filled in with ultrarelativistic doublets (neutrino type),

$$V^{1}: \quad (\nu_{e}, \bar{\nu}_{e}), \quad (\nu_{\mu}, \bar{\nu}_{\mu}), \quad (\nu_{\tau}, \bar{\nu}_{\tau}).$$
⁽²⁹⁾

We will focus below only on the electronic neutrino branch. Assuming the *CPT* invariance (postulate $\langle P5 \rangle$), neutrino doublets appear only in a polarized state. If L and R stand for "left-hand" and "right-hand", then

$$CPT: \quad (\nu_{\rm e}, \bar{\nu}_{\rm e})_{\rm L} \to (\nu_{\rm e}, \bar{\nu}_{\rm e})_{\rm R} , \qquad (30)$$

where the following line of operations was performed:

$$(\nu_{e}, \bar{\nu}_{e})_{L} \xrightarrow{C} (\bar{\nu}_{e}, \nu_{e})_{L} \xrightarrow{P} (\bar{\nu}_{e}, \nu_{e})_{R} \xrightarrow{T} (\nu_{e}, \bar{\nu}_{e})_{R} .$$

$$(31)$$

Consequently, the left-handed neutrinos and the right-handed ones are overlapped and only one polarized doublet has physical meaning. This conclusion agrees with the experimental data [1].

(b) At V^2 a number of $3 \cdot 2^1$ eigenstates develops. It makes sense to fill in this vertex with those leptons which make transitions from the neighbouring vertices possible. It appears that the electroweak interaction must play here a major role. A plausible configuration of V^2 may look like

$$V^{2}: (e^{-}, \bar{\nu}_{e})_{R}, (e^{-}, -)_{L}, (e^{+}, \nu_{e})_{L}, (e^{+}, -)_{R}, (-, e^{-})_{R}, (-, e^{+})_{L}.$$
(32)

The first state is a SU(2) doublet while the second one is a SU(2) singlet. The reason for introducing such a singlet lies in the formal symmetry between $(e^-, \bar{\nu}_e)_R$ and $(e^-,)_L$. The component $\bar{\nu}_e$ is missing from the excited state $(e^-,)_L$ because left-handed antineutrinos are forbidden. The fourth and fifth states replicate the first and the second ones but are *not* identical with them. To check this statement one can apply a *CPT* operator such that

$$(e^{-}, \bar{\nu}_{e})_{R} \xrightarrow{C} (e^{+}, \nu_{e})_{R} \xrightarrow{P} (e^{+}, \nu_{e})_{L} \xrightarrow{T} (\nu_{e}, e^{+})_{L}, \qquad (33)$$

E. Goldfain / A bifurcation model of the quantum field

$$(\nu_{\rm e}, e^+)_{\rm L} \neq (e^+, \nu_{\rm e})_{\rm L}$$
 (34)

Also

$$(e^{-},)_{L} \xrightarrow{C} (e^{+},)_{L} \xrightarrow{P} (e^{+},)_{R} \xrightarrow{T} (, e^{+})_{R},$$

$$(35)$$

$$(, e^{+})_{R} \neq (e^{+},)_{R}.$$
 (36)

The fifth and sixth states enter as "mirror" images of electronic singlets as long as no privilege can be assigned to either left- or right-handed electrons. Relations (33) and (35) indicate that V^2 can be basically structured on three levels in an analogous manner as V^1 , namely: V^2 : (electron "up"; electron-neutrino "middle"; electron "down") because all the eigenstates listed in (32) are interchangeable with their symmetrical images. For instance,

$$(e^{-}, \bar{\nu}_{e})_{R} \equiv (\nu_{e}, e^{+})_{L} = T(e^{+}, \nu_{e})_{L},$$
 (37)

$$(e^{-},)_{L} \equiv (, e^{+})_{R} = P(, e^{+})_{L}.$$
 (38)

(c) At V³ a number of $3 \cdot 2^2$ eigenstates develops which can be related to V² and V₃. Therefore, the structure of V³ may be based on the quarks family and displays the following organisation:

$$V^{3}: \begin{cases} (u_{\alpha}, d_{\alpha})_{L}, & (u_{\alpha}, d_{\alpha})_{R}, & (\bar{u}_{\alpha}, d_{\alpha})_{L}, & (\bar{u}_{\alpha}, d_{\alpha})_{R}, \\ (u_{\beta}, d_{\beta})_{L}, & (u_{\beta}, d_{\beta})_{R}, & (\bar{u}_{\beta}, \bar{d}_{\beta})_{L}, & (\bar{u}_{\beta}, \bar{d}_{\beta})_{R}, \\ (u_{\delta}, d_{\delta})_{L}, & (u_{\delta}, d_{\delta})_{R}, & (\bar{u}_{\delta}, \bar{d}_{\delta})_{L}, & (\bar{u}_{\delta}, \bar{d}_{\delta})_{R}. \end{cases}$$
(39)

Here (α, β, δ) is the triplet of colors carried by quarks such that

$$\alpha + \beta + \delta = 1. \tag{40}$$

Let us point out that quarks enter *only* in doublets and cannot be therefore isolated as single excitations. Quark triplets appear as linear superpositions of these doublets.

Since every color has an anticolor $(\bar{\alpha}, \bar{\beta} \text{ or } \bar{\delta})$, *CPT* invariance must be operating as a prohibiting criterion for additional combinations in (39). In particular

$$(\mathbf{u}_{\alpha}, \mathbf{d}_{\alpha})_{\mathrm{L}} \xrightarrow{C} (\mathbf{u}_{\tilde{\alpha}}, \mathbf{d}_{\tilde{\alpha}})_{\mathrm{L}} \xrightarrow{P} (\mathbf{u}_{\tilde{\alpha}}, \mathbf{d}_{\tilde{\alpha}})_{\mathrm{R}} \xrightarrow{T} (\mathbf{u}_{\tilde{\alpha}}, \mathbf{d}_{\tilde{\alpha}})_{\mathrm{R}} .$$

$$(41)$$

Notice here that C operates on the color only. If C would have been set to

409

Vertex	N	Configuration
V ₁	2	γg
V ₂	4	$\mathbf{W}^+ \mathbf{W}^0 \mathbf{B}^0 \mathbf{W}^-$
$\tilde{V_3}$	8	$g_1 g_2, \ldots, g_7 g_8$
V ¹	3	$(\nu_{\mu}, \bar{\nu}_{\mu}) (\nu_{e}, \bar{\nu}_{e}) (\nu_{\tau}, \bar{\nu}_{\tau})$
V^2	6	$(e^{-}, \tilde{\nu}_{e})_{R} (e^{-},)_{L} (e^{+}, \nu_{e})_{L} (e^{+},)_{R} (-, e^{-})_{R} (-, e^{+})_{L}$
V^3	12	$(\mathbf{u}_{\alpha},\mathbf{d}_{\alpha})_{\mathrm{L}}(\mathbf{u}_{\alpha},\mathbf{d}_{\alpha})_{\mathrm{R}}\dots(\bar{\mathbf{u}}_{\gamma},\bar{\mathbf{d}}_{\gamma})_{\mathrm{L}}(\bar{\mathbf{u}}_{\gamma},\bar{\mathbf{d}}_{\gamma})_{\mathrm{R}}$

operate on the quark itself, then

$$(\mathbf{u}_{\alpha}, \mathbf{d}_{\alpha})_{\mathrm{L}} \stackrel{CPT}{\rightarrow} (\bar{\mathbf{d}}_{\alpha}, \bar{\mathbf{u}}_{\alpha})_{\mathrm{R}} \neq (\bar{\mathbf{u}}_{\alpha}, \bar{\mathbf{d}}_{\alpha})_{\mathrm{R}}.$$

To conclude this section let us mention that the muonic and taonic branches separated at V^1 are equivalent to the electronic branch discussed above. Therefore, the field architecture stays invariant with respect to the substitution

$$(\nu_{e}, e, u, d) \rightarrow (\nu_{\mu}, \mu, c, s) \rightarrow (\nu_{\tau}, \tau, b, t)$$
 (43)

(42)

All the above results can be listed in one summary table as presented in table I.

6. A Lagrangian description of the bifurcation model

In the conventional formulation of the Standard Model, the full Lagrangian contains the operators of covariant differentiation in the kinetic term and mass + interaction contributions. For the bosons the mass term is $-m^2b^2$ and the interaction term is linear in b. For the fermions both mass and interaction terms depend linearly on the mass and the interaction is also a linear expression of the four-vector current,

$$j^{\mu} = \bar{f} \gamma^{\mu} f \qquad (\mu = 0, 1, 2, 3), \qquad (44)$$

such that

$$L_{\rm b} = \frac{1}{2} D_{\mu} b D^{\mu} b - m^2 b^2 - b \rho(x^{\mu}) ,$$

$$L_{\rm f} = \bar{f} i \gamma^{\mu} D_{\mu} f - \bar{f} m f + Q \bar{f} \gamma^{\mu} f A^{\mu} ,$$
(45)

where $L_{\rm b}(L_{\rm f})$ stand for the bosonic (fermionic) lagrangian, $\rho(x^{\mu})$ is the source

Table I

of the scalar field while Q and A are, respectively, the charge and fourpotential of the vector field.

To perform a complete description of a full Lagrangian, one would have to use a complicated formula taking into account all possible combinations between terms, such as

$$L_{\text{full}} = L_{\text{b}} + L_{\text{f}} + L_{\text{kinetic,bf}} + L_{\text{mass,bf}} + L_{\text{interaction,bf}} .$$
(46)

The full Lagrangian would have a composite structure including scalars, pseudoscalars, spinors or vectors.

For our model we will attempt to get the full Lagrangian starting from a simpler and more effective framework. To achieve this, several principles are to be considered:

(a) The approach is based upon a perturbative method.

(b) The full Lagrangian takes the phase χ as variable and the bosonic and fermionic fields as coefficients in the series expansion.

(c) The series contains powers less or equal to four. It can be shown that powers greater than four lead to infinities and are to be excluded [1].

(d) The interaction for both bosonic and fermionic fields is included in the quartic term of the series.

To derive the spectrum of the ground states arisen in a bifurcation vertex, one has to minimize the potential:

$$\partial L_{\rm int+mass} / \partial \chi = 0 . \tag{47}$$

Following the standard procedure, further perturbations are defined by expanding the phase around the ground states. Accordingly, the ground states together with their perturbations fully specify the sequence of particles created as a result of bifurcation. An alternative expression for (23) is

$$\phi_0^{(n)}(\mathbf{k}) = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-i)^j (n\chi)^j}{j!} \phi_0(\mathbf{k}) = \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} \phi_l(\mathbf{k}) \xi^l , \qquad (48)$$

where

$$j = 2l , \qquad (49a)$$

$$\phi_l(\mathbf{k}) = (-1)^l \phi_0(\mathbf{k}) / (2l)! , \qquad (49b)$$

$$\xi = n^2 \chi^2 \,. \tag{49c}$$

It is natural to assume that the general form of the function potential must be a power series of the field $\phi_0(\mathbf{k})$:

$$V = L_{\text{int+mass}} = \sum_{n=0}^{4} a_n \phi_0^n(\mathbf{k}) , \qquad a_n \in \mathbb{R} , \qquad (50)$$

as long as the Lagrangian has to be invariant under the gauge transformation

$$V[\phi_0(\mathbf{k})] \to V[\exp(-i\chi) \phi_0(\mathbf{k})].$$
⁽⁵¹⁾

Replace now the terms in (50) by their gauge images given by (22),

$$\phi_0^n(\mathbf{k}) \to \exp(-\mathrm{i}n\chi) \ \phi_0^n(\mathbf{k}) = \exp(-\mathrm{i}n\chi) \ \phi_0(\mathbf{k}) \ \phi_0^{n-1}(\mathbf{k}) \ , \tag{52}$$

or

$$\phi_0^n(\mathbf{k}) \to \phi_0^{(n)}(\mathbf{k}) \,\phi_0^{n-1}(\mathbf{k}) \,, \tag{53}$$

where $\phi_0^{(n)}(\mathbf{k})$ represents the *n*th iterate of $\phi_0(\mathbf{k})$ (23).

(50) then becomes

$$V = \sum_{n=1}^{4} a_n \phi_0^{n-1}(\mathbf{k}) \phi_0^{(n)}(\mathbf{k}) , \qquad (54)$$

or

$$V(\boldsymbol{\xi}) = \sum_{n=1}^{4} a_n \boldsymbol{\phi}_0^{n-1}(\boldsymbol{k}) \left(\sum_{l=0}^{\infty} \boldsymbol{\phi}_l(\boldsymbol{k}) \boldsymbol{\xi}^l \right).$$
(55)

Because the series must stop at the quartic term the exact formula (55) gives way to an approximate one:

$$V(\xi) \sim \sum_{l=0}^{4} a\phi_l(k)\xi^l = \sum_{l=0}^{4} b_l\xi^l .$$
(56)

To get an acceptable level of confidence for the use of (56) one must normalize (49c) such that

 $|\boldsymbol{\xi}| < 1 \,. \tag{57}$

The interaction term is the last one (l = 4) and b_4 represents the strength coefficient for both fermions and bosons.

The mass term is a superposition of odd and even powers. Since the description is general, we would expect a symmetrical behaviour of the mass term for bosons and an antisymmetrical one for fermions. Therefore, (56) splits into two components,

$$V_{b} = b_{2,mass}\xi^{2} + b_{4,int}\xi^{4} ,$$

$$V_{f} = b_{0}\xi^{0} + b_{1,mass}\xi + b_{3}\xi^{3} + b_{4,int}\xi^{4} ,$$

$$V_{b,mass}(\xi) = V_{b,mass}(-\xi)$$
(at bifurcation vertices). (59)
$$V_{f,mass}(\xi) = -V_{f,mass}(-\xi)$$

Under these circumstances (47) gives for bosons

$$\xi_{1,2} = \pm \sqrt{-b_2/2b_4} \,. \tag{60}$$

These are the vacuum expectation values of ξ and the treatment coincides with the spontaneously broken symmetry approach for the so-called Higgs field [1].

For fermions we get a cubic equation with the canonic form

$$\xi^{3} + p\xi^{2} + q\xi + r = 0, \qquad (61)$$

where

$$p = 3b_3/4b_4$$
, $q = 0$, $r = b_1/4b_4$ $(b_4 \neq 0)$. (62)

To check the nature of its solution, one has to evaluate the discriminant Q given by [8]

$$Q = \frac{1}{27} \left(-\frac{1}{27} p^6 \right) + \frac{1}{4} \left(\frac{2}{27} p^3 + r \right)^2, \tag{63}$$

or

$$Q = \frac{1}{27}p^{3}r + \frac{1}{4}r^{2} = r(\frac{1}{27}p^{3} + \frac{1}{4}r).$$
(64)

As long as $b_1 \neq 0$ ($r \neq 0$) the cubic equation has three distinct roots which provide the vacuum expectation values for fermions.

The vacuum solutions correspond to the true stationary levels of the field subjected to the bifurcation mechanism. Therefore, it makes sense to think of them as of "massless" states associated with the field. Consequently, $\xi_{1,2}$ are

connected with the photon and graviton (vertex V_1) while the three solutions of (61) relate to the ultrarelativistic neutrino doublets produced at vertex V^1 .

Bifurcations evolve in a self-similar manner at next vertices repeating the pattern of V_1 or V^1 . This is, for instance, the reason why at V_2 (and V^2) the map contains a duplicate (a triplicate, respectively) of the vacuum spectra,

$$V_{2}: \begin{cases} (W^{+}, W^{-}) = |\uparrow\rangle\rangle, \\ (W^{0}, B^{0}) = |\downarrow\rangle\rangle, \end{cases}$$
(SU(2) doublet) (65)

$$V^{2}: \begin{cases} [(e^{-},)_{L}, (e^{+},)_{R}] = |\uparrow\rangle\rangle, \\ [(e^{-}, \bar{\nu}_{e})_{R}, (e^{+}, \nu_{e})_{L}] = |0\rangle, \\ [(-, e^{-})_{R}, (-, e^{+})_{L}] = |\downarrow\rangle\rangle. \end{cases}$$
(SU(2) triplet) (66)

As perturbations of the vacuum states, vertices V_j or V^i $(j \ge 2)$ carry an inner excitation energy related to the shift from the ground level. Accordingly, each of the vertices V_j or V^i $(j \ge 2)$ is the source of a unique mass spectrum. This circumstance supplies a plausible interpretation of how the mass should enter into the model.

7. Inertial frames under Lorenz invariance

The first segment of the bosonic branch (see fig. 2) represents the most familiar and simpler case of gauge invariance: the Lorenz transformation of inertial frames. It comes almost naturally to consider the covariance of the theory with respect to inertial frames as an immediate example of the gauge concept.

We will show in section 8 that an identical approach covers the gauge formalism of both electromagnetic and gravitational fields. Consequently, the Lorenz transformation is to be thought only as a first order approximation of the gauge formalism up to the first vertex (V_1) .

Take two arbitrary inertial frames and let V stand for their relative linear velocity. In the Lorenz formula the rotational transposition of the coordinates operates as a 2×2 matrix,

$$\begin{pmatrix} t'\\ x' \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \cos\Psi & \sin\Psi\\ -\sin\Psi & \cos\Psi \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} t\\ x \end{pmatrix},$$
 (67)

where Ψ is the imaginary rotation angle given by

$$V = i \tan \Psi ,$$

$$\sin \Psi = -iV/\sqrt{1 - V^2} , \qquad \cos \Psi = 1/\sqrt{1 - V^2} .$$
(68)

The space-time forms a continuous scalar field whose components are physically equivalent. Following a standard representation, define the complex scalar

$$\eta' = (t' + ix')/\sqrt{2} = e^{-i\Psi} (t + ix)/\sqrt{2} = e^{-i\Psi} \eta ,$$

$$\eta'^* = (t' - ix')/\sqrt{2} = e^{i\Psi} \eta^* .$$
 (69)

Note that (69) is identical with (22). Consequently, the space-time can be treated as a regular pseudoscalar field. If m is the mass associated with it, the Lagrangian depends only on $\eta^*\eta$:

$$L = \partial_{\mu} \eta^* \partial^{\mu} \eta - m^2 \eta^* \eta \qquad (\mu = 0, 1).$$
⁽⁷⁰⁾

Two conserved "charges" emerge from Lorenz invariance of the field η :

$$S_{\mu} = i(\eta \partial_{\mu} \eta^{*} - \eta^{*} \partial_{\mu} \eta), \qquad \partial_{\mu} S_{\mu} = 0,$$

$$I = x^{2} - t^{2}, \qquad \qquad \partial_{\mu} I = 0 \qquad \text{(interval)}.$$
(71)

Let us recall now that the above relations (67)-(71) can be duplicated for the electromagnetic field under the following substitutions:

$$\begin{aligned} x^{i} \to A^{i} & (i = 1, 2, 3) , \\ t \to \phi . \end{aligned}$$

$$\tag{72}$$

Therefore, there is no formal difference between the behavior of the spacetime field (x^i, t) and the electromagnetic field (A^i, ϕ) with respect to the Lorenz transformation of inertial frames.

This circumstance gives us grounds to believe that the space-time and electromagnetic fields overlap in a gauge transformation theory. One may expect that these two fields separate at the ultrarelativistic limit, as long as $V \rightarrow c(=1)$ is the single instability associated with (68) and (69).

8. The ultrarelativistic scenario: photon-graviton split

As is well known, the Schrödinger equation describing the movement of a nonrelativistic spinless electron in an electromagnetic field,

$$\left[(1/2m_e)(-i\nabla + eA)^2 - (i\partial/\partial t + e\phi) \right] \Psi_e = 0$$
(73)

is left unchanged if one operates a gauge transformation on the electron wavefunction and on the field [1]:

$$\Psi'_{\rm e} \to e^{-i\chi} \Psi_{\rm e} , \qquad (74a)$$

$$A^{\prime \mu} \to A^{\mu} - \partial^{\mu} \chi \qquad (e=1) . \tag{74b}$$

We want to show that an identical picture can be developed for a particle of mass m submerged in a gravitational field. Following Einstein, a space-time wavefunction is to be attached to the particle:

$$\eta^{\mu} \leftrightarrow m , \tag{75}$$

which may be expressed in the standard exponential form

$$\eta^{\mu} = (\eta_0)^{\mu} e^{-i\rho_{\mu}} , \qquad (76)$$

where $(\eta_0)^{\mu}$ is an amplitude and ρ_{μ} is the phase four-vector. Consequently, the equation of motion [9]

$$du_{\mu}/ds - \frac{1}{2} \partial_{\mu} g_{\nu\omega} u^{\nu} u^{\omega} = 0, \qquad (77)$$

where u_{μ} is the four-velocity and $g_{\nu\omega}$ the metric tensor, would not be affected if one would replace the following items:

$$\eta^{\mu} \to \eta^{\prime \mu} , \qquad (78)$$
$$g_{\nu\omega} \to g^{\prime}_{\nu\omega} .$$

The presence of the particle in the gravitational field is expected to produce a small perturbation of the latter. Therefore, a weak fluctuation of the space-time geometry is to be written as

$$\eta^{\prime\,\mu} = \eta^{\,\mu} + \delta^{\mu}_{\,n} \,, \tag{79a}$$

$$g'_{\nu\omega} = g_{\nu\omega} + \delta g_{\nu\omega} . \tag{79b}$$

Taking into account (76), (79a) can be reduced at a form similar to (74a),

$$\eta^{\prime \,\mu} \rightarrow (\eta_0)^{\mu} \,\mathrm{e}^{-\mathrm{i}(\rho_{\mu} + \delta \rho_{\mu})} \,. \tag{80}$$

(79b) leads to a first order variation of the metric tensor given by [9]

$$g'_{\nu\omega} \to g_{\nu\omega} - (\partial_{\omega} \tilde{\rho}_{\nu} + \partial_{\nu} \tilde{\rho}_{\omega}), \qquad \tilde{\rho}_{\mu} = \exp(-\mathrm{i}\delta\rho_{\mu}), \qquad (81)$$

which is analogous with (74b).

Because we are operating in a non-Euclidian geometry, the weak fluctuations of the space-time have to be considered as covariant perturbations. Thus, the simple derivatives in (81) are to be replaced by the covariant ones whose iterations do not alter the gauge invariance of the theory.

Since (77) originates in cancelling out the covariant derivative of the four-velocity [9, 10],

$$\mathbf{D}u^{\mu} = 0 , \qquad (82)$$

it is now obvious that a covariant perturbation of (82) induced by (80) would not change its form, i.e.

$$D(u^{\mu} + \delta u^{\mu}) = 0,$$

$$D(\delta u^{\mu}) = 0,$$
(83)

or

$$D(\delta u^{\mu}) = d(\delta u^{\mu}) - \delta(\delta u^{\mu}) = 0, \qquad (84)$$

where δu^{μ} are the small fluctuations of the four-velocity.

Let us investigate now a further development of our approach to the Standard Model.

As long as the electromagnetic and gravitational fields seem to have a unique background originated in the gauge transformation, it makes sense to reveal a unique formula for the covariant derivative related to these fields.

For an electrically charged particle Q submerged in an electromagnetic field A^{μ} the covariant derivative is [1]

$$\mathbf{D}^{\mu} = \partial^{\mu} - \mathbf{i} Q A^{\mu} \,. \tag{85}$$

Consider an arbitrary four-vector V^{μ} and recall its covariant derivative for a gravitational field:

$$\mathbf{D}V^{\mu} = \left(\partial_{\omega}V^{\mu} + \Gamma^{\mu}_{\nu\omega}V^{\nu}\right) \mathrm{d}x^{\omega} , \qquad (86)$$

where $\Gamma^{\mu}_{\nu\omega}$ are the Christoffel symbols.

417

For the sake of simplicity let us set

$$|\mathrm{d}x^{\omega}| = 1\,,\tag{87}$$

and make the transposition [9]

$$V^{\nu} = V^{\mu} \delta^{\nu}_{\mu} , \qquad (88)$$

where δ^{ν}_{μ} is the Kronecker symbol. (86) becomes

$$DV^{\mu} = (\partial_{\omega} + \frac{1}{2} \delta^{\nu}_{\mu} g^{\mu \varepsilon} \Gamma_{\varepsilon, \nu \omega}) V^{\mu} , \qquad (89)$$

where

$$\Gamma_{\varepsilon,\nu\omega} = \partial_{\omega}g_{\varepsilon\nu} + \partial_{\nu}g_{\varepsilon\omega} - \partial_{\varepsilon}g_{\nu\omega} .$$
⁽⁹⁰⁾

Here δ^{ν}_{μ} and $g^{\mu\epsilon}$ are constants with respect to the covariant differentiation [9] and therefore they can be compared to the electrical charge in (85). Notice also that $\Gamma_{\epsilon,\nu\mu}$ is written in the same form as the tensor of the electromagnetic field:

$$F_{\mu\nu} = \partial_{\mu}A_{\nu} - \partial_{\nu}A_{\mu} . \tag{91}$$

The treatment outlined above suggests a physical interpretation of the weak isospin as well as a definition for the component W^0_{μ} of the SU(2) weak triplet (W^{\pm}, W^0) . To achieve this, let us analyze the second term of the covariant derivative expressed in the Standard Model as [1]

$$T_2 = -\frac{1}{2} i g_1 Y B_{\mu} . ag{92}$$

The massive bosonic field B_{μ} is a linear superposition of the electromagnetic field A_{μ} and of W^{0}_{μ} ,

$$B_{\mu} = \sqrt{1 + \left[\left(g_{1}/g_{2} \right) Y_{L} \right]^{2}} A_{\mu} + \left(g_{1}/g_{2} \right) Y_{L} W_{\mu}^{0} = c_{a} A_{\mu} + c_{w} W_{\mu}^{0} , \qquad (93)$$

such that (92) becomes

$$T_2 = -ig_1(Q - T_3)(c_a A_\mu + c_w W^0_\mu).$$
(94)

In an orthogonal representation, we can conveniently cancel out some components of the scalar product,

$$QW^0_{\mu} = T_3 A_{\mu} = 0 , \qquad (95)$$

418

and (94) reduces to

$$T_2 = -ig_1 c_a Q A_{\mu} + ig_1 c_w Y T_3 W_{\mu}^0 = T_E + T_G .$$
⁽⁹⁶⁾

Since the first term is an electromagnetic contribution (according to (85)), the second term may be assigned to a gravitational one. Given the orthogonality condition, the gravitational component becomes

$$T_{\rm G} = -\mathrm{i}g_1 c_{\rm w}^0 T_3^2 W_{\mu}^0 \qquad (c_{\rm w}^0 = 2g_1 g_2^{-1}) \,. \tag{97}$$

A comparison of (97) with the second term of (89) reveals the following similitudes:

$$T_3^2 \to \delta^{\nu}_{\mu} g^{\mu\epsilon} , \quad W^0_{\mu} \to \Gamma_{\epsilon,\nu\omega} .$$
 (98)

This circumstance indicates that the isospin and the W particles are intimately connected with the gravitational field.

References

- G. Kane, Modern Elementary Particle Physics (Addison-Wesley, Redwood City, CA, 1987) p. 36.
- [2] K.J. Falconer, The Geometry of Fractal Sets, Cambridge Tracts in Mathematics, vol. 85 (Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 1985) p. 142.
- [3] E.M. Henley, W. Thirring, Elementary Quantum Field Theory (Academic Press, New York, 1962) p. 12.
- [4] I.S. Gradshteyn, I.M. Ryzhik, Tables of Integrals, Series and Products (1965) p. 299.
- [5] R.M. Eisberg, Fundamentals of Modern Physics (1963) p. 263.
- [6] L.I. Schiff, Quantum Mechanics (Academic Press, New York, 1955) p. 14.
- [7] R.K. Dodd and J.C. Eilbeck, Solitons and Nonlinear Wave Equations (1982) p. 21.
- [8] G.A. Korn and T.M. Korn, Mathematical Handbook for Scientists and Engineers (1968) p. 23.
- [9] L. Landau and E. Lifschitz, Théorie des Champs (Mir, Moscow, 1970) p. 324.
- [10] A. Einstein, The Principle of Relativity (Dover, New York, 1923) p. 143.



A LETTERS JOURNAL EXPLORING THE FRONTIERS OF PHYSICS

OFFPRINT

Bifurcations and pattern formation in particle physics: An introductory study

E. GOLDFAIN

EPL, 82 (2008) 11001

Please visit the new website www.epljournal.org

TAKE A LOOK AT THE NEW EPL

Europhysics Letters (EPL) has a new online home at **www.epljournal.org**



Take a look for the latest journal news and information on:

- reading the latest articles, free!
- receiving free e-mail alerts
- submitting your work to EPL

www.epljournal.org



EPL, **82** (2008) 11001 doi: 10.1209/0295-5075/82/11001

Bifurcations and pattern formation in particle physics: An introductory study

E. $GoldFain^{(a)}$

Photonics CoE, Welch Allyn Inc. - Skaneateles Falls, NY 13153, USA

received 19 October 2007; accepted in final form 8 February 2008 published online 7 March 2008

PACS 12.60.-i – Models beyond the standard model
PACS 05.45.-a – Nonlinear dynamics and chaos
PACS 05.30.Pr – Fractional statistics systems (anyons, etc.)

Abstract – Quantum field theories lead in general to a large number of coupled nonlinear equations. Solving field equations in analytic form or through lattice-based computations is a difficult task that has been only partially successful. We argue that the theory of nonlinear dynamical systems offers valuable insights and a fresh approach to this challenge. It is suggested that universal transition to chaos in nonlinear dissipative systems provides novel answers to some of the open questions surrounding the standard model for particle physics.

Copyright © EPLA, 2008

Overview and motivation. – Quantum field theory (QFT) is a mature conceptual framework whose predictive power has been consistently proven in both highenergy physics and condensed-matter phenomena [1–3]. From a historical perspective, QFT represents a successful synthesis of quantum mechanics and special relativity and consists of several models. Among these, gauge theories play a leading role. The standard model (SM) is a subset of QFT whose gauge group structure includes the electroweak and strong interactions of all known elementary particles. SM is a robust theoretical framework; however, it contains some 20 adjustable parameters whose physical origin is presently unknown and whose numerical values are exclusively fixed by experiments.

Non-Abelian gauge theories are essentially nonlinear field models. Quantizing this class of models is a non-trivial effort and raises a series of theoretical challenges [4–6]. For example, no complete quantum version of classical gravity exists. Quantum chromodynamics (QCD) is considered a reliable field theory at short distances but because its coupling constant becomes large in the infrared sector, standard perturbative techniques do not apply. At present, there is no universal prescription for deriving and handling closed-form solutions of QCD field equations. This is in manifest contrast with quantum electrodynamics (QED) and the electroweak theory, where perturbative methods are applicable and analytic results possible. In general, dealing with closed-form solutions of field theories is seldom a practical alternative. For example, Heisenberg's non-perturbative quantization procedure [7,8] or Schwinger-Dyson formalism [9] lead to an infinite set of coupled differential equations which connect all orders of Green's functions. This system does not have analytic and uniquely determined solutions. In these instances, one seeks plausible assumptions that simplify the equations or employs suitable numerical techniques for approximation.

In its traditional form, one frequently cited shortcoming of QFT is its inherent limitation in dealing with the effect of highly unstable fluctuations or with a dynamics regime that is driven far away from equilibrium [10–12]. In general, pattern formation is possible in out-of-equilibrium physical systems that are open and nonlinear [13–15]. Within a *closed* system patterns may only survive as a transient and die out as a result of the relaxation towards equilibrium. It is for this reason that traditional QFT, with few notable exceptions, is largely unable to properly detect and characterize pattern formation. Recent years have shown that pattern formation is relevant to a wealth of applications ranging from reaction-diffusion processes, nonlinear optics, nanostructures and fluid mechanics to hot plasma, traffic models, epidemic spreading, transport in heterogeneous media and neural networks. [13,16,17]

Understanding non-equilibrium phenomena and pattern formation is still in its infancy. Progress in this field has benefited from tools that have been recently developed for nonlinear dynamics, bifurcation and stability theory [13,15,18–22]. Our goal here is to explore the farfrom-equilibrium sector of field theory using some of these

⁽a)E-mail: ervingoldfain@gmail.com

newly developed methods. The underlying motivation is that nonlinear dynamics brings novel insights and a practical alternative for the analysis of field equations.

The paper is organized as follows: working at a classical level, we start from a non-equilibrium "toy" model containing an Abelian gauge field coupled to a massless scalar field. The concept of universality and the emergence of the complex Ginzburg-Landau equation (CGLE) are discussed in the next section. Mass generation through period-doubling bifurcations of CGLE and the link between CGLE and the generalized exclusion statistics (GES) follow from these premises. Summary and concluding remarks are detailed in the last section.

Our contribution needs to be exclusively regarded as a preliminary research on the topic. It is neither fully rigorous nor comprehensive. We wish to convey a new qualitative view rather than an in-depth analysis of phenomena. Independent studies are required to confirm, expand or refute these tentative findings.

A "toy" model in non-equilibrium field theory. – As mentioned earlier, nonlinear field theories amount to a large set of coupled differential equations that are difficult to solve or manage through numerical approximations. The universal nature of nonlinear dynamics near the threshold of the primary instability (see, *e.g.*, [16]) suggests a shortcut route. One can start from a plausible "toy" model and generalize results to more realistic theories. One example of such a "toy" model of classical field theory describes an Abelian gauge field $a_{\mu}(x,t)$ in interaction with a complex massless scalar field $\varphi = \varphi_1 + i\varphi_2 = \varphi(x,t)$. The Lagrangian density reads [23]

$$\mathbf{L} = -\frac{1}{4} F_{\mu\nu} F^{\mu\nu} + |D_{\mu}\varphi|^{2} \,. \tag{1}$$

Here, $\mu, \nu = 0, 1, 2, 3$ denote the space-time index, $x = (x_1, x_2, x_3)$ the spatial coordinate, $F^{\mu\nu}$ the gauge field tensor, *e* the coupling constant and

$$D_{\mu} = \partial_{\mu} + iea_{\mu} \tag{2}$$

the operator of covariant differentiation. If we take $\varphi_1 \gg \varphi_2$ for simplicity, field equations derived from (1) are given by

$$D^{\mu}(D_{\mu}\varphi) = 0,$$

$$\partial^{\nu}F_{\mu\nu} = 2e^{2}a_{\mu}\varphi^{2}.$$
(3)

Developing (3) yields

$$\Box \varphi = -ie(\varphi \partial^{\mu} a_{\mu} + a_{\mu} \partial^{\mu} \varphi - a^{\mu} \partial_{\mu} \varphi) - e^{2} a^{\mu} a_{\mu} \varphi, \qquad (4)$$
$$\Box a_{\mu} = \partial^{\nu} \partial_{\mu} a_{\nu} - 2e^{2} \varphi^{2} a_{\mu},$$

where $\Box = \partial^2 / \partial t^2 - \nabla^2$ is the d'Alembert operator. To further streamline the derivation and highlight the basic argument, we proceed by assuming that the gauge field satisfies

$$\partial_{\mu}a_i = 0 \quad \text{for} \quad i = 1, 2, 3.$$
 (5)

If a_0 denotes the temporal component of the gauge field, the system (4) can be brought to the generic form of a coupled system of partial differential equations,

$$\partial_{0}\varphi = \eta,$$

$$\partial_{0}\eta = f(\eta, \varphi, a_{0}, \xi, \nabla \eta, \ldots),$$

$$\partial_{0}a_{0} = \xi,$$

$$\partial_{0}\xi = g(\eta, \varphi, a_{0}, \xi, \nabla \eta, \ldots),$$

(6)

in which f(...) and g(...) are time-evolution functions and $\partial_0 = \partial/\partial t$. (6) may be presented in vector form as

$$\partial_0 \mathbf{u} = U(\mathbf{u}, \nabla \mathbf{u}, \ldots),\tag{7}$$

where $\mathbf{u} = (\eta, \varphi, \xi, a_0)$. We next posit that transition to non-equilibrium in (7) is controlled by a small external parameter $\varepsilon \ll 1$. This parameter is continuously adjustable and measures the departure from equilibrium $(\varepsilon_c = 0)$. Accordingly, (7) becomes

$$\partial_0 \mathbf{u} = U(\mathbf{u}, \nabla \mathbf{u}, \dots, \varepsilon).$$
 (8)

The physical content of ε depends on the context of the problem at hand. In open systems ε encodes the combined effect of environmental and internal fluctuations [24]. Critical behavior in continuous dimension identifies ε with the Wilson-Fisher parameter of the regularization program ($\varepsilon = 4 - d$) [25,26]. In models involving fractional dynamics, ε characterizes the range of non-local interactions in space or the extent of temporal memory [22,27–29].

Universality and CGLE. – Non-equilibrium processes such as (8) display remarkable universality. Regardless of the specific application, macroscopic patterns that develop near the threshold of a dynamic instability are robust and largely insensitive to microscopic fluctuations [13,16,17].

Since one is familiar with the language of harmonic oscillations, we are interested in the simplest bifurcation in the dynamics of $\mathbf{u}(x,t)$ that creates oscillatory behavior. This is known as a Hopf bifurcation and represents the simplest transition that leads from a focus point to a periodic behavior. As the bifurcation point is approached, the focus point becomes unstable and gives rise to a harmonic limit cycle. CGLE is a *universal* model that holds for all pattern-forming systems undergoing a Hopf bifurcation [13,16]. The theory of the reduction to CGLE from generic systems of autonomous nonlinear equations such as (8) has been developed by several authors. The derivation of CGLE for a (1 + 1)-dimensional system starts from the ansatz

$$\mathbf{u}(x,t) = \mathbf{u}_0 + A(\tilde{x},\tilde{t}) \exp[i(k_c x - \Omega_c t]\mathbf{u}_1 + \text{c.c.}, \qquad (9)$$

where \tilde{x} , \tilde{t} represent slow variables and k_c , Ω_c are critical values in wave number and frequency spaces. Replacing in (8), dropping the tildes and expanding in power series

of the small parameter $\tilde{\varepsilon}=\varepsilon-\varepsilon_c$ leads to CGLE in its standard form

$$\partial_t A = A + (1 + ic_1)\nabla^2 A - (1 - ic_3)|A|^2 A.$$
 (10)

Here,

$$A(x,t) = \rho(x,t) \exp[-i\Phi(x,t)]$$
(11)

is a complex-valued amplitude defining the slow modulation in space and time of the underlying periodic pattern. The real parameters c_1, c_3 denote the linear and nonlinear dispersion parameters, respectively. The limit $c_1, c_3 \rightarrow 0$ corresponds to the real Ginzburg-Landau equation, whereas $c_1^{-1}, c_3^{-1} \rightarrow 0$ recovers the nonlinear Schrödinger equation.

Higgs-free generations of particle masses. – Among the simplest coherent structures generated by CGLE are plane-wave solutions having the form [13,16]

$$A(x,t) = A_0 \exp[-i(qx+mt)] + \text{c.c.},$$

$$A_0 = \sqrt{1-q^2}.$$
(12)

The frequency m satisfies the dispersion equation

$$m_q = c_1 q^2 - c_3 (1 - q^2) \tag{13}$$

and $q \in [-1, 1]$ represents the phase gradient of the complex amplitude (12),

$$q = -\nabla \left| \Phi \right| \tag{14}$$

Linear stability analysis of (12) reveals that plane waves having a wave number larger than the so-called Eckhaus threshold

$$q_E = \sqrt{\frac{1 - c_1 c_3}{2(1 + c_3^2) + 1 - c_1 c_3}} \tag{15}$$

are unstable with respect to the long-wavelength modulation. In particular, a vanishing Eckhaus threshold leads to the Benjamin-Feir-Newell (BFN) instability criterion (A.1)

$$c_1 c_3 = 1.$$
 (16)

The dispersion equation (13) has two complementary limits: $q = \pm 1$ ($A_0 = 0$) and q = 0 ($A_0 = \pm 1$). Arguments presented in appendix A suggest a natural identification of these two modes with fermion and electroweak gauge boson fields, respectively. Equation (14) implies that fermions have a non-vanishing and uniform phase gradient $\nabla \Phi \neq 0$, whereas gauge bosons have a uniform phase and a vanishing phase gradient $\nabla \Phi = 0$. Although we have started from a massless model, from (13) and (16) it follows that both these modes acquire non-vanishing masses. In non-dimensional form and near the BFN instability, the two sets of masses are

$$m_{\pm} = c_1,$$

 $m_0 = -c_3,$
(17a)

such that

$$m_{\pm} = |m_0|^{-1}$$
. (17b)

Table 1: Actual vs. predicted mass scaling ratios for $\bar{\delta} = 3.9$.

Parameter ratio	Behavior	Actual	Predicted
m_u/m_c	$ar{\delta}^{-4}$	3.365×10^{-3}	4.323×10^{-3}
m_c/m_t	$ar{\delta}^{-4}$	3.689×10^{-3}	4.323×10^{-3}
m_d/m_s	$\bar{\delta}^{-2}$	0.052	0.066
m_s/m_b	$\bar{\delta}^{-2}$	0.028	0.066
m_e/m_μ	$\bar{\delta}^{-4}$	4.745×10^{-3}	4.323×10^{-3}
$m_{\mu}/m_{ au}$	$ar{\delta}^{-2}$	0.061	0.066
M_W/M_Z	$\left(1-\bar{\delta}^{-1}\right)^{1/2}$	0.8823	0.8623

It is known that plane-wave solutions consist of both positive and negative frequencies. Because mass is positive definite, in what follows we are limiting the discussion to the cases $c_1 > 0$ and $c_3 < 0$.

The Feigenbaum-Sharkovskii-Magnitskii (FSM) paradigm. – The FSM paradigm of universal transition to chaos in nonlinear dissipative systems is briefly detailed in appendix B. Extensive numerical data [20,21] show that both parameters of linear and nonlinear dispersion c_1, c_3 of (17a) are distributed in a geometric progression, that is

$$c_{1,n} = c_{1,\infty} + K_1 \overline{\delta}^{-n}, c_{3,n} = c_{3,\infty} + K_2 \overline{\sigma}^{-n},$$
(18)

where $\bar{\delta}$, $\bar{\sigma}$ are scaling constants and n = 1, 2, 3... represents the number of tori accumulated through bifurcations. Since $K_1, K_2, c_{1,\infty}$ and $c_{3,\infty}$ are independent of n, they can be both absorbed into a redefinition of masses. We have, accordingly,

$$m_n^* = \frac{1}{K_1} (m_{\pm,n} - c_{1,\infty}),$$

$$M_n = \frac{1}{K_2} (m_{0,n} - c_{3,\infty}).$$
(19)

The ratios of two arbitrary masses in the bifurcation sequence take the form

$$\frac{m_n^*}{m_{n+p}^*} = \overline{\delta}^p,$$

$$\frac{M_n}{M_{n+p}} = \overline{\sigma}^p,$$
(20)

in which $p = 2^k$, $k = 1, 2, 3 \dots$ Based on (17) it can be concluded that, near the BFN instability, the two scaling constants are linked to each other.

Analysis of the Renormalization Group flow for the real Ginzburg-Landau equation leads to the following relationship between $\bar{\delta}$ and $\bar{\sigma}$ [28]:

$$1 - \left(\frac{M_1}{M_2}\right)^2 = 1 - \left(\overline{\sigma}^1\right)^2 \approx \frac{1}{\overline{\delta}},\tag{21}$$

where $M_1 = M_W$, $M_2 = M_Z$ are vector boson masses. Table 1 shows a side-by-side comparison between predictions inferred from (20) and experiment, where $\bar{\delta} = 3.9$

Parameter	Value	Units
$\overline{m_u}$	2.12	MeV
m_d	4.22	MeV
m_s	80.90	MeV
m_c	630	MeV
m_b	2847	MeV
m_t	170,800	MeV
M_W	80.46	GeV
M_Z	91.19	${\rm GeV}$

Table 2: Actual values of elementary particle masses.

represents the numerical value of the scaling constant that best fits laboratory data [30]. Actual values of particle masses, computed at the reference scale given by the mass of the top quark [31], are listed in table 2. Note that the choice of the mass scale is completely arbitrary since (20) involves ratios of consecutive masses.

CGLE and generalized exclusion statistics. – Dispersion relation (13) indicates that plane-wave solutions of CGLE interpolate between gauge boson states (q=0) and fermion states $(q=\pm 1)$. From (13) and (14) it follows that the *spin* associated with an arbitrary mixed state is given by¹

$$\sigma = 1 - \frac{(\nabla \Phi)^2}{2}.$$
 (22)

From this standpoint, CGLE is remarkably similar to the framework describing quantum fractional statistics in condensed-matter physics. In what follows we briefly discuss this analogy. The generalized exclusion statistics (GES) is motivated by the properties of quasi-particles occurring in the fractional quantum Hall effect [32,33]. Consider a thermodynamic ensemble of N identical particles. Let d represent the dimension of the one-particle Hilbert space obtained by fixing the coordinates of the remaining N-1 particles. The statistics of a particle is defined by the so-called Haldane's parameter g,

$$g = -\frac{\partial d(N)}{\partial N} \approx -\frac{d(N + \Delta N) - d(N)}{\Delta N}.$$
 (23)

Because any given state can be populated by any number of bosons, $d(N + \Delta N) = d(N)$ and hence g = 0. By contrast, the Pauli exclusion principle restricts fermions to g = 1. Quasi-particles with mixed statistics are characterized by an intermediate value of g and are said to satisfy a generalized exclusion principle. In this case, it can be shown that thermodynamic quantities such energy, heat capacity or entropy can be expressed in factorized form. In particular, the energy of the quasi-particle ensemble is given by

$$E(g) = gE(1) + (1 - g)E(0).$$
(24)

Table 3: Comparison between CGLE and GES.

CGLE	GES
$\overline{q=-rac{\partial \Phi }{\partial x}}$	$g = -rac{\partial d}{\partial N}$
$m_q = c_1 q^2 - c_3 (1 - q^2)$	$E_g = gE(1) + (1-g)E(0)$

An example of this type of objects is offered by *anyons*, quasi-particles that exist in two dimensions and carry fractional charges. When two particles of a system of bosons are exchanged, the phase of the system remains unchanged, whereas for a system of fermions it changes by exactly π . Exchanging two anyons results in a phase factor that falls between zero and π . Anyons play a key role in the fractional quantum Hall effect and high-temperature superconductivity [32,33].

A short comparison between plane-wave solutions of CGLE and GES is included in table 3.

Summary and conclusions. – This brief report has been motivated by recent advances in nonlinear dynamics and complexity theory. Exploiting the universal theory of transition to chaos in nonlinear dissipative systems, we have found that:

- a) particles acquire mass as plane-wave solutions of CGLE, without reference to the hypothetical Higgs scalar or to a particular symmetry breaking mechanism. As of today, the reality of the Higgs doublet and nature of electroweak symmetry breaking are issues that remain unsettled.
- b) Starting from a basic model of Abelian gauge bosons in interaction with scalar fields, CGLE leads to a natural separation of heavy non-relativistic modes (q=0) from light relativistic modes of maximal group velocity $(q=\pm 1)$. The most straightforward interpretation of this result is that the first group of modes corresponds to electroweak gauge bosons and the second group to fermions.
- c) A direct connection may be set up between GES in condensed-matter physics and the dispersion relation (13) corresponding to $q \neq 1$. Although different in methodology and content, both GES and CGLE point out that fractional quantum statistics and nonequilibrium field theory enable a *dynamic unification* of gauge bosons and fermions as particles with arbitrary spin. This is in contrast with super-symmetry and related models (see, *e.g.*, [34]) which are based on extended symmetry groups and pay virtually no attention to nonlinear dynamics of underlying fields.

We close this section with two short remarks: 1) the approach developed here is based on *classical* field theory. Needless to say, a realistic model cannot ignore the quantum nature of fields evolving in four-dimensional

¹Strictly speaking, spin is a concept that is valid only in a quantum or semi-quantum context. Since our analysis is carried out at the classical level, (22) is meant to simply denote a numerical attribute of plane waves dependent on the wave number q.

space-time. However, as previously pointed out, future results are not expected to substantially deviate from these initial findings because of *universality arguments* related to nonlinear dynamics of (8) and CGLE (see, *e.g.*, [13,18,20]); 2) although our approach bypasses the conventional Higgs mechanism, it still remains compatible with it. The standard model asserts that particle masses are generated through electroweak symmetry breaking and are attributed to the Yukawa couplings of the fermions (g_f) to the Higgs condensate (v_{H^0}) . The ratio of two arbitrary fermion masses in the spectrum is given by

$$\frac{m_f}{m_{f'}} = \frac{g_f(\mathbf{v}_{H^0})}{g_{f'}(\mathbf{v}_{H^0})} = \frac{g_f}{g_{f'}}.$$
(25)

It follows that the mass hierarchy shown in table 1 may be simply interpreted as reflecting the hierarchy of the corresponding Yukawa couplings.

Future research may be focused on a deeper understanding of pattern formation and its ramifications in the realm of SM and beyond. Of key interest is the emergence of novel states in the TeV range of particle physics. This probing energy will become accessible in the near future at the large hadron collider and other accelerator sites [35].

Appendix A. – The two dispersion parameters of CGLE are subject to the following dynamic constraints [13,16,17]:

a) the Benjamin-Feir-Newell (BFN) criterion states that stability becomes borderline for

$$c_1 c_3 = 1;$$
 (A.1)

b) using (13), the group velocity of the plane-wave solutions is given by

$$v_g = 2q(c_1 + c_3).$$
 (A.2)

Compliance with relativity bounds (A.2) to a constant that represents the normalized value of light speed *in vacuo*. It is clear that q=0 represents a *slow mode* (massive gauge boson), while $q=\pm 1$ describes the *fastest mode* (relativistic fermions). Masses associated with these modes are supplied by (17). From the BFN criterion it follows that the borderline value of the normalization constant $Q = \frac{V_{g,max}}{2}$ can be determined from

$$c_{1} = \frac{Q \pm \sqrt{Q^{2} - 4}}{2} \Rightarrow Q \ge 2,$$

$$c_{3} = \frac{1}{c_{1}}.$$
(A.3)

Equations (A.1) and (A.2) imply that, close to the border of BFN instability, gauge boson and fermion masses scale as dual entities. This finding is consistent with the behavior of the last entry in table 1. **Appendix B.** – Consider the following boundary value problem for CGLE in 1+1 space-time dimensions [20,21,36]:

$$\partial_t A = A + (1 + ic_1)\partial_x^2 A - (1 - ic_3) |A|^2 A, \partial_x A(0, t) = \partial_x A(L, t) = 0, \quad A(x, 0) = A_0(x), \qquad (B.1) 0 \le x \le L, \ 0 \le t \le \infty.$$

This model can be reduced to a three-dimensional system of nonlinear ordinary differential equations with the help of the Galerkin few-modes approximation:

$$A(x,t) \approx \sqrt{\xi(t)} \exp[i\theta_1(t)] + \sqrt{\eta(t)} \exp[i\theta_2(t)] \cos\left(\frac{\pi}{L}x\right)$$
(B.2)

in which

$$\partial_t \xi = f_1(\xi, \eta, \theta, c_1, c_3, L),$$

$$\partial_t \eta = f_2(\xi, \eta, \theta, c_1, c_3, L),$$

$$\partial_t \theta = f_3(\xi, \eta, \theta, c_1, c_2, L)$$

(B.3)

with $\theta(t) = \theta_2(t) - \theta_1(t)$. It can be shown that the transition to chaos in (B.3) occurs through a sequential cascade of bifurcations in three separate stages. This cascade starts with the Feigenbaum scenario of period-doubling bifurcations of stable cycles, followed by the Sharkovskii subharmonic cascade and ending with the Magnitskii cascade of stable homoclinic cycles.

REFERENCES

- MANDL F. and SHAW G., Quantum Field Theory (John Wiley & Sons) 1993.
- [2] ZINN-JUSTIN J., Quantum Field Theory and Critical Phenomena (Clarendon Press) 2002.
- [3] AMIT D. J. and MARTIN-MAYOR V., Field Theory, the Renormalization Group and Critical Phenomena (World Scientific) 2005.
- [4] GREINER W. and REINHARDT J., Field Quantization (Springer-Verlag) 1993.
- [5] SEGAL I. E., Phys. Scr., 24 (1981) 827.
- [6] VOLKOV M. K. and PERVUSHIN V. N., Sov. Phys. Usp., 20 (1977) 89.
- [7] HEISENBERG W., Introduction to the Unified Field Theory of Elementary Particles (Interscience Publishers) 1966.
- [8] DZHUNUSHALIEV V. and SINGLETON D., Phys. Rev. D, 65 (2002) 125007.
- [9] MIRANSKII V. A., Dynamical Symmetry Breaking in Quantum Field Theories (World Scientific) 1993.
- [10] WILCZEK F., Rev. Mod. Phys., **71** (1999) S85.
- [11] GOLDFAIN E., Int. J. Nonlinear Sci. Numer. Simul., 6 (2005) 223.
- [12] GOLDFAIN E., Commun. Nonlinear Sci. Numer. Simul., 13 (2008) 1397.
- [13] CROSS M. C. and HOHENBERG P. C., Rev. Mod. Phys., 65 (1993) 851.
- [14] TSOY E. N. et al., Phys. Rev. E, 73 (2006) 036621.

- [15] FARIAS R. S. L. et al., Nucl. Phys. A, 782 (2007) 33.
- [16] ARANSON I. S. and KRAMER L., Rev. Mod. Phys., 74 (2002) 99.
- [17] GOLLUB J. P. and LANGER J. S., Rev. Mod. Phys., 71 (1999) S396.
- [18] HINRICHSEN H., Physica A, **369** (2006) 1.
- [19] JONA-LASINIO G. and MITTER P. K., Commun. Math. Phys., 101 (1985) 409.
- [20] MAGNITSKII N. A. and SIDOROV E., New Methods for Chaotic Dynamics (World Scientific) 2007.
- [21] MAGNITSKII N. A., Commun. Nonlinear Sci. Numer. Simul., 13 (2007) 416.
- [22] ZASLAVSKY G. M., Hamiltonian Chaos and Fractional Dynamics (Oxford University Press) 2005.
- [23] RYDER L., Quantum Field Theory (Cambridge University Press) 1996.
- [24] KRISTENSEN K. and MOLONEY N. R., Complexity and Criticality (Imperial College Press) 2005.
- [25] BALLHAUSEN H. et al., Phys. Lett. B, 582 (2004) 144.
- [26] BALLHAUSEN H., Renormalization Group Flow Equations and Critical Phenomena in Continuous Dimension and at

Finite Temperature, Doctoral Thesis, Faculty of Physics and Astronomy, Ruprecht-Karls-University Heidelberg, 2003.

- [27] GOLDFAIN E., Commun. Nonlinear Sci. Numer. Simul., 13 (2008) 666.
- [28] GOLDFAIN E., Int. J. Nonlinear Sci., 3 (2007) 170.
- [29] GOLDFAIN E., Chaos Solitons Fractals, 28 (2006) 913.
- [30] GOLDFAIN E., Int. J. Bifurcat. Chaos, 18 (2008) 1.
- [31] PARTICLE DATA GROUP, http://pdg.lbl.gov/2005/ reviews/quarks_q000.pdf., 2005.
- [32] HALDANE F. D. M., Phys. Rev. Lett., 67 (1991) 937.
- [33] NAYAK C. and WILCZEK F., Phys. Rev. Lett., 73 (1994) 2740.
- [34] WESS J. and BAGGER J., Supersymmetry and Supergravity (Princeton University Press) 1992.
- [35] LARGE HADRON COLLIDER: Periodic updates on LHC may be located at http://public.web.cern.ch/Public/ Content/Chapters/AboutCERN/CERNFuture/WhatLHC/ WhatLHC-en.html.
- [36] AKHROMEEVA T. S. et al., Nonstationary Structures and Diffusion Chaos (Nauka-Moscow) 1992.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Chaos, Solitons and Fractals 28 (2006) 913-922

CHAOS SOLITONS & FRACTALS

www.elsevier.com/locate/chaos

Complexity in quantum field theory and physics beyond the standard model

Ervin Goldfain

OptiSolve Consulting, 4422 Cleveland Road, Syracuse, NY 13215, USA

Accepted 2 September 2005

Communicated by Prof. Ji-Huan He

Abstract

Complex quantum field theory (abbreviated c-QFT) is introduced in this paper as an alternative framework for the description of physics beyond the energy range of the standard model. The mathematics of c-QFT is based on fractal differential operators that generalize the momentum operators of conventional quantum field theory (QFT). The underlying premise of our approach is that c-QFT contains the right analytical tools for dealing with the asymptotic regime of QFT. Canonical quantization of c-QFT leads to the following findings: (i) the Fock space of c-QFT includes *fractional numbers* of particles and antiparticles per state, (ii) c-QFT represents a generalization of topological field theory and (iii) classical limit of c-QFT is equivalent to field theory in *curved space-time*. The first finding provides a field-theoretic motivation for the transfinite discretization approach of El-Naschie's $e^{(\infty)}$ theory. The second and third findings suggest the dynamic unification of boson and fermion fields as particles with fractional spin, as well as the close connection between spin and space-time topology beyond the conventional physics of the standard model. (© 2005 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction and motivation

Quantum field theory (QFT) is an approximate description of particle phenomena occurring in an energy range below few hundred GeV. For this reason, QFT is considered an *effective field theory* which deliberately ignores the substructure and the degrees of freedom observable above this upper bound [1]. A number of recent studies have suggested, from a variety of standpoints, that physics in the TeV regime of QFT may be a manifestation of *complex dynamics* [2– 9,11,16–19]. For example, it has been argued that the onset of large and persistent vacuum fluctuations, along with strong-gravity effects emerging from the short-distance behavior of QFT, warrant the passage from the standard tools of classical calculus to fractional calculus [16]. In general, use of conventional differential operators rests on the tacit assumption that a clear separation exists between the macroscopic and the microscopic levels of physical description. Implicit in this assumption is the condition that dynamical processes on the microscopic scale are *stable*. If this condition fails to be true, dynamical instabilities can develop on arbitrarily long time-scales and the macroscopic description of phenomena in terms of ordinary differential operators breaks down [13,15]. Such a scenario may be typical for

E-mail address: ervingoldfain@hotmail.com

^{0960-0779/\$ -} see front matter @ 2005 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.chaos.2005.09.012

physics in the TeV regime where far-from equilibrium statistical processes are expected to dominate. Let us briefly elaborate on this point with the help of an idealized quantum-mechanical experiment. Consider an isolated two-state quantum system whose state vector $|\psi\rangle$ at time t = 0 is given by

$$|\psi\rangle = c_0|0\rangle + c_1|1\rangle \tag{1}$$

where $|0\rangle$ and $|1\rangle$ denote two orthogonal states and c_0 , c_1 are complex numbers. Assume that the quantum vacuum, acting as source of large and steady fluctuations, may be modeled as a two-state reservoir with vectors $|v_0\rangle$ and $|v_1\rangle$. Bring the quantum vacuum in contact with the system at some instant $t_0 > 0$ and maintain the contact for an interval $t_{INT} > t_0$. The coupling of the two objects through unitary evolution leads to a time-dependent state

$$|\psi(t)\rangle = c_0|0\rangle \otimes |\mathbf{v}_0\rangle + c_1|1\rangle \otimes |\mathbf{v}_1\rangle \tag{2}$$

where \otimes stands for the tensor product and $t_{INT} > t > t_0$. It is seen that the system and vacuum become *entangled* on a time-scale commensurate with t_{INT} and one can no longer treat (1) as describing an object with a well-defined quantum identity. In contrast to the low-energy regime of quantum theory, the high-energy dynamics of the vacuum is characterized in general by a large number of time-scales that are not reducible to a single average through coarse-graining. It follows that the ensemble system + vacuum evolves on *multiple scales*. This line of reasoning reproduces, in essence, the statistical physics argument for replacing ordinary derivatives and integrals with fractal operators [13].

To the best of our knowledge, this work represents the first attempt to build a field theory on the basis of fractional differential and integral operators (c-QFT). Its main goal is to develop canonical quantization of c-QFT and evaluate its ramifications in connection with future extensions of QFT. We caution that our contribution is meant to serve as an informal introduction and not as a rigorous and comprehensive treatment of the topic.

The paper is organized in the following way: Sections 3 and 4 introduce canonical quantization for c-QFT of free scalar and Dirac fields. The link between Chern–Simons field theory and c-QFT is examined in Section 5. Section 6 is devoted to a brief discussion on the dual aspect of c-QFT and general relativity. Last section presents a short summary of results and future prospects.

2. Notation, assumptions and conventions

We introduce here the main notations and assumptions that underlie the remainder of the paper

- (i) The summation convention is applied on repeated upper and lower indices and Planck's constant is set to $\hbar = 1$.
- (ii) Motivated by the growing evidence for complexity in field theory, our focus is the behavior of fractional *dynamical systems* [10]. These systems are characterized by non-integer powers of generalized coordinates and momenta

$$q^{\alpha} \doteq |q|^{\alpha}, \quad p^{\alpha} \doteq |p|^{\alpha} \tag{3}$$

in which $\alpha > 0$. As stated, we study the dynamics of free fractional scalar and Dirac fields. To avoid cluttering the notation, the corresponding field variables are respectively designated as

$$\varphi \doteq q^{\alpha}, \quad \psi \doteq q^{\alpha} \tag{4}$$

- (iii) The hat symbol "^" is used to indicate operators.
- (iv) Analysis is limited to real or complex functions of the dimensionless field variable $q \ge 0$ for which fractional derivatives and integrals exist. We adopt hereafter the regularized expression for fractional derivative [20,21]

$$D^{\alpha}[f(q)] \doteq \frac{\partial^{\alpha}[f(q)]}{\partial q^{\alpha}} \doteq \frac{1}{\Gamma(1-\alpha)} \int_{-\infty}^{q} \frac{\partial f(\xi)}{\partial \xi} \frac{d\xi}{(q-\xi)^{\alpha}}$$
(5)

where $0 < \alpha < 1$. The fractional momentum operator is introduced in Appendix A by analogy with conventional formulation of quantum mechanics. It may be shown that fractional momentum is linear and hermitean. The latter property follows from an extended definition of the conjugate operator, as detailed in (A7)–(A10).

(v) The generalized Lagrangian for a classical fractional system depending on *n* fields, their fractional derivatives of orders ω_l and *n* locally defined exponents $\alpha_l(x)$ (l = 1, 2, ..., n) is defined by

$$L_{G}^{\alpha_{1}(x),\alpha_{2}(x),\dots,\alpha_{n}(x)} \doteq L_{G}(q_{1}^{\alpha_{1}(x)}, q_{2}^{\alpha_{2}(x)}, \dots, q_{n}^{\alpha_{n}(x)}; D^{\omega_{1}}q_{1}^{\alpha_{1}(x)}, D^{\omega_{2}}q_{2}^{\alpha_{2}(x)}, \dots, D^{\omega_{n}}q_{n}^{\alpha_{n}(x)}; t)$$

$$\tag{6}$$

(vi) The commutator and anti-commutator for any pair of arbitrary operators (\hat{f}, \hat{g}) are, respectively

$$[\hat{f}, \hat{g}] \doteq \hat{f}\hat{g} - \hat{g}\hat{f}$$

$$\{\hat{f}, \hat{g}\} \doteq \hat{f}\hat{g} + \hat{g}\hat{f}$$

$$(8)$$

- (vii) State vectors and inner products are formulated using Dirac notation.
- (viii) The vacuum state is considered empty and is labeled with the zero-particle ket $|0\rangle$.
- (ix) Dynamical processes described by c-QFT are Markovian and, as such, have no time memory.
- (x) Greek letters μ , ν , $\sigma = 0, 1, 2, 3$ denote space-time indices whereas roman letters *i*, *j*, *k* = 1, 2, 3 label the set of three spatial coordinates.

3. Scalar bosons in c-QFT

The classical Lagrangian for the free scalar field theory in 3 + 1 dimensions reads [14,22]

$$L = \partial^{\mu} \varphi \partial_{\mu} \varphi - m^2 \varphi^2 \tag{9}$$

and leads to the following expression for the field momentum:

$$\pi = \frac{\partial L}{\partial \left(\frac{\partial \varphi}{\partial t}\right)} = \frac{\partial \varphi}{\partial t} \tag{10}$$

It is known that the standard technique of canonical quantization promotes a classical field theory to a quantum field theory by converting the field and momentum variables into operators. To gain full physical insight with minimal complications in formalism, we work below in 0 + 1 dimensions. Define the field and momentum operators as

$$\varphi \to \dot{\varphi} \doteq \varphi$$

$$\pi \to \hat{\pi}^{\alpha} \doteq -i \frac{\partial^{\alpha}}{\partial |\varphi|^{\alpha}} \equiv -i D^{\alpha}$$

$$(11)$$

Without loss of generality, we set m = 1 in (9). The Hamiltonian becomes

$$H \to \hat{H}^{\alpha} = -\frac{1}{2}D^{2\alpha} + \frac{1}{2}\varphi^2 = \frac{1}{2}\left(\hat{\pi}^{2\alpha} + \varphi^2\right)$$
(12)

The state of the field in the Schrödinger representation is described by a complex-valued wavefunction $\Psi(\varphi) = \langle \varphi | \Psi \rangle$ whose conjugate-square is the probability density for φ . This wavefunction evolves according to the time-dependent Schrödinger equation

$$\mathbf{i}\partial_t \Psi(\varphi) = \widehat{H}^{\alpha} \Psi(\varphi) \tag{13}$$

The commutation relations corresponding to (11) may be written as (per Appendix B)

$$\begin{aligned} [\varphi,\varphi] &= 0\\ [\hat{\pi}^{\alpha},\hat{\pi}^{\alpha}] \doteq [D^{\alpha},D^{\alpha}] = 0\\ [\hat{\varphi},\hat{\pi}^{\alpha}] &= i\alpha\hat{\pi}^{(\alpha-1)} \end{aligned}$$
(14)

By analogy with the standard treatment of harmonic oscillator in quantum mechanics, it is convenient to work with the destruction and creation operators defined through [14,23]

$$\hat{a}^{\alpha} \doteq \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} [\hat{\varphi} + i\hat{\pi}^{\alpha}]$$

$$\hat{a}^{+\alpha} \doteq \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} [\hat{\varphi} - i\hat{\pi}^{\alpha}]$$
(15)

Straightforward algebra shows that these operators satisfy the following commutation rules:

$$[\hat{a}, \hat{a}] = [\hat{a}^{+\alpha}, \hat{a}^{+\alpha}] = 0 [\hat{a}^{+\alpha}, \hat{a}^{\alpha}] = i[\hat{\varphi}, \hat{\pi}^{\alpha}] = -\alpha \hat{\pi}^{(\alpha-1)}$$
(16)

The second relation in (16) leads to

~ ~

$$\widehat{H}^{\alpha} = \widehat{a}^{+\alpha}\widehat{a}^{\alpha} + \frac{1}{2}\alpha\widehat{\pi}^{(\alpha-1)}$$
(17)

In the limit $\alpha \to 1$ we recover the quantum mechanics of the harmonic oscillator, namely

$$\hat{H} = \hat{a}^{\dagger}\hat{a} + \frac{1}{2}$$
(18)

Next, consider the commutator $[\widehat{N}^{\alpha}, \hat{a}^{+}]$, where $\widehat{N} \doteq \hat{a}^{+}\hat{a}$ designates the number operator. We obtain

$$[\widehat{N}^{\alpha}, \widehat{a}^{+\alpha}] = \alpha \widehat{\pi}^{(\alpha-1)} \widehat{a}^{+\alpha}$$
⁽¹⁹⁾

Thus

$$\widehat{\mathcal{N}}^{\alpha} \widehat{a}^{+\alpha} |0\rangle = (\widehat{a}^{+\alpha} \widehat{\mathcal{N}}^{\alpha} + [\widehat{\mathcal{N}}^{\alpha}, \widehat{a}^{+\alpha}]) |0\rangle = \alpha \widehat{\pi}^{(\alpha-1)} \widehat{a}^{+\alpha} |0\rangle$$
(20)

The eigenvalue equation corresponding to the above relation has the form

$$D^{(\alpha-1)}\hat{a}^{+\alpha}|0\rangle = \lambda^{(\alpha-1)}\hat{a}^{+\alpha}|0\rangle = \frac{i\lambda}{\alpha}\hat{a}^{+\alpha}|0\rangle$$
(21)

and it is solved in Appendix C. Under the most general circumstances, $\lambda_n (n=1,2,...)$ form a set of real numbers that may be cast in a fractional form. As a result, we are led to conclude that $\hat{a}^{+\alpha}|0\rangle$ represents an eigenvector of the number operator having fractional eigenvalues. Stated differently, the action of the creation operator $\hat{a}^{+\alpha}$ on the empty vacuum is to produce a particle that carries a fractional quantum of energy. Following the general arguments of Section 1), we may call these fractional excitations of the scalar field "*complexons*". According to Appendix C, since λ_n form a discrete set of eigenvalues, it is appropriate to regard the complexon as a *fractional particle with a discrete energy spectrum*. We close this section with the observation that, on account of (17) and (18), the term $\frac{1}{2}\alpha \hat{\pi}^{(\alpha-1)}$ plays the role of a *zero-point operator*. In contrast with conventional quantum theory, it is apparent that the dynamical contribution of the background vacuum in c-QFT amounts to more than a constant additive term to the Hamiltonian.¹

4. Fermions in c-QFT

The classical Dirac equation describing free fermion fields in 3 + 1 dimension is [14,22]

$$(i\gamma^{\mu}\partial_{\mu} - m)\psi = 0 \tag{22}$$

where γ^{μ} are 4 × 4 matrices given by

$$\gamma^{0} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix} \quad \gamma^{i} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \sigma^{i} \\ -\sigma^{i} & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$
(23)

and ψ is a 4-component spinor which transforms under the spin 1/2 representation of the Lorentz group. The Dirac equation may be derived from the Lagrangian

$$L_{\rm D} = \frac{1}{2} \left[\bar{\psi} \gamma^{\mu} (\partial_{\mu} \psi) - (\partial_{\mu} \bar{\psi}) \gamma^{\mu} \psi \right] - m \bar{\psi} \psi \tag{24}$$

in which the adjoint spinor is defined as

$$\bar{\psi} \doteq \psi^+ \gamma^0 \tag{25}$$

To simplify the formalism and capture the essentials of the argument, we choose to work again in 0 + 1 dimensions and set m = 1. Let the spinor field be expanded in a basis containing the eigenstates of γ^0 that is

$$\psi = \psi_+ |+\rangle + \psi_- |-\rangle \tag{26}$$

where

$$|+\rangle = \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} \quad |-\rangle = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ 1 \end{pmatrix}$$

$$\langle +| = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \quad \langle -| = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$$
(27)

The conjugate momentum of the spinor field is

$$\Pi = \frac{\partial L_{\rm D}}{\partial \left(\frac{\partial \psi}{\partial t}\right)} = \mathrm{i}\psi^+ \tag{28}$$

916

 $^{^{1}}$ It is tempting to speculate that the emergence of zero-point operator as a dynamical generator of vacuum structure might account for the existence of dark matter in the universe. As it is known, the source and physical attributes of dark matter are currently unanswered questions in particle physics and cosmology.

Consider now the coordinate Schrödinger representation for Dirac fields, whereby an arbitrary state $|\Phi\rangle$ is represented by the wavefunction $\Phi(\psi) = \langle \psi | \Phi \rangle$. By analogy with the previous section, we cast Dirac field theory in the operator language. Let us take the state $|\psi\rangle$ to be an eigenstate of the field operator $\hat{\psi}$ with eigenvalue ψ

$$\hat{\psi}|\psi\rangle = \psi|\psi\rangle \tag{29}$$

The field conjugate momentum is then

$$\hat{\Pi} = i\hat{\psi}^+ = i\frac{\partial}{\partial\psi}$$
(30)

Creation and destruction operators are introduced as follows [14]:

$$\begin{split} \hat{\psi} &= \hat{b} |+\rangle + \hat{c}^{+} |-\rangle \\ \hat{\psi}^{+} &= \hat{b}^{+} \langle + | + \hat{c} \langle - | \\ \hat{\psi} &= \hat{b}^{+} \langle + | - \hat{c} \langle - | \end{split}$$
(31)

Here, \hat{b} and \hat{c} are the fermion and antifermion destruction operators, whereas \hat{b}^+ and \hat{c}^+ denote the fermion and antifermion creation operators. It is known that, to ensure that the total fermion energy is positive-definite, Dirac field theory is formulated using anticommutators rather than commutators [14,22]. The momentum anti-commutator is given by

$$\{\hat{\psi}, \hat{\Pi}\} \equiv \{\hat{\psi}, i\hat{\psi}^{+}\} = i[\{\hat{b}, \hat{b}^{+}\} + \{\hat{c}, \hat{c}^{+}\} - 1]$$
(32)

Here, according to (8)

$$\{\hat{\psi}, \hat{\Pi}\} \doteq \hat{\psi}\hat{\Pi} + \hat{\Pi}\hat{\psi} \tag{33}$$

The Dirac Hamiltonian assumes the form

$$\hat{H}_{\mathrm{D}} = \bar{\psi}\hat{\psi} = (\hat{b}^{\dagger}\hat{b} + \hat{c}^{\dagger}\hat{c}) \tag{34}$$

Moreover, a new operator may be introduced in the theory as being proportional to the difference of the number of fermions and number of antifermions. This is known as the charge operator and is represented by

$$\widehat{Q} \doteq e\bar{\psi}\gamma^0\hat{\psi} = e(\hat{b}^+\hat{b} - \hat{c}^+\hat{c}) \tag{35}$$

where e is the electron charge. Proceeding in a way similar to the previous section, the conjugate momentum for Dirac c-QFT may be defined as

$$\hat{\Pi}^{\alpha} = \mathbf{i}\hat{\psi}^{+\alpha} \doteq \mathbf{i}\frac{\partial^{\alpha}}{\partial|\psi|^{\alpha}} = \mathbf{i}D^{\alpha}$$
(36)

By analogy with (14), the corresponding momentum anti-commutator reads

$$\{\hat{\psi}, \hat{\Pi}^{\alpha}\} = i\alpha \hat{\Pi}^{(\alpha-1)} \tag{37}$$

Assuming that fermions and antifermions contribute equally to (32), we derive

$$\{\hat{b}^{\alpha}, \hat{b}^{+\alpha}\} = \{\hat{c}^{\alpha}, \hat{c}^{+\alpha}\} = \frac{1}{2} \left[\alpha \widehat{\Pi}^{(\alpha-1)} + 1 \right]$$
(38)

A logical way to proceed from here is by writing down the anti-commutation relations involving the number and creation operators for fermions and anti-fermions. Retracing the sequence of steps (19)-(21), we arrive at the equation

$$D^{(\alpha-1)}\hat{\boldsymbol{b}}^{+\alpha}|0\rangle = \eta^{(\alpha-1)}\hat{\boldsymbol{b}}^{+\alpha}|0\rangle \tag{39}$$

whose eigenvalues $\eta^{(\alpha-1)}$ form a set of positive and fractional numbers. Considering the same arguments that lead to (21), fermion field excitations generated by $\eta^{(\alpha-1)}$ may be also interpreted as "*complexons*". Moreover, it follows from (35) and (38) that \hat{Q} generates fractional fermion charges. The emergence of complexons and fractional Dirac charges may be seen as a dynamic manifestation of the high-energy regime that do not have a counterpart in conventional QFT.

5. c-QFT as extended Chern-Simons theory

The emergence of fractional quanta and fractional charges in the last two sections suggests a deeper physical connection between c-QFT and Chern–Simons field theory. As it is known, the Chern–Simons theory may be associated with the occurrence of quasi-particles with fractional spin known as anyons [12,22]. The theory asserts that anyons experience long-range phase interaction mediated by a gauge potential a_{μ} . The Chern–Simons action for the free theory defined on a closed 2 + 1 space–time manifold M has the form

$$\widehat{S} \sim \int_{M} \varepsilon^{\mu\nu\lambda} \widehat{a}_{\mu} \partial_{\nu} \widehat{a}_{\lambda} d^{3}x$$
(40)

in which μ , ν , $\lambda = 0$, *i*; (*i* = 1,2) and $\varepsilon^{\mu\nu\lambda}$ represents the totally antisymmetric symbol [22]. A remarkable attribute of (40) is that it is invariant under general coordinate transformations in which the field components change as

$$\hat{a}_{\mu}(x) = \frac{\partial x^{\prime\lambda}}{\partial x^{\mu}} \, \widehat{a'}_{\lambda}(x') \tag{41}$$

As a result, the Chern–Simons action (41) is independent of the geometric structure of the underlying space–time manifold encoded in the metric tensor $g_{\mu\nu}(x)$. It depends only on the topological content of M. It is for this reason that (40) is said to describe a *topological field theory* [22]. Using the language of differential forms, the Chern–Simons term can be expressed as

$$\varepsilon^{\mu\nu\lambda}\hat{a}_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}\hat{a}_{\lambda} \to \varepsilon\hat{a}\,\mathrm{d}\hat{a}$$
(42)

In a formulation involving fractal operators and up to several multiplication constants, (42) may be generalized to

$$\hat{a}\,d\hat{a} o D_{\gamma}^{\lambda}\hat{a}D_{\gamma}^{\eta}\hat{a}$$
(43)

The action (40) is accordingly upgraded to

$$\widehat{S}^{\delta,\eta} \sim \int_{\mathcal{M}} D_x^{\delta} \widehat{a} D_x^{\eta} \widehat{a} \, \mathrm{d}^3 x \tag{44}$$

Here, D_x^{δ} and D_x^{η} are differential operators with respect to x and δ , η are fractional exponents. We recover the conventional Chern–Simons theory in the limit $\delta = 0$, $\eta = 1$. Under these circumstances, Chern–Simons theory may be regarded as a subset of c-QFT. Taking δ , η to be locally defined ($\delta \doteq \delta(x)$; $\eta \doteq \eta(x)$) and viewing them as new degrees of freedom, one may choose to constrain these exponents such as to guarantee invariance of (44) under general coordinate transformations. A distinctive property of $\delta(x)$, $\eta(x)$ is that they are linearly related to the fractal dimension of the manifold M and thus represent a measure of its underlying topology [13,16]. Following this line of reasoning, we may establish a close link between topological aspects of the Chern–Simons field theory, on one hand, and c-QFT, on the other.²

6. Classical limit of c-QFT and general relativity

Expanding on this viewpoint, we may argue that, under the most general circumstances, all exponents entering the generalized Lagrangian (6) are not arbitrary inputs but dynamical parameters that may be fixed by any set of symmetry requirements imposed on the generalized action

$$S_{G}^{\alpha_{1}(x),\alpha_{2}(x),...,\alpha_{n}(x)} \doteq \int_{M} L_{G}^{\alpha_{1}(x),\alpha_{2}(x)...,\alpha_{n}(x)} d^{4}x$$
(45)

In particular, the generalized action for free fermions may be made invariant with respect to local gauge transformations *without adding gauge fields to the theory*. Setting the right functional constraints on exponents rather than relying on additional dynamical fields to satisfy local gauge symmetry is the key argument of [18].

Given the topological roots of exponent α and its dynamical role in the development of c-QFT, it is of interest to explore how fractal attributes encoded by α may be mapped onto the underlying metric of M. To this end, consider the Lagrangian of the classical scalar field theory (9) in four-dimensional space-time

 $^{^2}$ In this context it is instructive to recall that the Chern–Simons model provides a theoretical framework for explaining the fractional quantum Hall effect, a well known phenomenon in condensed matter physics [12,22].
E. Goldfain | Chaos, Solitons and Fractals 28 (2006) 913–922

919

$$L = \left(\frac{\partial \varphi}{\partial t}\right)^2 - \sum_k \left(\frac{\partial \varphi}{\partial x^k}\right)^2 - m^2 \varphi^2 \tag{46}$$

The generalized Lagrangian built from (46) assumes the form

$$L_G^{\alpha} = \left(\frac{\partial \varphi}{\partial t}\right)^2 - \sum_k D_{x_k}^{2\alpha} \varphi - m^2 \varphi^2 \tag{47}$$

An alternate expression for the fractional derivative $D_{x_k}^{\alpha} \varphi$ is [20]

$$D_{x_k}^{\alpha}\varphi(x_k) = \frac{\varphi(0)x_k^{-\alpha}}{\Gamma(1-\alpha)} + \frac{1}{\Gamma(1-\alpha)} \int_0^{x_k} (x_k - \xi)^{-\alpha} \frac{\partial\varphi}{\partial x_k}(\xi) \,\mathrm{d}\xi \tag{48}$$

Let the coordinate of point ξ_k ($0 \le \xi_k \le x_k$) be defined as an arbitrary fraction of the endpoint coordinate $x_k \ll 1$, that is, $\xi_k \doteq sx_k$, with $s \le 1$. Assuming, for the sake of simplicity, that the first term in (48) is negligible in comparison with the second term, we derive the following approximation

$$D_{x_k}^{\alpha} \varphi\left(\frac{\xi_k}{s}\right) \approx \frac{(1-s)^{-\alpha}}{s^{1-\alpha} \Gamma(1-\alpha)} \xi_k^{(1-\alpha)} \frac{\partial \varphi}{\partial x_k}(\xi_k)$$
(49)

and

$$D_{x_k}^{2\alpha}\varphi(\xi_k) \approx g_{ik}^{\alpha}(\xi_k) \left[\frac{\partial\varphi}{\partial x_i}(\xi_i)\right] \left[\frac{\partial\varphi}{\partial x^k}(\xi_k)\right]$$
(50)

Up to a product of multiplicative factors independent of ξ_k , the metric $g_{ik}^{\alpha}(\xi_k)$ is given by

$$g_{ik}^{\alpha}(\xi_k) \sim \eta_{ik} \xi_k^{2(1-\alpha)} \tag{51}$$

where η_{ik} is the Minkowski metric of special relativity.

On account of (50) and (51), we are led to conclude that the classical limit of c-QFT for free scalar bosons may be formally interpreted as a classical field theory *in curved space-time*. It can be seen that (51) reduces to the metric of special relativity when the fractal topology of space-time makes the transition to a smooth topology, i.e. in the classical limit $\alpha \rightarrow 1$. The equivalent metric (51) is subject to the constraint briefly discussed in Appendix D.

7. Concluding remarks

We have laid out the groundwork for complex-quantum field theory using the methodology of fractal differential and integral operators. Our framework has been developed with emphasis on canonical quantization and has led to the following conclusions: (i) the Fock space of c-QFT includes *fractional numbers* of particles and antiparticles per state, (ii) c-QFT represents a generalization of topological field theory and (iii) classical limit of c-QFT is equivalent to field theory in *curved space-time*. The first finding is rooted in the non-commutative nature of space-time in the TeV regime and provides a field-theoretic justification for the transfinite discretization procedure of El Naschie's $\varepsilon^{(\infty)}$ model. The second and third findings suggest the dynamic unification of boson and fermion fields as particles with fractional spin, as well as the close connection between spin and topological attributes of space-time beyond the conventional physics of the standard model.

Future research efforts may be directed towards developing the complexon algebra, understanding the connection between fractional spin and c-QFT and formulating predictions that can be tracked and tested at the Large Hadron Collider and next-generation accelerators. In particular, it is of great interest to explore if c-QFT gives us clues about the particle content of dark matter and its relationship to the TeV physics.

Acknowledgement

The author thanks Prof. El-Naschie for his comments and suggestions made during the manuscript review.

Appendix A

Fractional derivative of order $0 \le \alpha \le 1$ described by (5) may be alternatively expressed as a convolution, i.e.

$$D^{\alpha}_{>}f(q) \doteq f(q) * \Lambda^{+}_{\alpha}(q) \tag{A1}$$

where

$$\Lambda_{\alpha}^{+}(q) \doteq \frac{q^{-\alpha}}{\Gamma(1-\alpha)} \quad (q > 0)$$
(A2)

Similarly we can introduce

,

$$D_{\leq}^{x}f(q) \doteq f(q) * A_{q}^{-}(q) \tag{A3}$$

with

$$\Lambda_{\alpha}^{-}(q) = \Lambda_{\alpha}^{+}(-q) \doteq \frac{q^{-\alpha}}{\Gamma(1-\alpha)} \quad (q < 0)$$
(A4)

Let

$$\hat{p}^{\alpha}\psi(q) = -\mathrm{i}D^{\alpha}_{>}\psi(q) \tag{A5}$$

stand for the fractional momentum operator working on the wavefunction $\psi(q)$. In accordance with the standard formalism of quantum mechanics, its average is given by

$$\langle \hat{p}^{\alpha} \rangle \doteq \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \psi^{*}(q) (-\mathrm{i} D_{>}^{\alpha}) \psi(q) \,\mathrm{d}q \tag{A6}$$

To keep the notation simple, we omit throughout the text the subscript ">". Hence we set

$$D^{\alpha}_{>} \equiv D^{\alpha} \tag{A7}$$

Fractional momentum is a linear operator since it satisfies

$$\hat{p}^{\alpha}\psi_{1} = \psi_{2}
\hat{p}^{\alpha}(\psi_{1} + \psi_{2}) = \hat{p}^{\alpha}\psi_{1} + \hat{p}^{\alpha}\psi_{2}
C\hat{p}^{\alpha}\psi = \hat{p}^{\alpha}(C\psi)$$
(A8)

where C is an arbitrary constant. The integration by parts formula [21]

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \psi^*(q)(-\mathrm{i}D^{\alpha}_{>})\psi(q)\,\mathrm{d}q = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \psi(q)(-\mathrm{i}D^{\alpha}_{<})\psi^*(q)\,\mathrm{d}q \tag{A9}$$

implies that the fractional momentum operator is hermitean if (and only if) we adopt the following definition

$$-\mathbf{i}D_{<}^{\alpha} \doteq (-\mathbf{i}D_{>}^{\alpha})^{*} = \mathbf{i}(D_{>}^{\alpha})^{*}$$
(A10)

Appendix B. Derivation of the commutator $[\hat{\varphi}, \hat{\pi}^{\alpha}] = i\alpha \hat{\pi}^{(\alpha-1)}$

Start from (11) and the formal commutator definition

$$[\hat{\varphi}, \hat{\pi}^{\alpha}] |\varphi\rangle = (-\mathbf{i}) [\hat{\varphi} D^{\alpha} |\varphi\rangle - D^{\alpha} (\hat{\varphi} \cdot |\varphi\rangle)] \tag{B1}$$

and apply the generalized Leibniz rule [20]

$$D^{\alpha}(\hat{\varphi} \cdot |\varphi\rangle) = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} {\alpha \choose m} D^{m} \varphi D^{\alpha-m} |\varphi\rangle = \varphi D^{\alpha} |\varphi\rangle + {\alpha \choose 1} D^{(\alpha-1)} |\varphi\rangle$$
(B2)

in which

$$\binom{\alpha}{m} \doteq \frac{\Gamma(\alpha+1)}{\Gamma(\alpha+1-m)\Gamma(1+m)}$$
(B3)

Therefore

$$\binom{\alpha}{1} = \frac{\Gamma(\alpha+1)}{\Gamma(\alpha)} = \alpha \tag{B4}$$

From (B1)-(B4) we derive

$$[\hat{\varphi}, \hat{\pi}^{\alpha}] = i\alpha \hat{\pi}^{(\alpha-1)} \tag{B5}$$

920

Appendix C. Fractional eigenvalue equation $\hat{\pi}^{(\alpha-1)}\hat{a}^{+\alpha}|0\rangle = \frac{\lambda}{\alpha}\hat{a}^{+\alpha}|0\rangle$

Consider

$$D^{(\alpha-1)}\hat{a}^{+\alpha}|0\rangle = \lambda^{(\alpha-1)}\hat{a}^{+\alpha}|0\rangle \tag{C1}$$

where

$$\lambda^{(\alpha-1)} = \frac{i\lambda}{\alpha} \tag{C2}$$

Here, we have employed the notation

$$\hat{a}^{+\alpha} \equiv \hat{a}^{+\alpha}(\varphi) \tag{C3}$$

The general solution of the above fractional eigenvalue equation subject to the boundary condition [20]

$$D^{(\alpha-2)}\hat{a}^{+\alpha} = (\hat{a}^{+\alpha})_1 \quad \text{as } \varphi \to 0 \tag{C4}$$

is represented by

$$\hat{a}^{+\alpha} = (\hat{a})_{1}^{+\alpha} \varphi^{\alpha-2} E_{\alpha-1,\alpha-1} \left[\lambda^{(\alpha-1)} \varphi^{(\alpha-1)} \right]$$
(C5)

in which $E_{\alpha,\beta}(x)$ denotes the Mittag–Lefler function of order α , β . To determine the eigenvalue spectrum $\lambda_n^{(\alpha-1)}$, we use a boundary condition that fixes the behavior of $\hat{a}^{+\alpha}$ and $(\hat{a}^{+\alpha})_1$ as the scalar field φ approaches its upper limit $\varphi \to \varphi_0$, namely

$$\hat{a}^{+\alpha}(\varphi_0)|0\rangle = A^{+\alpha}(\varphi_0)|0\rangle \tag{C6}$$

On the other hand we have, starting from the boundary condition definition (C4),

 $(\hat{a}^{+\alpha})_1(\varphi)|0\rangle = A_1^{+\alpha}(\varphi)|0\rangle \quad \text{as } \varphi \to 0 \tag{C7}$

where it is assumed that

$$(C8) (C8)$$

This ansatz leads to the following implicit equation for $\lambda_n^{(\alpha-1)}$

$$A^{+\alpha}(\varphi_0) = A_1^{+\alpha}(0)\varphi_0^{\alpha-2}E_{\alpha-1,\alpha-1}\left[\lambda^{(\alpha-1)}\varphi_0^{\alpha-1}\right]$$
(C9)

Appendix D

The equivalent metric must transform in a way that maintains invariance of the space-time interval under arbitrary coordinate changes $x \to \bar{x}(x)$. Hence, in general

$$\bar{g}^{\bar{\alpha}}_{\lambda\sigma}(\bar{x})(\mathrm{d}\bar{x}^{\lambda})^{\bar{\alpha}}(\mathrm{d}\bar{x}^{\sigma})^{\bar{\alpha}} = g^{\alpha}_{\mu\nu}(x)(\mathrm{d}x^{\mu})^{\alpha}(\mathrm{d}x^{\nu})^{\alpha} \tag{D1}$$

where $\bar{\alpha}$ labels the exponent corresponding to the reference frame \bar{x} . On account of (5), the partial derivative $\partial^{\bar{\alpha}}(x^{\mu})^{\alpha}/\partial(\bar{x}^{\lambda})^{\bar{\alpha}}$ may be defined as

$$\frac{\partial^{\tilde{\alpha}}(x^{\mu})^{\alpha}}{\partial(\bar{x}^{\lambda})^{\tilde{\alpha}}} = \frac{1}{\Gamma(1-\bar{\alpha})} \int_{-\infty}^{\bar{x}^{\lambda}} \frac{\partial(x^{\mu})^{\alpha}}{\partial\bar{\xi}^{\lambda}} \frac{d\bar{\xi}^{\tilde{\lambda}}}{(\bar{x}^{\lambda} - \bar{\xi}^{\lambda})^{\tilde{\alpha}}}$$
(D2)

The formal connection between $\bar{g}_{\bar{x}\sigma}^{\bar{x}}(\bar{x})$ and $g_{\mu\nu}^{\alpha}(x)$ may be consequently obtained upon replacing (D2) in (D1).

References

- [1] Georgi H. Effective field theory. Ann Rev Nucl Part Sci 1993;43:209-52.
- [2] El Naschie MS. Complex dynamics in a 4D Peano-Hilbert space. Il Nuovo Cimento della Societa italiana di fisica 1992;107B(5):583–94.
- [3] El Naschie MS. Complex vacuum fluctuation as a chaotic limit set of any Kleinian group transformation and the mass spectrum pf high-energy particle physics via spontaneous self-organization. Chaos, Solitons & Fractals 2003;17:631–8.

- [4] El Naschie MS. The symplectic vacuum, exotic quasi-particles and gravitational instanton. Chaos, Solitons & Fractals 2004; 22:1–11.
- [5] El Naschie MS. VAK, vacuum fluctuations and the mass spectrum of high energy particle physics. Chaos, Solitons & Fractals 2003;17:797–807.
- [6] El Naschie MS. A review of E-infinity theory and the mass spectrum of high-energy particle physics. Chaos, Solitons & Fractals 2004;19:209–36.
- [7] El Naschie MS. The concepts of E infinity: an elementary introduction to the Cantorian-fractal theory of quantum physics. Chaos, Solitons & Fractals 2004;22:495–511.
- [8] El Naschie MS. Nonlinear dynamics and infinite dimensional topology in high energy particle physics. Chaos, Solitons & Fractals 2003;17:591–9.
- [9] El Naschie MS. Quantum gravity from descriptive set theory. Chaos, Solitons & Fractals 2004;19:1339-44.
- [10] Tarasov VE. Fractional generalization of Liouville equations. Chaos 2004;14(1):123–7.
- [11] A.M. Selvam, Available from: http://arxiv.org/ftp/physics/papers/0503/0503028.pdf>.
- [12] Khare A. Fractional statistics and quantum theory. World Scientific; 2002.
- [13] West JB, Bologna M, Grigolini P. Physics of fractal operators. New York: Springer-Verlag; 2003.
- [14] Hatfield B. Quantum field theory of point particles and strings. Westview Press; 1992.
- [15] Creswick RJ, Farach HA, Poole Jr CP. Introduction to renormalization group methods in physics. John Wiley & Sons; 1992.
- [16] Goldfain E. Complex dynamics and the high-energy regime of quantum field theory. Int J Nonlinear Sci Numer Simul 2005; 6(3):223–34.
- [17] Goldfain E. On the relationship between Hamiltonian chaos and classical gravity. Chaos, Solitons & Fractals 2004;20:187–94.
- [18] Goldfain E. Local scale invariance, Cantorian space time and unified field theory. Chaos, Solitons & Fractals 2005;23:701-10.
- [19] Goldfain E. Derivation of lepton masses from the chaotic regime of the linear σ-model. Chaos, Solitons & Fractals 2002; 14:1331–40.
- [20] Podlubny I. Fractional differential equations. Academic Press; 1999.
- [21] Gelfand IM, Shilov GE. Generalized functions, vol. 1. New York: Academic Press; 1964.
- [22] Zee A. Quantum field theory in a nutshell. Princeton University Press; 2003.
- [23] Messiah A. Quantum mechanics. Dover Publications; 1999.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



CHAOS SOLITONS & FRACTALS

Chaos, Solitons and Fractals 38 (2008) 928-935

www.elsevier.com/locate/chaos

Critical behavior in continuous dimension, ε^{∞} theory and particle physics

Ervin Goldfain

Photonics Center of Excellence, Welch Allyn Inc., 4619 Jordan Road, P.O. Box 187, OptiSolve Consulting, 4422 Cleveland Road, Syracuse, NY 13215, United States

Accepted 6 February 2007

Abstract

Bringing closure to the host of open questions posed by the current standard model for particle physics (SM) continues to be a major challenge for the theoretical physics community. Despite years of multiple research efforts, a consistent and comprehensive understanding of standard model parameters is missing. Our work suggests that critical dynamics of the renormalization group flow provides valuable insights into most of the unresolved issues surrounding SM. We report that the dynamics of the renormalization group flow and the topological approach of El Naschie's ε^{∞} theory are viewpoints that share a common foundation. The paper concludes with a brief overview of future developments and integration efforts.

© 2007 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction and motivation

As of today, predictions inferred from the standard model of elementary particles (SM) – a body of knowledge discovered in the early 1970s – agree with all the experiments that have been conducted to date. Nevertheless, the majority of particle theorists feel that SM is not a complete framework, but rather an "effective field theory" that needs to be amended by new physics at some higher energy scale reaching in the TeV region. The most cited reasons for this belief are as follows: (a) the recent discovery of neutrino oscillations and masses; (b) SM does not include the contribution of gravity and gravitational corrections to both quantum field theory and renormalization group (RG) equations; (c) SM does not fix the large number of free parameters that enter the theory (in particular the spectra of masses, gauge couplings and fermion mixing angles); (d) SM has a gauge hierarchy problem, which requires fine-tuning; (e) SM postulates that the origin of electroweak symmetry breaking is the Higgs mechanism, whose confirmation is sought in future accelerator experiments. The number and physical attributes of the Higgs boson are neither explained by SM nor fixed from first principles; (f) SM does not clarify the origin of its underlying $SU(3) \times SU(2) \times U(1)$ gauge group and why quarks and leptons occur in certain representations of this group; and (g) SM does not explain why the weak interactions are chiral, i.e. sensitive to fermion handedness.

Despite years of research on multiple fronts, there is currently no compelling and universally accepted resolution to these challenges. A large body of proposed extensions of SM exists, each of them attempting to resolve some unsatis-

E-mail address: ervingoldfain@hotmail.com

0960-0779/\$ - see front matter @ 2007 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.chaos.2007.02.017

factory aspects of the theory while introducing new unknowns. Expanding on a series of novel and unorthodox contributions of recent years [6–8,10–14,16–18,20], the present work asserts that critical dynamics of the RG flow lies at the root of the many unsettled questions regarding SM. Specifically, we argue that the generation structure of SM and its physical parameters stem from either one of the universal period doubling or golden-mean routes to chaos of the RG flow. Moreover, following [18], we re-iterate that critical behavior in continuous space-time dimension dand above the upper energy limit of SM, (a) is the source of the $SU(3) \times SU(2) \times U(1)$ symmetry group; (b) offers a natural unification mechanism of gauge boson and fermion fields, including classical gravitation and (c) offers a plausible explanation for chiral properties of weak interactions.

Since the concept of dimension and transfinite structure of space-time are the backbone of El Naschie's ε^{∞} theory [10–14], the direct consequence of these results is that the nonlinear dynamics view of the critical RG flow and the topological approach of ε^{∞} share a common foundation.

The paper is structured according to the following plan: Section 2 presents a brief account on RG, critical phenomena and the relevance of the concept of dimension in quantum field theory and the ε^{∞} model. Critical behavior in continuous dimension and its implications for the dynamics of the coupling flow are discussed in Section 3. Sections 4 and 5 analyze the evolution of the coupling flow following the period doubling and golden-mean routes to chaos in simple nonlinear maps. The implications of these routes to chaos on the physics of SM and the link to ε^{∞} theory are elaborated upon in Section 5. An outline on future developments and integration efforts is presented in Section 6. Conclusions are summarized in the last section.

2. Renormalization group, critical phenomena and the concept of dimension

The scale of correlations in statistical physics and quantum field theory is known to become unbounded in the vicinity of a critical point. In this region, fluctuations lead to singular thermodynamic behavior characterized by universal critical exponents and scaling functions [1-3]. These power-law singularities bring to light an underlying emerging symmetry associated with critical phenomena, namely the manifest scale invariance of the theory: at the critical point, the physical system has no characteristic scale and the correlation length diverges. RG provides a natural framework for explaining the onset of critical phenomena, the roots of universality and the classification of various systems in terms of universality classes. In the context of RG, the process of integrating out fluctuations and the short-distance degrees of freedom is made systematic. For instance, if there is a single mass scale M in the microscopic theory, RG proceeds by building an effective field theory whose content may be understood as a power expansion in 1/M. Stated differently, RG is based on the idea that the renormalization technique absorbs all relevant fluctuations above M into a finite number of parameters that define the theory. There are two implicit premises behind this technique: (a) fluctuations have a finite average and (b) renormalization process is carried out at a fixed dimensionality of the space-time background.

Regarding the second premise, a key consequence of RG in both statistical physics and field theory is that universal properties near second-order phase transitions depend strongly on the space-time dimensionality (d). Consider, for instance, the traditional one-component Ising model consisting of an orthogonal lattice of spins experiencing nearest neighbor coupling. It can exhibit an infinite number of multi-critical points in d = 2, a critical Wilson–Fisher or a tri-critical point in d = 3 and a Gaussian fixed point for d = 4 [4]. Percolation, random walks and formation of fractal clusters in systems undergoing second-order phase transitions are also typical examples of processes whose outcome depends on d [1–3]. The relevant literature on statistical physics of phase transitions points out that continuity in the dimensionality of space-time is an essential ingredient for the correct description of critical phenomena. To be specific, extrapolation from d = 4 to an infinitesimally lower dimension $\varepsilon = 4 - d$ is the basis for dimensional regularization in field theory and represents one frequent method in the non-perturbative study of RG flow near non-trivial fixed points [1–5]. Recent work on field theories formulated in continuous dimension asserts that a new type of critical behavior develops at a fixed energy scale μ as a result of incremental changes in $\varepsilon = 4 - d$ [4,5].

It is important to emphasize in this context that ε^{∞} theory also relies on the infinite dimensional structure of the space-time manifold. The fundamental premise of ε^{∞} is that space-time may be thought of as a transfinite collection of primary Cantor sets having a random distribution of underlying dimensions [10–14]. Three key dimensions assume the leading role as topological invariants of the theory: the formal infinite dimension $n = \infty$, the expectation value $\langle d \rangle = \sim \langle n \rangle = 4 + \phi^3$, where ϕ represents the golden mean, and the topological dimension $n_t = 4$. Although the contribution of ϕ^3 and transfinite corrections are negligible at low-energy scales, they become an underlying source for emergent behavior in the high-energy sector of field theory. It is in this far-from-equilibrium setting where vacuum fluctuations and the complex topology of the space-time manifold create a rich reservoir for extensive symmetry breaking and pattern formation [10]. On this basis, one can establish a deep analogy between the dynamics of critical phenomena

in continuous dimension and the complex topology of El Naschie's ε^{∞} model. Some of the physical implications of this analogy are briefly discussed in Section 5.

3. Critical phenomena in continuous dimension

It is known that the dependence of the coupling charge on the energy scale is a basic outcome of RG. Following the generic formulation of RG in quantum field theory [6,7,9], the beta-function defines how the coupling charges g_i "flow" with the sliding energy scale μ , that is

$$\beta_i(g_i) \doteq \frac{\mathrm{d}(g_i)}{\mathrm{d}t} \tag{1}$$

where the evolution parameter

$$t \doteq \ln\left(\frac{\mu}{\mu_0}\right) \tag{2}$$

is considered at an arbitrary reference scale μ_0 . To fix ideas, let us consider the example of beta-functions that describe the gauge-coupling sector of SM. At the one-loop contribution of the perturbation expansion, one has [21]

$$(4\pi)^2 \beta_i(g_i) = b_i g_i^3 \tag{3}$$

Here, g_i , i = 1, 2, 3 are related to the conventional SM gauge couplings via $g_1 = \sqrt{5/3}g'$, $g_2 \equiv g$, $g_3 = g_{QCD}$ and the triplet of one-loop coefficients is given by $b_1 = \frac{41}{10}$, $b_2 = -\frac{19}{6}$, $b_3 = -7$, respectively. In order to simplify notation, we ignore in what follows the index *i* and take $\mu_0 = M_Z$, the mass of the Z^0 boson. In the basin of attraction of a critical point t_c the field correlation length scales as

$$\xi \approx \left| t - t_c \right|^{\nu} \tag{4}$$

Here, critical exponent v is given by [4,5]

$$v^{-1} = -\frac{\partial\beta}{\partial(g)}\Big|_{g=g^*}$$
(5)

and g^* stands for a fixed point of the beta-function, $\beta(g^*) = 0$.

The continuity of the beta-function with respect to d makes it possible to interpret dimension d as a control parameter in the same way the energy scale acts as a control parameter in RG. According to this philosophy, the sliding scale t and d play an interchangeable role. Assume that d_c represents the critical dimension for which g flows into the fixed point g^* . The mass of the underlying field is known to be inversely proportional to the divergent correlation length and identically vanishes at the fixed point

$$M[g^*(d_{\rm c}), d_{\rm c}] = 0 \tag{6}$$

In the basin of attraction of g^* the field develops mass according to the power law [4,5]

$$M[g^*(d_c), d_c - d] \approx |d_c - d|^{\nu(d_c)} = \varepsilon^{\nu(d_c)}$$
⁽⁷⁾

where by analogy with (5)

$$v^{-1}(d_{\rm c}) = -\frac{\partial \beta}{\partial(g)}\Big|_{g^*(d_{\rm c})}$$
(8)

We are led to conclude that, as the fixed point is asymptotically approached and the continuous space-time dimensionality collapses to $d \rightarrow d_c = 1, 2, 3, 4$ the underlying field theory becomes massless, in agreement with the current principles of relativistic quantum field theory [9]. Numerical analysis yields $v(d_c) = 0.5$ for $d_c = 1, 2, 3, 4$ which is found to match well the value reported in the literature [4,5].

An important observation is now in order. Following universality arguments related to the onset of chaos in lowdimensional maps, the dimensional control parameter $\varepsilon = |d_c - d|$ is expected to asymptotically approach the critical value $\varepsilon_{\infty} = 0$ according to the geometric progression [24,25]:

$$\varepsilon_n - \varepsilon_\infty \approx a_n \cdot \delta^{-n} \tag{9}$$

in which $n \gg 1$ is the index defining the number of iteration steps, δ is a scaling constant that is representative for the class of dynamical maps under consideration and a_n is a coefficient which becomes asymptotically independent of n, that is, $a_{\infty} = a$. Substituting (9) in (7) produces to the mass scaling series

931

$$M_n[g^*(d_c), d_c - d_n] \approx (a_n \delta^{-n})^{1/2}$$
(10)

We may go a step further and state that, given the link between the coupling flow and the evolution of masses and fields in RG [9], similar scaling pattern develops for g_n and the underlying fields of the theory, η_n . We thus expect to obtain, for $n \gg 1$

$$\frac{g_n - g^*(d_c) \approx \delta^{-\lambda(d_c)n}}{\eta_n - \eta^*(d_c) \approx \delta^{-\zeta(d_c)n}}$$
(11)

where λ (d_c) and ζ (d_c) represent two additional critical exponents dependent on d_c.

4. Chaotic dynamics of the beta-function

The goal of this section is to use the simplest models that simulate the chaotic dynamics of the beta-function (3) and invoke universality principles to extrapolate results to more realistic settings.

As it is known, a key issue in the study of deterministic dynamical systems is to identify the different types of asymptotic behavior defined by $n \gg 1$ and to understand how this behavior changes under incremental variations of the control parameter. The asymptotic behavior can be, for instance, a steady state, a periodic oscillation, a quasi-periodic or a chaotic motion. There are four traditional routes to chaotic attractors in generic maps: period doubling, intermittency, crises and quasiperiodicity. In what follows, we focus exclusively on: (a) the period doubling cascade corresponding to the Feigenbaum attractor in maps with quadratic maxima and (b) the quasi-periodic route to chaos through irrational winding numbers (the so-called "golden-mean" approach to chaos) [23,24].

4.1. Period doubling transition to chaos

Eq. (3) may be viewed as describing the dynamics of a free over-damped oscillator with cubic interaction [24]:

$$\frac{\partial^2 g}{\partial t^2} + \gamma \frac{\partial g}{\partial t} + \omega^2 g - bg^3 = 0$$
(12)

Here, $\partial^2 g/\partial t^2 \approx O(\varepsilon)$ denotes the second-order derivative of the coupling with respect to the fictitious time $t = \ln(\mu/M_Z)$, $\gamma = (4\pi)^2$ stands for the damping parameter and $\omega \approx O(\varepsilon)$ is the fictitious oscillator frequency. A straightforward way to simulate the effect of sustained fluctuations induced by dimensional variation near the fixed points (d_c) is to add to (12) an infinite series of periodic kicks as in

$$\frac{\partial^2 g}{\partial t^2} + \gamma \frac{\partial g}{\partial t} + \omega^2 g - bg^3 = \sum_j \varepsilon \delta(t - jT)$$
(13)

Here, T denotes the interval between kicks and $\varepsilon = |d_c - d|$ is their amplitude. Following [19], we introduce the complex variable

$$\lambda = \left(ig + \frac{1}{\omega}\frac{\partial g}{\partial t}\right)\sqrt{\frac{3}{8}\frac{b}{\omega}\frac{e^{-\gamma T} - 1}{\gamma}}$$
(14)

which transforms (13) into the so-called Ikeda map

$$\lambda_{n+1} = A + B\lambda_n \exp(i(|\lambda_n|^2 + \psi)) \tag{15}$$

where

$$A = \frac{\varepsilon}{\omega} \sqrt{\frac{3}{8} \frac{b}{\omega} \frac{e^{-\gamma T} - 1}{\gamma}}$$

$$B = e^{-\gamma T/2}$$

$$\psi = \omega T$$
(16)

In what follows, we focus on the effect of sufficiently small kicking intervals $T \approx O(\varepsilon)$ commensurate with the reference scale $\mu_0 = M_Z$. This particular case corresponds to $B = 1, \psi = O(\varepsilon)$ and yields a finite absolute value for A since $\omega \approx O(\varepsilon)$. Furthermore, assuming for the sake of simplicity a strongly over-damped system, we have $\gamma \partial g/\partial t \gg \partial^2 g/\partial t^2$ and $A \gg 1$. Under these circumstances, it can be shown that (15) may be transformed into the following one-dimensional map [24]

$$\sigma_{n+1} = A^2 [2\cos(\sigma_n) + 1] \tag{17}$$

upon performing the substitution

$$\sigma = A \left[A + \left(\lambda + \bar{\lambda}^* \right) \right] \tag{18}$$

The map (17) exhibits the well-known path to the Feigenbaum attractor via universal period doubling bifurcations in maps with quadratic maxima. The corresponding sequence of control parameters A^2 (and, implicitly, the sequence of dimensional parameters ε^2) converges to the Feigenbaum constant $\delta_2 = 4.669...$, i.e.

$$\varepsilon_n \approx \delta_2^{-n/2}$$
 (19)

A more accurate representation is obtained by accounting for the contribution of higher order corrections to the Feigenbaum scaling [22]

$$\varepsilon_n \approx \left(\sum_k \Delta_k \delta_k^{-n}\right)^{1/2}$$
(20)

in which Δ_k and δ_k stand for the generic expansion coefficient and Feigenbaum constant of order k.

4.2. Golden-mean transition to chaos

To link (3) with the onset of chaos through instability of quasi-periodic orbits, we assume below that: (a) the cubic term may be supplemented with higher order contributions that simulate the action of periodic fluctuations, (b) the gauge-coupling equation is perturbed by a term proportional to the dimensional control parameter ε . Hence, we proceed by extrapolating (3) to

$$(4\pi)^2 \beta(g) = b \sin(g) + \varepsilon \tag{21}$$

which may be cast in the form of a sine circle map, that is

$$g_{n+1} = \varepsilon + g_n + K \sin(g_n) \tag{22}$$

and where the overall fluctuation amplitude is

$$K = \frac{b}{\left(4\pi\right)^2} \tag{23}$$

The sequence of dimensional parameters obeys the universal scaling

$$e_n(K) \approx c \overline{\delta}^{-n}$$
 (24)

in which c is a scaling coefficient and the so-called Kadanoff–Feigenbaum–Shenker (KFS) constant depends on the golden-mean ϕ according to [23,24]

$$\overline{\delta} = \phi^{-2} = \left(\frac{\sqrt{5}-1}{2}\right)^{-2} \tag{25}$$

By analogy with the period doubling scenario, a better approximation of (24) may be obtained through the use of higher order scaling corrections, that is

$$\varepsilon_n(K) \approx c \left(\sum_k \overline{\Delta}_k \overline{\delta}_k^{-n}\right)^{1/2}$$
(26)

where $\overline{\Delta}_k$ and $\overline{\delta}_k$ denote the generic expansion coefficient and KFS constant of order k.

5. Universal scaling of SM parameters

5.1. The period doubling scenario

For period-doubling bifurcations we take $n = 2^m$, with m > 1. Replacing in (10) yields the following mass series:

$$M_m \approx \sqrt{a_{2^m}} \cdot \delta^{-\frac{2^m}{2} \cdot \frac{1}{2}} = \sqrt{a_{2^m}} \cdot \delta^{-2^{m-2}}$$
(27)

The ratio of two arbitrary masses is therefore

$$\frac{M_l}{M_m} \approx \sqrt{\frac{a_{2^l}}{a_{2^m}}} \cdot \frac{\delta^{-2^{l-2}}}{\delta^{-2^{m-2}}}$$
(28)

where $\lim_{a_m} \frac{a_l}{a_m} = 1$ as $l, m \to \infty$. Thus, for two consecutive terms in the mass series and ignoring higher order scaling corrections,

$$\frac{M_{l}}{M_{l+1}} \approx \sqrt{\frac{a_{2^{l}}}{a_{2^{l+1}}}} \cdot \delta^{2^{l-2}} = \sqrt{a_{2^{l},2^{l+1}}} \cdot \delta^{2^{l-2}}$$
(29)

It is important to emphasize that (29) provides only a first-order approximation considering that (a) no higher order corrections are accounted for, (b) (29) is less accurate if the iteration index is not large enough, that is, if $l \approx O(1)$, and (c) there is a fair amount of uncertainty involved in determining the quark mass spectrum [15].

Numerical results derived from (29) are displayed in the table below. This table contains a side-by-side comparison of estimated versus actual mass ratios for charged leptons and quarks and a similar comparison of gauge-coupling ratios. All masses and couplings are evaluated at the energy scale given by the top quark mass. Quark masses are averaged using the most recent reports issued by the Particle Data Group [15]. Specifically, $m_u = 2.12$ MeV; $m_d = 4.22$ MeV; $m_s = 80.9$ MeV; $m_c = 630$ MeV; $m_b = 2847$ MeV; $m_t = 170,800$ MeV (see Table 1).

The scaling sequence of charged leptons and quarks may be graphically summarized with the help of the following diagrams:

Based on the above scheme, one may infer that one of the possible patterns for neutrino masses is given by:

$$\begin{array}{cccc}
\delta^{16} & \delta^4 \\
\overline{V_e} & \overline{V_\mu} & \overline{V_\mu} & \overline{V_\mu}
\end{array}$$

Table 1 Fermion masses and coupling ratios

Scaling ratio	2^{l-2}	Experimental value	Estimated value
m_u/m_c	4	3.365×10^{-3}	2.104×10^{-3}
m_c/m_t	4	3.689×10^{-3}	2.104×10^{-3}
m_d/m_s	2	0.052	0.046
m_s/m_b	2	0.028	0.046
m_e/m_μ	4	4.745×10^{-3}	2.104×10^{-3}
m_{μ}/m_{τ}	2	0.061	0.046
$(\alpha_{EM}/\alpha_W)^2$	2	0.053	0.046
$(\alpha_{EM}/\alpha_s)^2$	4	4.034×10^{-3}	2.104×10^{-3}

It is also instructive to note that quarks and charged leptons follow a different period doubling pattern. To this end, let us organize the charged lepton and quark masses in a collection of triplets, that is

$$M_{l} \doteq [m_{e} \quad m_{\mu} \quad m_{\tau}], \quad M_{q} \doteq \begin{bmatrix} m_{u} & m_{d} \\ m_{c} & m_{s} \\ m_{l} & m_{b} \end{bmatrix}$$
(30)

It can be seen that the mass scaling for adjacent quarks stays constant within either one of the triplets (u, c, t) or (d, s, b), whereas the mass scaling for charged leptons varies as a geometric series in δ_2^2 within the triplet (e, μ, τ) . This finding points out toward a symmetry breaking mechanism that segregates lepton and quark phases in the process of "cooling" from the far ultraviolet region of field theory to the low-energy region of SM.

5.2. The golden-mean scenario and ε^{∞} theory

In this case we start by substituting (25) in (10). Ignoring the higher order scaling contributions, the generic term of the mass series becomes

$$M_n \approx a_n \cdot \phi^n \tag{31}$$

The above formula opens the door for a straightforward connection to ε^{∞} theory, where the golden mean plays a key dynamic role [10–14]. A couple of important observations need to be brought up here:

- (a) the exponent $v(d_c) = 1/2$ introduced in Section 3 describes critical behavior in continuous dimension whereby $d_c = 1, 2, 3, 4$. This type of behavior occurs in a space-time endowed with an ordinary topological structure. By contrast, the complex topology of ε^{∞} requires a new critical exponent, that is, $v_{\infty}(d_c) \neq 1/2$;
- (b) higher order scaling corrections alluded to in Section 4 are replaced in ε^{∞} theory by the so-called transfinite corrections. Among the most important transfinite corrections we mention

$$\phi^{3} = \langle d_{c} \rangle - 4$$

$$k = \phi^{3}(1 - \phi^{3})$$

$$k_{0} = \phi^{5}(1 - \phi^{5})$$
(32)

It is apparent from (32) that the role of the dimensional parameter $\varepsilon = 4-d$ is played in ε^{∞} by ϕ^3 . From the above observations, it follows that the scaling relations (10) and (31), adapted to ε^{∞} theory and taken in the absence of transfinite corrections, assumes the form

$$M_{n}[g^{*}(d_{c}),\phi^{3}] \approx (\phi^{3})^{-n \cdot \nu_{\infty}(d_{c})}$$
(33)

which is consistent with the treatment developed in [10-14].

6. Future developments

The ideas presented in this work strongly support the conjecture that the nonlinear dynamics view of the critical RG flow and the topological approach of ε^{∞} share a common foundation. Bringing into the picture fractional dynamics may lead to a possible expansion of this conjecture. As shown in [18], the description of complex dynamics in the TeV regime of field theory warrants the transition from ordinary calculus on smooth manifolds to fractional differentiation and integration. This transition has important implications regarding phenomena that are anticipated beyond the energy range of SM. In particular, it is argued in [18] that:

- (a) fractional dynamics in Minkowski space-time is equivalent to field theory in curved space-time. This result points out to a natural integration of gravity in the far ultraviolet region of standard field theory;
- (b) the $SU(3) \times SU(2) \times U(1)$ gauge group of SM is rooted in the concept of continuous dimension;
- (c) fractional dynamics is the underlying source of parity non-conservation in processes involving the SU(2) group. As such, fractional dynamics offers a plausible explanation for the inherent chirality of weak interactions.

7. Summary and conclusions

We have developed arguments suggesting that critical dynamics of the RG flow lies at the root of many unsettled questions surrounding SM. Specifically, it was argued that the generation structure of SM and its physical parameters stem from either one of the universal period doubling or golden-mean routes to chaos of the RG flow. Following this line of reasoning, one may establish a deep analogy between the dynamics of critical phenomena in continuous dimension and the complex topology of El Naschie's ε^{∞} model. A brief discussion on how using fractional dynamics may be able to expand our findings has been presented.

References

- See e.g.: Zinn-Justin J. Quantum field theory and critical phenomena. Oxford: Clarendon Press; Zinn-Justin J. Phys Rep 2001;344:159.
- [2] Stanley EH. Scaling, universality and renormalization: Three pillars of modern critical phenomena. Rev Mod Phys 1999;71(2):S358-66.
- [3] Fereydoon Family et al. editor. Scaling and disordered systems. International Workshop, World Scientific; 2002.
- [4] Ballhausen H, Berges J, Wetterich C. Critical phenomena in continuous dimension. http://arxiv:hep-th/0310213>.
- [5] Ballhausen H. Renormalization group flow equations and critical phenomena in continuous dimension and at finite temperature. Doctoral thesis, Faculty of Physics and Astronomy, Ruprecht-Karls-University Heidelberg.
- [6] Skarke H. Renormalization Group flow in a general gauge theory. http://arxiv:hep-th/9407086>.
- [7] Morozov A, Niemi AJ. Can renormalization group flow end in a big mess? http://arxiv:hep-th/0304178>.
- [8] Damgaard PH, Thorleifsson G. Chaotic renormalization-group trajectories. Phys Rev A 1991;44:2378-741.
- [9] See e.g.: Ryder LH. Quantum field theory. Cambridge University Press; 1996.
- [10] El Naschie MS. The VAK of vacuum fluctuation, spontaneous self-organization and complexity interpretation of high-energy particle physics and the mass spectrum. Chaos, Solitons & Fractals 2003;18:401–20.
- [11] El Naschie MS. Elementary prerequisites for E-infinity. Chaos, Solitons & Fractals 2006;30:579-605.
- [12] El Naschie MS. A review of E-infinity theory and the mass spectrum of high-energy particle physics. Chaos, Solitons & Fractals 2004;19:209–36.
- [13] El Naschie MS. On the universality class of all universality classes and E-infinity space-time physics. Chaos, Solitons & Fractals 2007;32(3):927–36.
- [14] El Naschie MS. Feigenbaum scenario for turbulence and Cantorian E-infinity theory of high-energy particle physics. Chaos, Solitons & Fractals 2007;32(3):911–5.
- [15] See e.g.: Particle Data Group. http://pdg.lbl.gov/2005/reviews/quarks_q000.pdf.
- [16] Goldfain E. Derivation of lepton masses from the chaotic regime of the linear σ -model. Chaos, Solitons & Fractals 2002;14: 1331–40.
- [17] Goldfain E. Feigenbaum scaling, Cantorian space-time and the hierarchical structure of standard model parameters. Chaos, Solitons & Fractals 2006;30:324–31.
- [18] Goldfain E. Fractional dynamics and the TeV regime of field theory. doi:10.1016/j.cnsns.2006.06.001.
- [19] Kuznetsov AP et al. Dynamical systems of different classes as models of the kicked nonlinear oscillator. Intl J Bifur Chaos 2001;11(4):1065–77.
- [20] Lai YC et al. Noise-induced unstable dimension variability and transition to chaos in random dynamical systems. Phys Rev E 2003;67:026210.
- [21] Pirogov YF, Zenin OV. Two-loop Renormalization Group restrictions on the Standard Model and the fourth chiral family. Eur Phys J C 1999;10(4):629–38.
- [22] Briggs K. Corrections to universal scaling in real maps. Phys Lett A 1994;191:1–2. 108–12.
- [23] Briggs K, Alvarez G. Scaling in a map of the two-torus. Exp Math 2000;9:301-7.
- [24] McCauley JL. Chaos, dynamics and fractals; an algorithmic approach to deterministic chaos. Cambridge University Press; 1993.
- [25] Magnitskii NA, Sidorov SV. New methods for chaotic dynamics. World Scientific series on nonlinear science, Series A, vol. 58. 2007.

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect





journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/cnsns

Fractional dynamics and collider phenomenology

Ervin Goldfain*

Photonics CoE, Welch Allyn Inc., 4619 Jordan Road, POB 187, Skaneateles Falls, NY 13153-0187, United States

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 8 April 2008 Accepted 29 July 2008 Available online 7 August 2008

PACS: 12.60.—i 11.10.Ef 11.10.Hi

Keywords: Models beyond the standard model Fractional dynamics Renormalization Group flow

1. Introduction

Quantum Field Theory (QFT) is a framework whose methods and ideas have found successful applications in many domains, from particle physics and condensed matter to cosmology, statistical physics and critical phenomena [1,2]. As a fundamental synthesis of quantum mechanics and special relativity, QFT forms the foundation for SM, a body of knowledge that describes the behavior of all known particles and their interactions except gravity. Feynman diagrams are well-established tools for computing transition amplitudes in QFT [1,2]. As particle physics enters the era of high-energy experiments at the Large Hadron Collider (LHC) and International Linear Collider (ILC), one is compelled to ask the following question: How reliable is the apparatus of perturbation theory in the Terascale sector of field theory? To answer this question, it is important to properly define the domain of validity for the path integral (PI) formalism of QFT and the technique of Feynman diagrams. In particular,

- (a) The PI formalism is often used in conjunction with so-called "effective field theories" (EFT). EFT are based on the explicit hypothesis that microscopic fields (quantum corrections contributed by heavy excitations) can be coarse-grained and absorbed into a re-definition of the coupling coefficients defining the Lagrangian [3]. This conjecture assumes that microscopic fields are stable and can be effectively shielded from interfering with macroscopic fields. However, overlap continues to exist in the so-called crossover region where fluctuations cannot be fully suppressed [4].
- (b) Quantum processes maintain coherence. This ansatz fails in the presence of fast fluctuations that rapidly decohere the system and drive the transition from "quantum" to the "classical" behavior [5].
- (c) Evolution is assumed to be unitary, regular, Markovian and described by analytic functions. According to [6], Hamiltonian systems are carriers of chaos. The phase space of an arbitrary Hamiltonian system contains regions where

ABSTRACT

Both theory and experiments strongly suggest that new phenomena await discovery above the energy range of the standard model for particle physics (SM). In this brief report we argue that a correct description of physics in the TeV energy region needs to account for the inherent randomness induced by short-distance fluctuations. The existence of "unparticles", alleged to emerge at the next-generation colliders, is motivated by a dynamic setting that is out-of-equilibrium and able to sustain a rich spectrum of complex phenomena. © 2008 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.



^{*} Tel.: +1 315 469 0178. *E-mail address:* ervingoldfain@gmail.com

^{1007-5704/\$ -} see front matter \odot 2008 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.cnsns.2008.07.017

motion occurs with a mixing of trajectories. In this instance, the hypothesis of regular evolution and "smooth" trajectories breaks down.

(d) Compliance with special relativity demands that particle processes are strictly local. But the "locality" ansatz is bound to fail near second order phase transitions following the manifest loss of scale associated with critical phenomena. Critical behavior involves cooperative phenomena that evolve on vastly different length scales *while still remaining compliant with relativity*. In this instance, the concept of "locality" cannot be separated from the concept of observation scale: self-similarity enables one to map a non-local process into a local one by an appropriate scale transformation.

It is our view that all these arguments call for a paradigm shift in how field theory is approached beyond SM. A natural question is then: What is the best way to initiate this change of perspective? Owing it to the significant progress in this field, we believe that a promising avenue is the *complex dynamics of non-linear systems*. Pattern formation and self-organized criticality are typical examples of phenomena that display complex behavior [7,8]. Recent years have taught us that complex phenomena seem to show "universality" across vastly different energy regions. Collective behavior is prone to develop in *non-linear systems* that are *open* to environmental or internal fluctuations. Since QFT is essentially based on non-linear gauge models and its short-distance regime describes phenomena that unfold under large perturbations in momentum, it is reasonable to assume that complexity will play a key role in explaining upcoming experiments at LHC, ILC and next-generation accelerators [8–10]. By the same token, analytic tools offered by stochastic dynamics and non-equilibrium statistical physics will most likely be of great utility to this undertaking [22,23].

Recently, the possibility of a scale-invariant hidden sector of particle physics extending beyond SM has attracted a lot of attention [11–15]. A strange consequence of this hypothesis is the emergence of a continuous spectrum of massless fields having non-integral scaling dimensions called "unparticles". Drawing from arguments pertaining to the behavior of Renormalization Group in the presence of random fluctuations [16–18], we suggest herein that the would-be "unparticles" arise due to a dynamic setting that is manifestly stochastic and out-of-equilibrium. It is also suggested that this picture enables a natural explanation for breaking of space-time symmetries in weak interactions. The violation of space-time symmetries has recently been identified as a promising candidate signal for physics beyond SM [19].

We caution that our study has an introductory nature. As such, it does not claim to be fully rigorous or comprehensive. Independent research work is needed to confirm, expand or refute these preliminary findings.

2. Effective field theory and Terascale physics

Following [11,12], we begin with the hypothesis that there is a hidden sector lying beyond SM whose existence is likely to be uncovered at LHC, ILC or future accelerators. To streamline the derivation, we use the EFT prescription [3] and model this sector using a single light field operator $O(\mu)$ in interaction with a single heavy state that emerges in the deep UV region $(\Lambda \gg \Lambda_{SM})$. Here, $\Lambda_{SM} = O(G_F^{-1/2}) \approx 300$ GeV stands for the uppermost bound of SM corresponding to the weak interaction scale. The EFT is then defined by the Lagrangian

$$L_{\rm EFT}(\mu) = c(\mu, \Lambda) O(\mu) = \frac{c_0(\mu)}{\Lambda^{d_0 - 4}} O(\mu)$$
(1)

Here, μ is the sliding scale and d_0 the mass dimension of operator $O(\mu)$

$$O(\mu)] = \mu^{d_0} \tag{2}$$

Lagrangian (1) contains only the light field operator and the effect of the heavy field is encoded in the coupling constant $c(\mu, \Lambda)$. Our aim is to study the behavior of the theory near its infrared fixed point $\mu_{IR} \approx \Lambda_{SM}$.

According to [16], the light field operator acts as a random object in momentum space. Without any loss of generality, let us define the coarse-grained operator

$$O_{\rm R}(\mu) = \frac{1}{K} \int O(\eta) W(\mu - \eta) d\eta \tag{3}$$

in which μ stands for the sliding scale and *K* is normalization constant. The kernel function $W(\mu)$ is linearly related to the coarse-grained probability density of locating a specific value in momentum space $p(O(\mu), c_0(\mu_0))$. It can be shown that the asymptotic form of the coarse-grained probability density near the IR point is given by [16]

$$\lim_{\mu \to \Lambda_{\rm SM}} O(\mu), c_0(\mu_0)] \approx \mu^{-\delta} F \left[\frac{O(\mu_0)}{\mu_0^{d_0}} \left(\frac{\mu}{\mu_0} \right)^{-\delta}; c_0^* \right]$$
(4)

where

$$\delta = d_0 + \frac{1}{2}\gamma(c_0^*) \tag{5}$$

Here, the theory is assumed to be massless for simplicity, c_0^* is a fixed point of $c_0(\mu)$, μ_0 denotes an arbitrary reference scale and $\gamma(\dots)$ represents the so-called anomalous dimension. This universal result indicates that the large scale asymptotic form

of the coarse-grained probability density represents a non-trivial power of the sliding scale times a certain dimensionless function $F[\cdots]$. Replacing in (3) yields

$$\lim_{\mu \to \Lambda_{\rm SM}} O_{\rm R}(\mu) \propto \int O(\eta) (\mu - \eta)^{-\delta} F\left[\frac{O(\mu_0)}{\mu_0^{d_0}} \left(\frac{\mu - \eta}{\mu_0}\right)^{-\delta}\right] \mathrm{d}\eta \tag{6}$$

Since there is no restriction regarding the choice of μ_0 , it is convenient to assume

$$|\mu - \eta| \ll \mu_0 \tag{7}$$

On account of (7), a reasonable approximation of (6) can be presented as

$$\lim_{\mu \to A_{\rm SM}} O_{\rm R}(\mu) \propto \int (\mu - \eta)^{-\delta} \frac{\partial \Omega_1}{\partial \eta} d\eta + \int (\mu - \eta)^{1-\delta} \frac{\partial \Omega_2}{\partial \eta} d\eta$$
(8)

where

$$O(\eta) \doteq \frac{\partial \Omega_1(\eta)}{\partial \eta} \\ O(\eta) \frac{\partial F(\eta)}{\partial \eta} \Big|_{\mu=\eta} \doteq \frac{\partial \Omega_2(\eta)}{\partial \eta}$$
(9)

The next section makes connection to fractional differential operators, fractional dynamics and their relevance to (8).

3. Fractional dynamics: a brief overview

As pointed out in the Introduction, a key assumption of EFT is that microscopic fields are stable and can be completely decoupled from macroscopic fields. Probing matter in the near or deep Terascale sector will likely violate this assumption. In the so-called crossover region, the unavoidable action of un-damped quantum corrections creates a mixing of microscopic and macroscopic fields [4,9]. As a result, instabilities can develop on long time-scales and the macroscopic description of phenomena in terms of conventional differential operators breaks down. This is, in essence, the main argument for using fractional operators in the far TeV region of field theory, for the passage from ordinary to fractional dynamics and non-extensive statistical physics [27,28]. The framework of fractional dynamics offers a reliable tool for the study of far-from equilibrium processes that display scale-invariant properties, dissipation and long-range correlations. It plays nowadays an increasingly important role in many branches of engineering, science and applied mathematics [21,24,26,27] and included references].

Returning to (8) and using the explicit expression of differential operator from fractional calculus, we arrive at

$$\lim_{\mu \to \Lambda_{\rm SM}} O_{\rm R}(\mu) \propto D_{\rm C}^{\delta} \Omega_1(\mu) + D_{\rm C}^{\delta-1} \Omega_2(\mu) \tag{10}$$

where the Caputo derivative of order α is defined by [20,25]

$$D_{\rm C}^{\alpha}f(x) \doteq \frac{1}{\Gamma(1-\alpha)} \int (x-\tau)^{-\alpha} \left(\frac{{\rm d}f(\tau)}{{\rm d}\tau}\right) {\rm d}\tau \tag{11}$$

This result confirms that, *near and above* the weak interaction scale Λ_{SM} , conventional differential operators need to be replaced by fractional operators. Our finding is consistent with [16], where it is argued that Renormalization Group in the presence of random fluctuations and interactions describes fractional Brownian motion and complex behavior. We also direct the reader to [9], in which a similar motivation is articulated in greater detail.

4. On the domain of validity of fractional dynamics

One important remark is now in order. It is known that the requirement of unitary evolution represents a fundamental postulate of both quantum mechanics and QFT.Quantum physics describes equilibrium dynamical processes which are unaffected by unitary transformations. The corresponding operators are known to preserve transition probabilities among various states and satisfy a *group property* [1,2].

The weak interaction scale Λ_{SM} is the highest energy threshold probed with the current accelerator technology. There are grounds to suspect that unitary evolution postulated by QFT no longer holds *near or above* Λ_{SM} . Here, quantum processes are expected to evolve in a highly unstable, "noisy" environment and are prone to migrate outside equilibrium [9,10,21,24]. As previously pointed out, it is believed that a correct account of this dynamic regime requires use of fractional operators and fractional dynamics. It is important to understand that, since fractional operators are non-unitary and obey only a semi-group property [25], they *cannot describe the physics of* SM which, by definition, unfolds below Λ_{SM} .

5. Concluding remarks

There are two important consequences that can be drawn from our model:

- (1) We have suggested in [9] that the onset of fractional dynamics leads to the emergence of non-integer numbers of particles and antiparticles. The approach developed here reinforces this conclusion: unusual states of matter, if they exist, are directly related to complex dynamics induced by Terascale fluctuations. This is in contrast to [11,12] where "unparticles" emerge from the action of a hidden sector of particle physics that lies beyond SM.
- (2) Fractional operators defined on space-time have a built-in asymmetry to the inversion of coordinates. This property enables a natural explanation for breaking of parity and time symmetries in weak interactions [21,24]. The origin of these two symmetry violations is currently an unsettled issue of SM [29].

References

- [1] Weinberg S. The quantum theory of fields: volume 1: foundations. London: Cambridge University Press; 1995.
- [2] Zinn-Justin J. Quantum field theory and critical phenomena. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 2002.
- [3] Pich A. Effective field theory. hep-ph/9806303; Kaplan DB. Effective field theories. Lectures at the seventh summer school in nuclear physics: symmetries. Seattle; 1995. nucl-th/9506035.
- [4] Luijten E et al. Phys Rev E 1996;54(5):4626.
- [5] See e.g., Quantum Decoherence. In: Duplantier B et al. editors. Progress in mathematical physics 48. Birkhäuser; 2005. ISBN: 978-3-7643-7807-3.
- [6] Zaslavsky GM. Hamiltonian chaos and fractional dynamics. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 2005.
- [7] Christensen K, Moloney NR. Complexity and criticality. London: Imperial College Press; 2005.
- [8] Goldfain E. Europhys Lett 2008;82:11001.
- [9] Goldfain E. Chaos Soliton Fract 2006;28:913.
- [10] Goldfain E. Int J Nonlinear Sci Numer Simul 2005;6(3):223.
- [11] Georgi H. Phys Rev Lett 2007;98:221601.
- [12] Georgi H. Phys Lett B 2007;650:275.
- [13] Cheung K et al. Phys Rev D 2007;76:055003.
- [14] Bander M et al. Phys Rev D 2007;76:115002.
- [15] Zwicky R. Phys Rev D 2008;77:036004.
- [16] Hochberg D, Peres Mercader J. Phys Lett A 2002;296:272.
- [17] Goldfain E. Chaos Soliton Fract 2004;19(5):1023.
- [18] Goldfain E. Int J Nonlinear Sci 2007;3(3):170.
- [19] See e.g., Bigi II. hep-ph/0710.2714.
- [20] Podlubny I. Fractional differential equations. Academic Press; 1999.
- [21] Goldfain E. Commun Nonlinear Sci Numer Simul 2008;13:666.
- [22] Zanella J, Calzetta E. Phys Rev E 2002;66(3):036134.
- [23] Compte A. Phys Rev E 1996;53:4191.
- [24] Goldfain E. Commun Nonlinear Sci Numer Simul 2008;13:1397.
- [25] Samko SG, et al. Fractional integrals and derivatives: theory and applications. New York: Gordon and Breach; 1998.
- [26] Kilbas AA et al. J Phys A 2004;37(9):3271.
- [27] West BJ et al. Physics of fractal operators. Springer; 2002.
- [28] Kohyama H, Niegawa A. Prog Theor Phys 2006;115:73.
- [29] See e.g., Donoghue JF, et al., Dynamics of the standard model. Cambridge University Press; 1994. ISBN 978-0521476522.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Communications in Nonlinear Science and Numerical Simulation

Communications in Nonlinear Science and Numerical Simulation 13 (2008) 1397-1404

www.elsevier.com/locate/cnsns

Fractional dynamics and the Standard Model for particle physics

Ervin Goldfain *

Photonics Center of Excellence, Welch Allyn Inc., 4619 Jordan Road, P.O. Box 187, OptiSolve Consulting, 4422 Cleveland Road, Syracuse, NY 13215, USA

Received 2 November 2006; received in revised form 20 December 2006; accepted 21 December 2006 Available online 19 January 2007

Abstract

Fractional dynamics is an attractive framework for understanding the complex phenomena that are likely to emerge beyond the energy range of the Standard Model for particle physics (SM). Using fractional dynamics and complex-scalar field theory as a baseline, our work explores how physics on the high-energy scale may help solve some of the open questions surrounding SM. Predictions are shown to be consistent with experimental results. © 2007 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

PACS: 11.10.Hi; 11.10.Ef; 12.60.-i; 12.90.+b

Keywords: Renormalization Group flow; Fractional dynamics; Feigenbaum scaling; Standard model

1. Introduction and motivation

As of 2006, predictions derived from the Standard Model of elementary particles (SM) - a body of knowledge discovered in the early 1970s – agrees with all the experiments that have been conducted to date. Nevertheless, the majority of particle theorists feel that SM is not a complete framework, but rather an "effective field theory" that needs to be extended by new physics at some higher energy scale reaching in the TeV region. The most cited reasons for this belief are: (a) the recent discovery of neutrino oscillations and masses; (b) SM does not include the contribution of gravity and gravitational corrections to both quantum field theory and renormalization group (RG) equations; (c) SM does not fix the large number of free parameters that enter the theory (in particular the spectra of masses, gauge couplings and fermion mixing angles); (d) SM has a gauge hierarchy problem, which requires fine-tuning; (e) SM postulates that the origin of electroweak symmetry breaking is the Higgs mechanism, whose confirmation is sought in future accelerator experiments. The number and physical attributes of the Higgs boson are neither explained by SM nor fixed from first principles, (f) SM does not clarify the origin of its underlying $SU(3) \times SU(2) \times U(1)$ gauge group and why quarks and leptons occur in certain representations of this group, (g) SM does not explain why the weak interactions

^{*} Corresponding author. Tel.: +1 315 469 0178.

E-mail address: ervingoldfain@hotmail.com

^{1007-5704/\$ -} see front matter @ 2007 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.cnsns.2006.12.007

are chiral, that is, why only fermions with one handedness experience the force transmitted by the triplet of massive vector bosons W^+ , W^- , Z^0 .

Despite years of research on multiple fronts, there is currently no compelling and universally accepted resolution to the above-mentioned challenges. A large body of proposed extensions of SM exists, each of them attempting to resolve some unsatisfactory aspects of the theory while introducing new unknowns. Expanding on a series of recent contributions centered on RG, non-linear dynamics, chaos and fractal geometry [3,4,6–10,12-14,17-19], our work explores how the physics on the TeV regime may shed light onto some of the open questions surrounding SM.

The paper is organized as follows: Section 2 surveys the motivation for fractional dynamics in the far ultraviolet region of field theory. The principle of local scale invariance is briefly introduced in Section 4. Fractional dynamics of a "toy" model based on complex scalar fields is analyzed in Section 5. Sections 6–8 discuss how critical behavior in continuous dimension acts as source of massive field theories and makes connection to SM data. Concluding remarks are presented in the last section. We emphasize from the outset the introductory nature of our work. As such, its content is not aimed to be either entirely rigorous or formally complete. Independent research efforts are required to confirm, develop or disprove these preliminary results.

2. Fractional dynamics and the far ultraviolet region of field theory

It is generally believed that quantum field theory breaks down near the so-called Cohen–Kaplan threshold of ~ 100 TeV as a result of exposure to large vacuum fluctuations and strong-gravitational effects. No convenient redefinition of observables is capable of turning off the dynamic contribution of these effects. For instance, it is known that the zero-point vacuum energy diverges quadratically in the presence of gravitation. Quantum field theory in Euclidean space-time discards the zero-point vacuum energy through the use of a normal time ordering procedure [5,20]. Because vacuum energy is gravitating and couples to all other field energies present at the quantum level, cancellation of the zero-point term is no longer possible when gravitational effects are significant. Likewise, this strong coupling regime of the far ultraviolet region suggests that even asymptotically free theories such as QCD reverse their properties in response to arbitrarily large non-perturbative effects. In fact, complex dynamics of quark-gluon plasma is expected to arise near the so-called transition temperature [16].

The non-linearity of the underlying field theory combined with the far-from-equilibrium dynamics induced by highly unstable vacuum fluctuations are prone to lead to self-organized criticality [6]. Because dynamical instabilities can develop on long time-scales, the macroscopic description of phenomena in terms of conventional differential operators breaks down. This is, in essence, the main argument for using fractal operators in the far TeV region of field theory and for the passage from ordinary to fractional dynamics [14,18,19,21]. Since application of fractals in contemporary physics has become far ranging, the interest in fractional dynamics has grown at a steady pace in the last decade. There is now a broad range of applications of fractional dynamics in research areas where fractal attributes of underlying processes and the onset of long-range correlations demand the use of fractional calculus. These areas include, but are not limited to, wave propagation in complex and porous media, models of systems with chaotic and pseudo-chaotic dynamics, random walks with memory, colored noise and pattern formation, anomalous transport and Levy flights, studies of scaling phenomena and critical behavior, plasma physics, turbulence, quantum field theory, far-from-equilibrium statistical models, complex dynamics of data networks and so on (for a brief review of current applications, see [21–26]).

3. Conventions and assumptions

- (a) Einstein summation convention is applied throughout.
- (b) The Poincare index is denoted by $\mu = 0, 1, 2, 3$.
- (c) We study a basic "toy" model containing a single pair of massive complex-scalar fields $\varphi(x)$, $\varphi^*(x)$.
- (d) The analysis is carried out exclusively at the classical level. Suppression of quantum attributes and transition to classical behavior is the result of decoherence induced by steady exposure to large random fluctuations [27,28].

(e) Following [22–26] we use in our work the left Caputo fractional derivative defined as

$$D^{\alpha}\varphi(x) \doteq \frac{1}{\Gamma(n-\alpha)} \int_0^x \frac{\varphi^{(n)}(s)}{(x-s)^{\alpha+1-n}} \mathrm{d}s \tag{1}$$

where $n - 1 < \alpha < n$ and $\varphi^{(n)}(s) \doteq d^n \varphi(s)/ds^n$. We note that, in addition to using (1), many studies based on fractional calculus often start from alternative operators such as Riemann–Liouville and Grunwald– Letnikov derivatives and integrals (see [30–33] for details).

- (f) Space-time variables and fields are suitably normalized as dimensionless observables.
- (g) Assuming that the field dynamics has low-level fractionality, we use the so-called ε -expansion to perform the transition from first order to Caputo derivatives of order $\alpha \doteq 1 \varepsilon$ according to the prescription [22]

$$D^{1-\varepsilon}\varphi(x) = \partial\varphi(x) + \varepsilon D_1\varphi(x)$$

$$D_1\varphi(x) \doteq \partial\varphi(0)\ln|x| + \gamma\partial\varphi(x) + \int_0^x \partial^2\varphi(s)\ln|x-s|ds$$
(2)

4. Local scale invariance at the onset of fractional dynamics

The novel symmetry principle that underlies the onset of fractional dynamics in the TeV region is the *local* scale invariance of the theory [17]. There is a two-fold rationale for the onset of this symmetry, namely,

- (a) Field dynamics is *scale-invariant*. This is equivalent to stating that, in dimensional regularization scheme, the outcome of the regularization procedure does not depend on the particular choice of $\varepsilon = 4 d$ [20].
- (b) By analogy with the definition of the Lipschitz–Hölder exponent and to ensure compliance with relativity [14,17], we take the continuous dimension parameter ε to denote a *locally* defined function of space-time coordinates, $\varepsilon(x)$. In addition, we assume that $\varepsilon(x)$ may be expressed either as a *contravariant* $\varepsilon^i(x)$ or a *covariant* $\varepsilon_i(x)$ four-vector. This motivates us to formally extend (2) to

$$D^{1-\varepsilon_{\mu}(x)}\varphi(x) = \partial^{\mu}\varphi(x) + \varepsilon^{\mu}(x)D_{1}^{\mu}\varphi(x)$$

$$D_{1}^{\mu}\varphi(x) \doteq \partial^{\mu}\varphi(0)\ln|x| + \gamma\partial^{\mu}\varphi(x) + \int_{0}^{x} (\partial^{2})^{\mu}\varphi(s)\ln|x-s|ds$$

$$D_{1-\varepsilon_{\mu}(x)}\varphi(x) = \partial_{\mu}\varphi(x) + \varepsilon_{\mu}(x)D_{1,\mu}\varphi(x)$$

$$D_{1,\mu}\varphi(x) \doteq \partial_{\mu}\varphi(0)\ln|x| + \gamma\partial_{\mu}\varphi(x) + \int_{0}^{x} (\partial^{2})_{\mu}\varphi(s)\ln|x-s|ds$$
(3)

5. Fractional dynamics of the complex-scalar field

The goal of this section is to show that the principle of local scale invariance and the introduction of fractional dynamics lead to a mechanism of gauge boson-fermion unification that is fundamentally distinct from the mechanism advocated by supersymmetry.

The Lagrangian density of our model is

$$L \doteq \partial_{\mu} \varphi(x) \partial^{\mu} \varphi^{*}(x) - m^{2} \varphi^{*}(x) \varphi(x)$$
(4)

where *m* the mass of the field and *x* is a shorthand notation for (x^{μ}) or (x_{μ}) . Using the framework of Caputo derivatives and ε -expansion [22], one obtains

$$L \doteq D^{1-\varepsilon(x)}_{\mu}\varphi(x)D^{\mu,1-\varepsilon(x)}\varphi^*(x) - m^2\varphi^*(x)\varphi(x)$$
(5)

where the locally defined infinitesimal dimension $\varepsilon(x)$ satisfies the condition $\varepsilon(x) \cdot x \ll 1$. Our aim is to show that, in contrast with conventional field theory embodied in (4), use of Caputo derivatives guarantees invariance under local gauge transformations *without* the explicit need for gauge fields and covariant operators. To this end, let us perform the local phase change

E. Goldfain / Communications in Nonlinear Science and Numerical Simulation 13 (2008) 1397–1404

$$\varphi(x) \to e^{i\alpha(x)}\varphi(x)
\varphi^*(x) \to e^{-i\alpha(x)}\varphi^*(x)$$
(6)

Up to a first-order approximation, Caputo derivatives transform as [22]

$$D^{1-\varepsilon(x)}_{\mu}\varphi(x) \to D^{1-\varepsilon(x)}_{\mu}[e^{i\alpha(x)}\varphi(x)] = \partial_{\mu}[e^{i\alpha(x)}\varphi(x)] + \varepsilon(x)D^{1}_{1,\mu}[e^{i\alpha(x)}\varphi(x)]$$

$$D^{1-\varepsilon(x),\mu}\varphi^{*}(x) \to D^{1-\varepsilon(x),\mu}[e^{-i\alpha(x)}\varphi^{*}(x)] = \partial^{\mu}[e^{-i\alpha(x)}\varphi^{*}(x)] + \varepsilon(x)D^{1,\mu}_{1}[e^{-i\alpha(x)}\varphi^{*}(x)]$$
(7)

where

$$D_{1,\mu}^{1}(x) \doteq \ln |x| \partial_{\mu} [e^{i\alpha(0)} \varphi(0)] + \int_{0}^{x} \partial_{\mu}^{2} [e^{i\alpha(\lambda)} \varphi(\lambda)] \ln |x - \lambda| d\lambda + \gamma \partial_{\mu} [e^{i\alpha(x)} \varphi(x)]$$

$$D_{1}^{1,\mu}(x) \doteq \ln |x| \partial^{\mu} [e^{-i\alpha(0)} \varphi^{*}(0)] + \int_{0}^{x} \partial^{2,\mu} [e^{-i\alpha(\lambda)} \varphi^{*}(\lambda)] \ln |x - \lambda| d\lambda + \gamma \partial^{\mu} [e^{-i\alpha(x)} \varphi^{*}(x)]$$
(8)

in which γ stands for the Euler constant and

$$\partial_{\mu}[\mathbf{e}^{i\alpha(x)}\varphi(x)] = \mathbf{e}^{i\alpha(x)}[\partial_{\mu} + i\partial_{\mu}\alpha(x)]\varphi(x) \tag{9}$$

Local gauge invariance of (5) is preserved if Caputo derivatives transform covariantly, that is

$$D^{1-\varepsilon(x)}_{\mu}[e^{i\alpha(x)}\varphi(x)] = e^{i\alpha(x)}D^{1-\varepsilon(x)}_{\mu}\varphi(x)$$

$$D^{\mu,1-\varepsilon(x)}[e^{-i\alpha(x)}\varphi^{*}(x)] = e^{-i\alpha(x)}D^{\mu,1-\varepsilon(x)}\varphi^{*}(x)$$
(10)

On account of (7) and (10), we arrive at the following set of conditions:

$$ie^{i\alpha(x)}\varphi(x)\partial_{\mu}\alpha(x) = \varepsilon(x)\{D_{1\mu}^{1}[e^{i\alpha(x)}\varphi(x)] - e^{i\alpha(x)}D_{1\mu}^{1}\varphi(x)\}$$

$$(-i)e^{-i\alpha(x)}\varphi^{*}(x)\partial_{\mu}\alpha(x) = \varepsilon(x)\{D_{1}^{1,\mu}[e^{-i\alpha(x)}\varphi^{*}(x)] - e^{-i\alpha(x)}D_{1}^{1,\mu}\varphi^{*}(x)\}$$

$$(11)$$

The direct consequence of (11) is that gauge fields *are no longer required* in a field theory built on fractional dynamics. The compensating role of the vector bosons is played by the *continuous dimension parameter* $\varepsilon(x)$. This conclusion is consistent with previous studies [14,17,19] and points to a novel unification mechanism of gauge boson and fermion fields, including classical gravitation. This mechanism is fundamentally different from the unification scheme postulated by supersymmetry and related quantum field models [20].

6. Emergence of massive field theories

It is known that, allowing elementary particles to have non-zero masses in quantum field theory violates local gauge and weak isospin symmetries imposed on the standard model lagrangian. The mechanism of so-called spontaneous symmetry breaking (SSB) posits that the vacuum itself acquires a non-zero charge distribution that leaves the Lagrangian invariant and generates both fermion and vector boson masses [5,20]. In SM, massive fermions exist in both left-handed and right-handed states. The only Dirac field operators that yield a non-vanishing mass are bilinear products of fields having the form

$$m\psi\psi = m(\psi_{\rm R}\psi_{\rm L} + \psi_{\rm L}\psi_{\rm R}) \tag{12}$$

However, such mass terms mix right and left-handed spinors and are forbidden from the Lagrangian on account of violation of the weak isospin symmetry [5,20]. Stated differently, since ψ_L represents a SU(2) doublet and ψ_R a SU(2) singlet, the product of the two is not a singlet, as it ought to be in order to preserve the weak isospin symmetry. An immediate question that arises from the previous section is whether or not SSB still exists in a field theory based on fractional dynamics. Stated differently, can mass terms be introduced in the Lagrangian without violating local and weak isospin symmetries? To answer this question, we note that the first-order Caputo operator may be defined either from the "left" or from the "right" and, in general, the effect produced by $D^{1-\varepsilon(x)}$ is not identical with the effect produced by $D^{1+\varepsilon(x)}$. It follows that the proper description

1400

of fractional differentiation requires a *doublet* of Caputo operators $\begin{pmatrix} D^{1-\varepsilon_{L}(x)} \\ D^{1+\varepsilon_{R}(x)} \end{pmatrix}$ and a *doublet* of scalars $\begin{pmatrix} \varepsilon_{L}(x) \\ \varepsilon_{R}(x) \end{pmatrix}$ with $\varepsilon_{L,R}(x) \cdot x \ll 1$. Therefore, mass terms that correspond to Dirac bilinears assume the form: $\psi \to D^{-\varepsilon_{L}}\psi$ or $\psi \to D^{\varepsilon_{R}}\psi$ for singlets $(\psi_{1} \ \psi_{2}) \to \begin{pmatrix} D^{-\varepsilon_{L}} \\ D^{+\varepsilon_{R}} \end{pmatrix}(\psi_{1} \ \psi_{2})$ and $\begin{pmatrix} \psi_{1} \\ \psi_{2} \end{pmatrix} \to (D^{-\varepsilon_{L}} \ D^{+\varepsilon_{R}})\begin{pmatrix} \psi_{1} \\ \psi_{2} \end{pmatrix}$ for doublets (13)

It can be seen that these mass terms automatically preserve the weak isospin symmetry in a similar manner in which the Higgs scalar doublet works in the electroweak model [5,20,29].

7. Critical behavior in continuous dimension

The previous sections have shown that the concept of dimension takes on a key role in the far ultraviolet region of field theory. Here we elaborate on this conjecture by making connection to the philosophy of the renormalization group and critical behavior in continuous dimension [1,2]. To streamline the derivation, we refer in what follows to the original Lagrangian (4). Let us start by adding a potential term to (4), that is

$$L \doteq \partial_{\mu} \varphi(x) \partial^{\mu} \varphi^{*}(x) - m^{2} \varphi^{*}(x) \varphi(x) + \lambda^{2} [\varphi^{*}(x) \varphi(x)]^{2}$$

$$\tag{14}$$

Here $g = \lambda^2$ represents the self-interaction strength of the field. According to the renormalization group, the so-called beta-function defines how g "flows" with the sliding energy scale μ , that is

$$\beta(g) \doteq \frac{\mathrm{d}(g)}{\mathrm{d}t} \tag{15}$$

where

$$t \doteq \ln\left(\frac{\mu}{\mu_0}\right) \tag{16}$$

for an arbitrary reference scale μ_0 . In the basin of attraction of a critical point t_c the field correlation length scales as

$$\xi \approx \left| t - t_{\rm c} \right|^{\nu} \tag{17}$$

Here, critical exponent v is given by [1,2]

$$v^{-1} = -\frac{\partial \beta}{\partial(g)}\Big|_{g=g^*}$$
(18)

and g^* stands for a fixed point of the beta-function, $\beta(g^*) = 0$.

One can exploit the interchangeable roles played by the sliding scale t and the dimension parameter d(x) as follows. Assume that d_c represents the critical dimension for which g flows into the fixed point g^* . The mass of the complex-scalar field is known to be inversely proportional to the divergent correlation length and vanishes identically at the fixed point [1,2]

$$m[g^*(d_c), d_c] = 0 (19)$$

In the basin of attraction of g^* the field develops mass according to the power law

$$m[g^*(d_c), d(x) - d_c] \approx |d(x) - d_c|^{\nu(d_c)} = |\varepsilon(x)|^{\nu(d_c)}$$
(20)

where

$$v^{-1}(d_{\rm c}) = -\frac{\partial\beta}{\partial(g)}\Big|_{g^*(d_{\rm c})}$$
(21)

We are led to conclude that, as the fixed point is asymptotically approached and the continuous space-time dimensionality collapses to $d(x) \rightarrow d_c = 1, 2, 3, 4$, the complex-scalar field becomes massless, in agreement with

1402

conventional quantum field theory. Numerical analysis yields $v(d_c) = 0.5$ for $d_c = 1, 2, 3, 4$ which is found to match well the value reported in the literature [1,2].

An important observation is now in order. Following the universal properties of the RG flow near the onset of chaos in low-dimensional maps, the dimensional control parameter $\varepsilon(x) = |d_c - d(x)|$ is expected to asymptotically approach the critical value $\varepsilon_{\infty} = 0$ according to the geometric progression [15]:

$$\varepsilon_n(x) - \varepsilon_\infty \approx a_n(x) \cdot \delta^{-n}$$
(22)

in which $n \gg 1$ is the index defining the number of iteration steps, δ stands for a scaling constant that is representative for the class of dynamical maps under consideration and $a_n(x)$ is a coefficient which becomes asymptotically independent of n and x, that is, $a_{\infty} = a$. Substituting (22) in (20) produces to the mass scaling series

$$m_n[g^*(d_c), d_c - d_n(x)] \approx [a_n \delta^{-n}]^{1/2}$$
(23)

We may go a step further and state that, given the generic link between the coupling flow and the corresponding flows of masses and fields in RG [5,20,29], similar scaling pattern develops for g_n and the underlying fields of the theory, η_n . We thus expect to obtain, for $n \gg 1$

$$g_n - g^*(d_c) \approx \delta^{-\lambda(d_c)n} \eta_n - \eta^*(d_c) \approx \delta^{-\zeta(d_c)n}$$
(24)

where $\lambda(d_c)$ and $\zeta(d_c)$ represent two additional critical exponents dependent on d_c .

8. Universal scaling of fermion masses

Period-doubling bifurcations are defined by $n = 2^m$, with m > 1 [15]. Replacing in (23) yields the following mass series:

$$m_m(x) \approx \sqrt{a_{2^m}(x)} \cdot \delta^{-2^{m-1}} \tag{25}$$

where $\delta = 4.669...$ represents the Feigenbaum constant for the onset of chaos in quadratic maps. The ratio of two arbitrary masses is therefore

$$\frac{m_l(x)}{m_m(x)} \approx \sqrt{\frac{a_{2'}(x)}{a_{2^m}(x)}} \cdot \frac{\delta^{-2^{l-1}}}{\delta^{-2^{m-1}}}$$
(26)

where $\lim_{a_m} \frac{a_l}{a_m} = 1$ as $l, m \to \infty$. Thus, for two sufficiently distant consecutive terms in the mass series, the dependence of $a_n(x)$ on the space-time variable may be suppressed and we obtain

$$\frac{m_l}{m_{l+1}} \approx \sqrt{\frac{a_{2^l}}{a_{2^{l+1}}}} \cdot \delta^{2^{l-1}} = \sqrt{a_{2^l,2^{l+1}}} \cdot \delta^{2^{l-1}}$$
(27)

It is important to emphasize that (27) provides only a *first-order approximation* considering that (a) (27) is less accurate if the iteration index is not large enough, that is, if $l \approx O(1)$, (b) there is a fair amount of uncertainty involved in determining the quark mass spectrum [11]. Numerical results derived from (27) are displayed in Table 1. This table contains a side-by-side comparison of estimated versus actual mass ratios for charged leptons and quarks and a similar comparison of gauge coupling ratios. All masses and couplings are evaluated at the energy scale given by the top quark mass. Quark masses are averaged using the most recent reports issued by the Particle Data Group [11]. Specifically, $m_u = 2.12 \text{ MeV}$; $m_d = 4.22 \text{ MeV}$; $m_s = 80.9 \text{ MeV}$; $m_c = 630 \text{ MeV}$; $m_b = 2847 \text{ MeV}$; $m_t = 170,800 \text{ MeV}$.

The scaling sequence of charged leptons and quarks may be graphically summarized with the help of the following diagrams:

Table 1Fermion masses and coupling ratios

Scaling ratio	2^{l-1}	Experimental value	Estimated value
m_{μ}/m_{c}	4	3.365×10^{-3}	2.104×10^{-3}
m_c/m_t	4	3.689×10^{-3}	2.104×10^{-3}
m_d/m_s	2	0.052	0.046
m_s/m_b	2	0.028	0.046
m_e/m_μ	4	4.745×10^{-3}	2.104×10^{-3}
m_{μ}/m_{τ}	2	0.061	0.046
$(\alpha_{\rm EM}/\alpha_W)^2$	2	0.045	0.046
$(\alpha_{\rm EM}/\alpha_s)^2$	4	2.368×10^{-3}	2.104×10^{-3}

$\frac{\delta^2}{d s}$	$\begin{bmatrix} \delta^2 \\ s & b \end{bmatrix}$
$\begin{bmatrix} \delta^4 \\ u & c \end{bmatrix}$	$\frac{\delta^4}{c t}$
e^{δ^4}	$\overline{\mu}^{\delta^2}$ $ au$
$\delta^2 \overline{\alpha_{_{EM}}^2 \alpha_{_W}^2}$	$\delta^2 = \alpha_w^2 - \alpha_s^2$

Based on the above scheme, one may infer that neutrinos masses are arranged according to the possible pattern:

It is also instructive to note that quarks and charged leptons follow a different period doubling path. To this end, let us organize the charged lepton and quark masses in a collection of triplets, that is

$$m_{l} \doteq [m_{e} \quad m_{\mu} \quad m_{\tau}], \quad m_{q} \doteq \begin{bmatrix} m_{u} & m_{d} \\ m_{c} & m_{s} \\ m_{t} & m_{b} \end{bmatrix}$$
(28)

It can be seen that the mass scaling for adjacent quarks stays constant within either one of the triplets (u, c, t) or (d, s, b), whereas the mass scaling for charged leptons varies as a geometric series in δ^2 within the triplet (e, μ, τ) . This finding points out toward a symmetry breaking mechanism that segregates lepton and quark phases in the process of cooling from the far ultraviolet region of field theory to the low-energy region of SM.

9. Concluding remarks

We have argued that fractional dynamics represents an analytic framework suitable for the description of physical phenomena that are likely to arise in the TeV realm of particle physics. Unlike conventional quantum field theory, fractional dynamics describes far-from-equilibrium statistical processes that give rise to manifest scale invariance, non-local correlations and extensive symmetry breaking. Using fractional dynamics and the benchmark example of complex-scalar field theory, we have explored the potential spectrum of phenomena that may to emerge beyond the energy range of SM. Based on this framework, we have shown that, near the asymptotic boundary of field theory, (a) gauge bosons and fermions become unified through a

fundamentally different mechanism than the one advocated by supersymmetry; (b) SSB and the emergence of massive field theories occur as a result of critical behavior in continuous dimension; (c) particles develop a family structure that is tied to the universal transition to chaos in unimodal maps. First-order predictions were found to match reasonably well current experimental data. However, as pointed out in Section 1, our goal is not to formulate a comprehensive solution to the host of open challenges surrounding SM. Concurrent research efforts are needed to confirm or falsify these preliminary findings. In particular, the long-awaited operation of the Large Hadron Collider and similar high-energy accelerator sites should soon produce experimental evidence that backs or disproves our model.

References

- [1] Ballhausen H, Berges J, Wetterich C. Critical behavior in continuous dimension. Phys Lett B 2004;582:144-50.
- [2] Ballhausen H. Renormalization group flow equations and critical phenomena in continuous dimension and at finite temperature, Doctoral Thesis, Faculty of Physics and Astronomy, Ruprecht-Karls-University Heidelberg.
- [3] Morozov A, Niemi AJ. Can renormalization group flow end in a big mess? Nucl Phys B 2003;666:311-36.
- [4] Damgaard PH, Thorleifsson G. Chaotic renormalization-group trajectories. Phys Rev A 1991;44:2378-741.
- [5] See e.g. Ryder LH. Quantum field theory. Cambridge University Press; 1996.
- [6] El Naschie MS. The VAK of vacuum fluctuation, spontaneous self-organization and complexity interpretation of high-energy particle physics and the mass spectrum. Chaos Soliton Fract 2003;18:401–20.
- [7] El Naschie MS. Elementary prerequisites for E-infinity. Chaos Soliton Fract 2006;30:579-605.
- [8] El Naschie MS. A review of *E*-infinity theory and the mass spectrum of high-energy particle physics. Chaos Soliton Fract 2004;19:209–36.
- [9] El Naschie MS. On the universality class of all universality classes and *E*-infinity space-time physics. Chaos Soliton Fract 2006. doi:10.1016/j.chaos.2006.08.017.
- [10] El Naschie MS. Feigenbaum scenario for turbulence and Cantorian E-infinity theory of high-energy particle physics. Chaos Soliton Fract 2006. doi:10.1016/j.chaos.2006.08.014.
- [11] Particle Data Group. http://pdg.lbl.gov/2005/reviews/quarks_q000.pdf>.
- [12] Goldfain E. Derivation of lepton masses from the chaotic regime of the linear σ -model. Chaos Soliton Fract 2002;14:1331–40.
- [13] Goldfain E. Feigenbaum scaling, Cantorian space-time and the hierarchical structure of standard model parameters. Chaos Soliton Fract 2006;30:324–31.
- [14] Goldfain E. Fractional dynamics and the TeV regime of field theory. doi:10.1016/j.cnsns.2006.06.001.
- [15] McCauley JL. Chaos, dynamics and fractals. An algorithmic approach to deterministic chaos. Cambridge Univ. Press; 1993.
- [16] Cheng M et al. Transition temperature in QCD. Phys Rev D 2006;74:054507.
- [17] Goldfain E. Local scale invariance, cantorian space-time and unified field theory. Chaos Soliton Fract 2005;23:701-10.
- [18] Goldfain E. Complexity in quantum field theory and physics beyond the standard model. Chaos Soliton Fract 2006;28:913–22.
- [19] Goldfain E. Complex dynamics and the high-energy regime of quantum field theory. Int J Nonlinear Sci Numer Simul 2005;6(3):223-34.
- [20] Kaku M. Quantum field theory, a modern introduction. Oxford University Press; 1993.
- [21] West BJ, Bologna M, Grigolini P. Physics of fractal operators. Springer; 2003.
- [22] Tarasov VE, Zaslavsky GM. Dynamics with low-level fractionality. http://arxiv:physics/0511138>.
- [23] Tarasov VE. Fractional generalization of gradient and Hamiltonian systems. J Phys A 2005;38(26):5929-43.
- [24] Tarasov VE, Zaslavsky GM. Fractional dynamics of coupled oscillators with long-range interaction. http://arxiv:nlin.PS/0512013>.
- [25] Laskin N, Zaslavsky GM. Nonlinear fractional dynamics on a lattice with long range interactions. http://arxiv:nlin.SI/0512010>.
- [26] Tarasov VE, Zaslavsky GM. Fractional Ginzburg-Landau equation for fractal media. http://arxiv:physics/0511144>.
- [27] E Joos et al. Decoherence and the appearance of a classical world in quantum theory. 2nd ed. Springer; 2003.
- [28] Schlosshauer M. Decoherence, the measurement problem, and interpretations of quantum mechanics. Rev Mod Phys 2004;76:1267–305.
- [29] Donoghue JF et al. Dynamics of the standard model. Cambridge University Press; 1994.
- [30] Samko SG et al. Fractional integrals and derivatives; theory and applications. New York: Gordon and Breach; 1993.
- [31] Oldham KB, Spannier J. Fractional calculus. New York: Academic Press; 1974.
- [32] Miller KS, Ross B. An introduction to fractional calculus and fractional differential equations. New York: Wiley and Sons; 1993.
- [33] Podlubny I. Fractional differential equations. New York: Academic Press; 1999.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Communications in Nonlinear Science and Numerical Simulation

Communications in Nonlinear Science and Numerical Simulation 13 (2008) 666-676

www.elsevier.com/locate/cnsns

Fractional dynamics and the TeV regime of field theory

Ervin Goldfain

Photonics Center of Excellece, Welch Allyn Inc., 4619 Jordan Rd., Skaneateles Falls, NY 13153, USA OptiSolve Consulting, 4422 Cleveland Road, Syracuse, NY 13215, USA

> Received 28 May 2006; accepted 1 June 2006 Available online 17 July 2006

Abstract

Fractional dynamics offers a reliable tool for the study of far-from equilibrium processes that display scale-invariant properties, dissipation and long-range correlations. This is particularly attractive when dealing with the complex dynamics generated in the deep ultraviolet regime of quantum field theory. We analyze a simple scalar field Lagrangian using Caputo derivatives and the approximation of low-level fractionality. Results may be extrapolated to more realistic field models and suggest a series of surprising implications regarding phenomena that are expected to emerge beyond the range of the standard model for particle physics. © 2006 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

PACS: 11.10.Ef; 11.30.Na; 12.10.-g; 12.60.-i

Keywords: Fractional dynamics; Unified field theory; Lagrangian field theory; Standard model

1. Introduction

Fractional derivatives are an effective tool for describing the non-trivial behavior of complex phenomena whose dynamics is far-from equilibrium and cannot be characterized using traditional *analytic* functions. Often, this behavior is caused by coupling the underlying physical system to a reservoir of steep and highly correlated fluctuations. Owing it to their manifest scale-invariant attributes, *fractals* and *multi-fractals* provide a suitable framework for the study of a large class of non-analytic functions and fields [1,2]. For example, fractal geometry can be successfully associated with random walk models (fractional Brownian motion) or with the onset of criticality in statistical physics and fluid dynamics (phase transitions in spin clusters and fully developed turbulence). Recent years have demonstrated that *fractional dynamics* provides a natural framework for mapping out the evolution in fractal environments and modeling the physics of systems having

1007-5704/\$ - see front matter @ 2006 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.cnsns.2006.06.001

E-mail address: ervingoldfain@hotmail.com

(2)

multiple scales [1,3–8]. It is for this reason that fractional dynamics is also beneficial when exploring the rich spectrum of complex processes that is likely to arise in the deep ultraviolet regime of quantum field theory. Taking advantage of this capability, we analyze in this work a simple scalar field Lagrangian using Caputo derivatives and the approximation of low-level fractionality. Results may be extrapolated to more realistic field models and suggest a series of surprising implications regarding phenomena that are expected to emerge beyond the range of the standard model for particle physics.

We emphasize that our work has an introductory nature and, as such, it is not aimed to be either entirely rigorous or formally complete. Additional research is needed to confirm, develop or disprove our preliminary findings.

The paper is organized in the following way: Sections 2 and 3 introduce the main assumptions and rationale for fractional dynamics in the deep ultraviolet domain of field theory. Section 4 highlights the link between fractional dynamics and general relativity. Variational formulation of fractional dynamics as applied to field theory is discussed in Section 5. A strategy for field unification in the TeV regime using fractional dimension is investigated in the next two sections. The dynamic connection between fractional dimension and spin is elaborated upon in Section 8. Last section details how fractional dynamics may be used to motivate breaking of parity and time-reversal symmetries. The paper concludes with a brief summary of main results and future challenges.

2. Notation and conventions

- (a) Einstein summation convention is applied throughout. Poincare indices are denoted by i, j, k = 0, 1, 2, 3 and SU(2), SU(3) group indices by a and b, respectively.
- (b) the analysis is carried out exclusively at the classical level. Suppression of quantum attributes and transition to classical behavior is the result of decoherence induced by steady exposure to large random fluctuations [9,10]. A conceptual benefit of this ansatz is that field theory built on fractional dynamics is free from any quantum or chiral anomalies.
- (c) we follow the rationale of [3] and use in our work the left Caputo fractional derivative defined as

$$D^{\alpha}\varphi(x) \doteq \frac{1}{\Gamma(n-\alpha)} \int_0^x \frac{\varphi^{(n)}(s)}{(x-s)^{\alpha+1-n}} \mathrm{d}s \tag{1}$$

where $n - 1 \le \alpha \le n$ and $\varphi^{(n)}(s) \doteq d^n \varphi(s)/ds^n$.

(d) to avoid confusing (1) with the covariant derivative, the latter operator is generically represented as

$$\mathscr{D}^{i}\varphi(x) \doteq \partial^{i}\varphi(x) + \text{gaugeterms}$$

(e) space-time variables and fields are suitably normalized as dimensionless observables.

3. Fractals and the deep ultraviolet region of field theory

It is generally believed that quantum field theory breaks down near the so-called Cohen–Kaplan threshold of ~ 100 TeV as a result of exposure to large vacuum fluctuations and strong-gravitational effects. No convenient redefinition of observables is capable of turning off the dynamic contribution of these effects. For instance, it is known that the zero-point vacuum energy diverges quadratically in the presence of gravitation. Quantum field theory in Minkowski space–time discards the zero-point vacuum energy through the use of a normal time ordering procedure [11]. Because vacuum energy is gravitating and couples to all other field energies present at the quantum level, cancellation of the zero-point term is no longer possible when gravitational effects are significant. Our previous considerations suggest, in this context, that fractal geometry and fractional dynamics assume a leading role in the description of TeV physics [12,13]. For reasons that will become clear later on, we briefly review below the concept of *fractional dimension* and its relationship to the *index of fractional differentiation*.

A prototype of a continuous but nowhere differentiable field is the generalized Weierstrass function (GWF)

$$W(x) \doteq \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{(1 - e^{i\gamma_n x})e^{i\phi_n}}{\gamma^{(2-D)n}}$$
(3)

where x denotes the space coordinate, $\gamma > 1$ and ϕ_n stands for a series of arbitrary phases [1]. The fractional dimension of GWF is $1 \le D \le 2$, or

$$[W(x)] = D \tag{4}$$

and is considered to be a measure of its *degree of irregularity*. It can be shown that the correlation function of GWF is represented by

$$C(s) \doteq \left\langle |W(x+s) - W(x)|^2 \right\rangle_{\phi} \sim s^{2(2-D)}$$
(5)

This expression indicates that, in addition to being a measure of irregularity, D determines the *range over* which field correlations extend. In the above, the average is taken over an ensemble of realizations of ϕ_n phases that is uniformly distributed over the interval $(0, 2\pi)$. Carrying out a fractional derivation on GWF with the help of the Caputo operator (1), has the effect of increasing the fractional dimension D to D' according to

$$D' = [D^{\alpha}W(x)] = [W(x)] + \alpha = D + \alpha \tag{6}$$

It is apparent from (6) that the index of fractional differentiation α is equivalent to a linear shift in fractional dimension, i.e. $\alpha = D' - D = \Delta D$.

Fractal geometry of the underlying space-time manifold may be introduced by analogy with these definitions. In particular, space-time may be regarded as a fractal four-vector whereby each component x^i , i = 0, 1, 2, 3 represents a GWF. For instance we write, in parametric form

$$x^{i} \doteq \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{(1 - e^{i\gamma_{n}\tau})e^{i\phi_{n}}}{\gamma^{(2-d^{i})n}}$$

$$\tag{7}$$

where d^i are fractional dimensions assigned to each coordinate. In this case, the index of fractional differentiation gets upgraded to the four-vector $\alpha^i = d'^i - d^i = \Delta d^i$.

4. Fractional dynamics and classical gravity

Consider a model describing the dynamics of a scalar field $\varphi(x) \doteq \varphi(x_i)$ embedded in 3+1 Euclidean space-time. The generic Lagrangian associated with this model is given by

$$L(\varphi, \partial \varphi) \doteq \eta^{ij} \partial_i \varphi \partial_j \varphi - U(\varphi) = (\partial \varphi)^2 - U(\varphi)$$
(8)

Here, the Minkowski metric η^{ij} has signature (+, -, -, -) so that $\eta^{00} \doteq +1$, $U(\varphi)$ represents the potential energy density and

$$(\partial \varphi)^2 \doteq \partial_i \varphi \partial^i \varphi = (\partial \varphi / \partial x_0)^2 - \sum_k (\partial \varphi / \partial x_k)^2$$
(9)

for k = 1, 2, 3. Assuming that the field dynamics has low-level fractionality, we may use the so-called ε -expansion to perform the transition from first-order to Caputo derivatives of order $\alpha \doteq 1 - \varepsilon$ according to the prescription [3]

$$D^{1-\varepsilon}\varphi(x) = \partial\varphi(x) + \varepsilon D_1\varphi(x)$$

$$D_1\varphi(x) \doteq \partial\varphi(0) \ln|x| + \gamma \partial\varphi(x) + \int_0^x \partial^2\varphi(s) \ln|x-s| \,\mathrm{d}s$$
(10)

where γ stands for the Euler constant and $\varepsilon x \ll 1$. By analogy with the definition of the Lipschitz–Hölder exponent [14,15], we turn our attention to the most general case where the fractional index ε represents a *locally* defined function of space–time coordinates. In addition, we assume that the fractional index may be expressed either as a *contravariant* $\varepsilon^i(x)$ or a *covariant* $\varepsilon_i(x)$ four-vector. This motivates us to formally extend (10) to

668

$$D^{1-\varepsilon_{i}(x)}\varphi(x) = \partial^{i}\varphi(x) + \varepsilon^{i}(x)D_{1}^{i}\varphi(x)$$

$$D_{1}^{i}\varphi(x) \doteq \partial^{i}\varphi(0)\ln|x| + \gamma\partial^{i}\varphi(x) + \int_{0}^{x} (\partial^{2})^{i}\varphi(s)\ln|x-s|\,\mathrm{d}s$$

$$D_{1-\varepsilon_{i}(x)}\varphi(x) = \partial_{i}\varphi(x) + \varepsilon_{i}(x)D_{1,i}\varphi(x)$$

$$D_{1,i}\varphi(x) \doteq \partial_{i}\varphi(0)\ln|x| + \gamma\partial_{i}\varphi(x) + \int_{0}^{x} (\partial^{2})_{i}\varphi(s)\ln|x-s|\,\mathrm{d}s$$
(11)

By analogy with the standard notation for integer-order operators, the first couple of fractional derivatives are contravariant whereas the second couple denotes covariant derivatives. On this basis, the most straightforward generalization of (8) on account of (11) gives

$$L(\varphi, D\varphi) \doteq D_{1-\varepsilon_i(x)} \varphi D^{1-\varepsilon_i(x)} \varphi - U(\varphi)$$
(12)

To further simplify calculations we set

$$\partial^i \varphi(0) = \partial_i \varphi(0) = \partial^{2,i} \varphi(x) = \partial_{2,i} \varphi(x) = 0 \tag{13}$$

Replacing (11) in (12) we obtain

$$L(\varphi, \partial \varphi) = g_{i,\varepsilon}^i(x)\partial_i \varphi \partial^i \varphi - U(\varphi) + O(\varepsilon^2)$$
(14)

in which the metric coefficients are defined as

$$g_{i,\varepsilon}^{i}(x) \doteq 1 + \gamma[\varepsilon_{i}(x) + \varepsilon^{i}(x)]$$
(15)

We are led to conclude that the effect of low-order fractional derivatives is to transform the Minkowski metric into a Riemann metric determined by $g_{i,\varepsilon}^i(x)$. Stated differently, enabling the original Lagrangian to contain fractional derivatives is physically equivalent to embedding the field in non-Euclidean space–time. This finding is consistent with ideas developed in [12,13].

An important observation is now in order. As (5) indicates, the fractional index $\varepsilon^i(x)$ defines the range of field correlations in space and time. Fractional dynamics is essentially a non-local theory whereby phenomena evolve on multiple scales that are coupled to each other [1,12]. It is precisely this *scale coupling* that makes the metric field $g_{i,\varepsilon}^i(x)$ a self-interacting entity and justifies its deep connection to general relativity and the physics of classical gravitation.

Regarding (15), we note that cartesian frames of references are characterized by $\varepsilon'(x) = \varepsilon_i(x)$. We also note that (15) reduces to the standard Minkowki metric in two distinct cases, i.e. (a) vanishing fractional index, $\varepsilon^i(x) = \varepsilon_i(x) = 0$, (b) anti-symmetric components of the fractional index, that is $\varepsilon^i(x) = -\varepsilon_i(x)$.

5. Fractional dynamics and the action principle

To further carry out our analysis it is convenient to introduce the following hypotheses:

(a) fractional index derives from a locally defined potential function, that is

$$\varepsilon^{i}(x) = \partial^{i}\xi(x), \qquad \varepsilon_{i}(x) = \partial_{i}\xi(x)$$
(16)

(b) (14) is considered a Lagrangian depending on two independent scalar fields embedded in 3 + 1 spacetime, namely $L \doteq L(\partial^i \xi, \varphi, \partial \varphi)$. The action functional is then

$$S[\xi,\varphi] \doteq \int_{M} L(\partial^{i}\xi,\varphi,\partial\varphi) \mathrm{d}x \tag{17}$$

from which the field equations follow as a result of Hamilton's principle.

6. Emergence of field charges and gauge-free theories

An intrinsic variation of field variables that does not involve any coordinate transformation is given by

$$\delta x^{i} = 0, \quad \delta \varphi = \overline{\varphi}(x) - \varphi(x), \quad \delta \xi^{i}(x) = \overline{\xi^{i}}(x) - \xi^{i}(x)$$
(18)

The conserved four-vector current corresponding to this variation takes the form [16,17]

$$j^{i} = \frac{\partial L}{\partial \varepsilon^{i}} \delta \xi^{i}(x) + \frac{\partial L}{\partial (\partial^{i} \varphi)} \delta \varphi = 2\gamma [\partial_{i} \varphi \partial^{i} \varphi \delta \xi^{i} + \varepsilon^{i} \partial_{i} \varphi \delta \varphi]$$
(19)

such that $\partial^i j^i = 0$. In very broad terms, this relationship asserts that $\varepsilon^i(x)$ gives rise to a supplementary contribution to the conserved four-vector current generated from internal field symmetries. As a result and as the next section shows, the existence of internal charges of field theory (such as electric charge, color, weak isospin as well as compensating gauge fields) may be interpreted as a direct *manifestation of fractional dynamics*.

In particular, let us consider a local gauge transformation that is applied to both fields $\varphi(x)$ and $\xi^i(x)$, that is

$$\delta\varphi(x) \doteq \frac{\partial\Lambda(x)}{\partial x}, \qquad \delta\xi^{i}(x) \doteq \frac{\partial\Omega^{i}(x)}{\partial x}$$
(20)

where $\Lambda(x)$ and $\Omega^{i}(x)$ are arbitrary real functions. We thus obtain

$$j^{i} = 2\gamma \left[\partial_{i} \varphi \partial^{i} \varphi \frac{\partial \Omega^{i}(x)}{\partial x} + \varepsilon^{i} \partial_{i} \varphi \frac{\partial \Lambda(x)}{\partial x} \right]$$
(21)

indicating that, in order to secure a vanishing divergence for the current (19), the contribution of the first gauge term in (21) is automatically balanced out by the contribution of the second term. It is seen that, in contrast with standard formulation of relativistic quantum field theory, invariance under local gauge transformations in fractional dynamics may be accomplished *without adding compensating gauge fields to the Lagrangian*. This key observation is in line with the framework discussed in [13,18], and suggests a natural mechanism for field unification beyond the standard model of particle physics. In the next section we introduce the basis for this unification program.

7. Asymptotic unification of classical gravity with gauge interactions

Refer again to (10) and (11). To streamline the derivation and capture the key point of the argument, we relax condition (13) and re-write (11) as

$$D^{1-\varepsilon_i(x)}\varphi(x) = \widehat{\diamond}^i \varphi(x) + \varepsilon^i(x) D_1^i \varphi(x)$$

$$D_1^i \varphi(x) \approx \int_0^x (\widehat{\diamond}^2)^i \varphi(s) \ln|x-s| \, \mathrm{d}s$$
(22)

under the explicit assumption that the field $\varphi(x)$ is a rapidly varying function and

$$\partial^{i}\varphi(0)\ln|x| + \gamma\partial^{i}\varphi(x) \ll \int_{0}^{x} (\partial^{2})^{i}\varphi(s)\ln|x-s|\,\mathrm{d}s$$
(23)

Higher order derivatives based on the *ɛ*-expansion may be formulated in analogous way. For instance,

$$D^{2-\varepsilon_i(x)}\varphi(x) = (\partial^2)^i \varphi(x) + \varepsilon^i(x) D_2^i \varphi(x)$$
(24)

where

$$D_{2}^{i}\varphi(x) \approx \int_{0}^{x} (\partial^{3})^{i}\varphi(s)\ln|x-s|\,\mathrm{d}s$$

$$(\partial^{2})^{i}\varphi(0)\ln|x| + \gamma(\partial^{2})^{i}\varphi(x) \ll \int_{0}^{x} (\partial^{3})^{i}\varphi(s)\ln|x-s|\,\mathrm{d}s$$
(25)

Furthermore, for ultra-short space–time intervals $x \ll 1$ it is convenient to use the following approximations

$$D_{1}^{i}\varphi(x) \approx x \ln \frac{|x|}{2} (\partial^{2})^{i} \varphi(\frac{x}{2}) \approx Q(x) (\partial^{2})^{i} \varphi(x)$$

$$D_{2}^{i}\varphi(x) \approx Q(x) (\partial^{3})^{i} \varphi(x)$$
(26)

in which

$$Q(x) \doteq \frac{x \ln |x|}{4} \tag{27}$$

Replacing (26) in (22) we obtain, in operator language,

$$D^{1-\varepsilon_i(x)} = \widehat{\circ}^i - \varepsilon^i(x)Q(x)D^{2-\varepsilon_i(x)} + [\varepsilon^i(x)Q(x)]^2(\widehat{\circ}^3)^i$$
(28)

Note that, due to the presence of the logarithm in the expression of Q(x), the product $\varepsilon^i(x)Q(x)$ cannot be considered an infinitesimal quantity, that is, $\varepsilon^i(x)Q(x) \neq O(\varepsilon^2)$.

It is straightforward to see that (28) may be recursively generalized on account of the relationship linking $D^{3-\varepsilon_i(x)}$ to $(\hat{o}^3)^i$. We obtain

$$D^{1-\varepsilon_{i}(x)} = \partial^{i} - \varepsilon^{i}(x)Q(x)D^{2-\varepsilon_{i}(x)} + [\varepsilon^{i}(x)Q(x)]^{2}D^{3-\varepsilon_{i}(x)} - [\varepsilon^{i}(x)Q(x)]^{3}D^{4-\varepsilon_{i}(x)} + \cdots$$
(29)

The previous section has shown that the effect of fractional operators is to generate a gauge-free theory by discarding fields whose function is to maintain local gauge invariance. On this basis, one can assert that there is no physical distinction between (29) and the covariant derivative operators of relativistic quantum field theory, briefly discussed in Appendix B. We may therefore perform a term by term identification of (29) and (B.1) to arrive at the following set of operational relations

$$-ig_{1}\frac{Y}{2}B^{i} \Leftrightarrow -\varepsilon^{i}(x)Q(x)D^{2-\varepsilon_{i}(x)}$$

$$-ig_{2}\frac{\tau_{a}}{2}W_{a}^{i} \Leftrightarrow [\varepsilon^{i}(x)Q(x)]^{2}D^{3-\varepsilon_{i}(x)}$$

$$-ig_{3}\frac{\lambda_{b}}{2}G_{b}^{i} \Leftrightarrow -[\varepsilon^{i}(x)Q(x)]^{3}D^{4-\varepsilon_{i}(x)}$$
(30)

Since $\varepsilon^i(x) \approx [g^i_{i,\varepsilon}(x) - 1]$ according to (15), the four-vector $\varepsilon^i(x)$ represents the deviation from the Minkowski metric of the equivalent gravitational field $g^i_{i,\varepsilon}(x)$ induced by fractional dynamics. It follows that (30) provides the motivation for the asymptotic unification of classical gravity with the combined $SU(3) \times SU(2) \times U(1)$ gauge symmetry of the standard model for particle physics. In different terms, (30) suggests that the three gauge groups of the standard model break out from the topological concept of fractional dimension d^i that was introduced in Section 1.

8. Fractional dynamics and the physical origin of spin

It is well known that spin represents a quantum mechanical observable that has no classical analogue. The object of this section is to show that the concept of spin and the concept of fractional dimension are closely related.

A good starting point is (14) from which field equations may derived on the assumption that $\varepsilon^{i}(x)$ is an independent four-vector field and $O(\varepsilon^{2})$ terms may be ignored. We find

$$\partial^{i}(\partial_{i}\varphi\partial^{i}\varphi) = 0$$

$$\partial^{i}\left(\frac{\partial L}{\partial(\partial^{i}\varphi)}\right) + \frac{\partial U}{\partial\varphi} = 0$$
(31)

It follows that the energy-momentum tensor is defined by

$$T^{ij} = \frac{\partial L}{\partial \varepsilon^i} \varepsilon^j + \frac{\partial L}{\partial (\partial^i \varphi)} \partial^j \varphi - L \delta_{ij}$$
(32)

or, taking into account (14),

$$T^{ij} = \tilde{T}^{ij} + \gamma \partial^i \varphi \partial_i \varphi [\varepsilon^j - 2\varepsilon^i (\delta_{ij} + \eta^{ij})]$$
(33)

Comparing to (A7) and recalling the scalar nature of field φ , leads to the result that the second term of (33) may be thought of as being generated by an *intrinsic spin* variable. In different words, we may establish the following formal connection in reference to Appendix A

$$\gamma \partial^i \varphi \partial_i \varphi [\varepsilon^j - 2\varepsilon^i (\delta_{ij} + \eta^{ij})] \Longleftrightarrow \partial_k f^{ikj}$$
(34)

where f^{ikj} represents the spin contribution to the canonical energy-momentum tensor.

It is apparent from these considerations that fractional dynamics has the effect of turning a *scalar field* into a *spinor field*. From a phenomenological standpoint and on account of Noether's theorem, one can go further and infer that *spin is an observable that may be interpreted as the conserved charge associated with the local variation of fractal dimension* $\varepsilon^i(x)$. More generally, since $\varepsilon^i(x)$ is a continuous function of coordinates, it can be stated that (34) extends the ordinary half-integer or integer spins to a continuous spectrum of eigenvalues. A similar scenario is discussed in [12,13] in relation to the onset of complexity within the TeV regime of field theory.

We wish to elaborate on this last point in more detail. Consider again the conserved four-vector current (19) and impose an internal variation on $\varepsilon^{i}(x)$ that does not involve any change of coordinates or field $\varphi(x)$

$$\delta x^{i} = 0, \quad \delta \varphi = 0, \quad \delta \xi^{i}(x) \doteq \xi^{i}(x) - \xi^{i}(x) \tag{35}$$

According to the general theory of internal symmetries in Lagrangian field models, $\delta \varepsilon^{i}(x)$ takes the form

$$\delta \xi^{i}(x) = \mathrm{i} \theta^{\varepsilon,i} X^{i} \xi^{i}(x) \tag{36}$$

where $\theta^{\varepsilon,i}$ stands for an infinitesimal rotation angle in parameter space and X^i denote the set of linearly independent generators associated with this rotation [17]. It can be shown that X^i satisfy Lie algebra, that is

$$[X^i, X^j] = \mathbf{i}c^{ijk}X^k \tag{37}$$

in which c^{ijk} represent the structure constants of the Lie group. The conserved Noether current generated from (19) is given by

$$j^{i} = \frac{\partial L}{\partial \varepsilon^{i}} \delta \xi^{i}(x) = \frac{\partial L}{\partial \varepsilon^{i}} \mathbf{i} \theta^{\varepsilon,i} X^{i} \xi^{i}(x)$$
(38)

Thus, up to some multiplicative constant factors, we obtain

$$j^{i} = 2\gamma \partial_{i} \varphi \partial^{i} \varphi \delta \xi^{i}(x) \cong X^{i} \xi^{i}(x) \partial_{i} \varphi \partial^{i} \varphi \tag{39}$$

subject to the continuity condition $\partial^i j^i = 0$. Taking into account that $\partial^i (\partial_i \varphi \partial^i \varphi) = 0$ yields

$$\partial' j^i = 0 \Rightarrow \partial' [X^i \zeta^i(x)] = 0 \tag{40}$$

which implies that

. . .

$$\int_{\Omega_M} X^0 \xi^0(x) \mathrm{d}^3 x = \mathrm{const.}$$
(41)

where Ω_M designates the spatial region of the integration domain. On the basis of previous discussion, we interpret the invariant charge (41) as temporal component of the four-dimensional spin current $X^i \xi^i(x)$.

To summarize this section, we conclude that invariance of the action functional under a continuous variation of space-time dimension leads to the emergence of a conserved charge, which we identify with *spin*. The crucial ingredient in this conjecture is that $\xi^i(x)$ is a *continuous function*, enabling *infinitesimal* transformations of space-time dimension. In contrast with the basic premise of supersymmetry and related dynamic models dealing with discrete spin transformations, this finding points to a fundamentally different route to boson-fermion unification [12,13,18].

672

9. Breaking of parity and time-reversal symmetries

Invariance of field equations to space and time reflections is well established in classical and quantum theory. In light of this fact, parity non-conservation and breaking of the time-reversal symmetry in weak interactions and kaon physics, respectively, are regarded as anomalies for which the standard model offers no explanation [19,20]. The purpose of this section is to suggest that fractional dynamics may provide important insights into the physical origin of these anomalies. Following Section 3, our underlying premise is that complexity becomes relevant in the ultra-short distance regime of both weak interaction and kaon decay channels. For the sake of concision and simplicity, here we restrict the discussion to parity and employ the notation $x \doteq x_k, k = 1, 2, 3$.

Parity acts as a unitary operator in classical field theory [11,19]. Its action is represented by

$$P\eta(x) \doteq \eta(-x) \tag{42}$$

Consider next (1) and set n = 1 and $\alpha = 1 - \varepsilon$, with $\varepsilon^i(x) = \varepsilon_i(x) = \varepsilon$. Hence

$$D^{1-\varepsilon}\eta(x) \doteq \frac{1}{\Gamma(\varepsilon)} \int_0^x \frac{\eta^{(1)}(x)}{(x-s)^{1-\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}s$$
(43)

such that

$$P[D^{1-\varepsilon}\eta(x)] \doteq P[D^{1-\varepsilon}]P[\eta(x)] = P[D^{1-\varepsilon}]\eta(-x)$$
(44)

or

$$P[D^{1-\varepsilon}]\eta(-x) = \frac{[(-1)^{\varepsilon-1}]}{\Gamma(\varepsilon)} \int_0^{(-x)} \frac{\eta^{(1)}(-s)}{(x+s)^{1-\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}s$$
(45)

where

$$(-1)^{\varepsilon-1} = \exp[i\pi(\varepsilon - 1)] \tag{46}$$

On the other hand,

$$D^{1-\varepsilon}[P\eta(x)] = D^{1-\varepsilon}\eta(-x) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(\varepsilon)} \int_0^x \frac{\eta^{(1)}(-s)}{(x-s)^{1-\varepsilon}} ds$$
(47)

It is seen from (45) and (46) that the effect of parity operator P on the Caputo derivative is to produce a fractional shift in phase. This phase-shift is proportional to the index ε and reduces to an integer when the dynamics becomes classical, that is, in the limit $\varepsilon \rightarrow 0$. As it is known, parity and first-order derivative operators anticommute in the classical limit, that is,

$$\{P, \hat{o}\}\eta(x) = P[\hat{o}\eta(x)] + \hat{o}[P\eta(x)] = 0$$
(48)

In contrast, P no longer anti-commutes with the fractional derivative operator for $\varepsilon \neq 0$ and a distinction is made between the "left" and "right" directions. In different words,

$$\{P, D^{1-\varepsilon}\}\eta(x) \neq 0 \tag{49}$$

Following the same line of arguments and using (12), parity and Hamiltonian may be shown to become noncommuting operators in the fractional dynamics regime, i.e.

$$[P, H^{1-\varepsilon}]\eta(x) \doteq (PH^{1-\varepsilon} - H^{1-\varepsilon}P)\eta(x) \neq 0$$
(50)

10. Summary and conclusions

The description of complex dynamics in the TeV regime of field theory warrants the transition from ordinary calculus on smooth manifolds to fractional differentiation and integration. We have suggested that this transition has important implications regarding phenomena that are anticipated beyond the energy range of the standard model for particle physics. In particular, we have argued that:

- (a) fractional dynamics in Minkowski space-time is equivalent to field theory in curved space-time. This finding points out to a natural mapping of gravity onto the fractal topology of space-time in to the deep ultraviolet region of field theory.
- (b) the three gauge groups of the standard model, as well as the spin observable, are rooted in the topological concept of fractional dimension.
- (c) fractional dynamics is the underlying source of parity non-conservation in weak interactions and of the breaking of time-reversal invariance in processes involving neutral kaons.

Follow-up studies may be devoted to understanding the relationship between predictions and experimental data, the link between the fractional phase-shift (46) and anyon statistics [13,21] and the role of multi-fractal measures in the future development of field models.

Appendix A

For reader's convenience, we survey below some results of Lagrangian field theory that are relevant to our work. Following [16,17], consider a generic classical field described by a set of m = 1, 2, ..., N real or complex functions $\eta^m(x)$. The field equations stemming from the action principle read

$$\frac{\partial L}{\partial \eta^m} - \frac{\partial}{\partial x^i} \left[\frac{\partial L}{\partial (\partial^i \eta^m)} \right] = 0 \tag{A.1}$$

where $L(\eta^m(x), \partial^i \eta^m(x), x^i)$ stands for the Lagrangian density. The infinitesimal Lorentz transformation of coordinates is given by

$$x' \doteq \widetilde{L}x \Rightarrow x'^{i} = x^{i} + \omega_{i}^{i} x^{j} + a^{i}$$
(A.2)

where a^i is a constant translation vector and $\omega^{ij} = -\omega^{ji}$ a constant anti-symmetric tensor describing rotations. In the most general case, the field components respond to the Lorentz transformation (A.2) as

$$\eta^{\prime m}(x^{\prime}) = [\delta_n^m + \Lambda_n^m(\widetilde{L})]\eta^n(x) \tag{A.3}$$

in which

$$A_n^m = 0 \quad \text{if } \eta^m(x) \text{ is a scalar field} (1 + A_n^m) = \widetilde{L}_n^m \quad \text{if } \eta^m(x) \text{ is a vector field} (1 + A_n^m) = S(\widetilde{L})_n^m \quad \text{if } \eta^m(x) \text{ is a spinor field}$$
(A.4)

 $(1 + A_n) = S(L)_n$ If $\eta^m(x)$ is a spinor field Here, \widetilde{L}_n^m acts as a Lorentz transformation operator and $S(\widetilde{L})_n^m$ the general spin representation of the Lorentz group. It can be shown that

$$A_n^m = \frac{1}{2} S_n^{mij} \omega_{ij} \tag{A.5}$$

in which S_n^{mij} denotes the spin tensor. Under these circumstances

$$S_n^{mij} = 0 \quad \text{if } \eta^m(x) \text{ is a scalar field} S_n^{mij} = \eta^{mi} \eta_n^j - \eta^{mj} \eta_n^i \quad \text{if } \eta^m(x) \text{ is a vector field}$$

$$S_n^{mij} = \frac{1}{4} (\gamma^i \gamma^j - \gamma^j \gamma^i)_n^m \quad \text{if } \eta^m(x) \text{ is a four-component spinor field}$$
(A.6)

where γ^i is the set of Dirac matrices [11,22]. We obtain for the energy-momentum tensor of the field

$$T^{ij} = \widetilde{T}^{ij} - \frac{\partial}{\partial x^k} f^{ikj} = \left[\frac{\partial L}{\partial (\partial^i \eta^m)} \partial^j \eta^m - L \delta_{ij} \right] - \frac{\partial}{\partial x^k} f^{ikj}$$
(A.7)

Here, δ_{ij} is the Kronecker symbol and the spin term is defined as

$$f^{ikl} = \frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial L}{\partial (\partial^i \eta^m)} S_n^{mkl} \eta^n$$
(A.8)

In particular, the spin contribution vanishes if $\eta^{m}(x)$ represents a scalar field and the energy-momentum tensor assumes the canonical form

$$\widetilde{T}^{ij} = \frac{\partial L}{\partial (\partial^i \eta^m)} \partial^j \eta^m - L \eta^{ij}$$
(A.9)

Appendix **B**

A Lie group is a continuous group whose elements can be parameterized by a finite number of parameters. Of particular interest in relativistic quantum field theory are the Lie groups associated with the principle of gauge invariance, the so-called SU(n) groups. Elements of the SU(n) group are $n \times n$ unitary matrices with unit determinant. There are $n^2 - 1$ generators of the SU(n) group represented by $n \times n$ traceless and Hermitian matrices whose elements satisfy the commutation relations of the Lie algebra.

The principle of gauge invariance demands that the action functional is left unchanged under global and local internal field transformations that generate three fundamental symmetries. These are the $SU(2) \times U(1)$ symmetry of electroweak interaction and the SU(3) symmetry of strong interaction. The conserved global charges associated with these symmetries are the electric charge, the weak isospin and the QCD color, respectively. The non-abelian spin-1 fields that are introduced to secure local gauge invariance of the theory are the electromagnetic field, as well as the vector boson and gluon fields of the weak and strong interactions. As a result of demanding local gauge invariance, all ordinary derivatives entering the Lagrangian are upgraded to the so-called *covariant derivatives* including the set of gauge fields described above. The full covariant derivative operator of the standard model is written as [22]

$$\mathscr{D}^{i} \doteq \eth^{i} - \mathrm{i}g_{1}\frac{Y}{2}B^{i} - \mathrm{i}g_{2}\frac{\tau_{a}}{2}W_{a}^{i} - \mathrm{i}g_{3}\frac{\lambda_{b}}{2}G_{b}^{i}$$
(B.1)

Here, g_1 , g_2 and g_3 are the electroweak and strong coupling constants, Y is the generator of the U(1) group, τ_a are Pauli matrices that generate the SU(2) group and λ_b the generators of the SU(3) group. Also, W_a^i and G_b^i stand for the weak and gluon fields, a = 1, 2, 3 is the SU(2) group index and $b = 1, 2, 3, \ldots, 8$ the SU(3) group index.

References

- [1] West BJ, Bologna M, Grigolini P. Physics of fractal operators. Springer; 2003.
- [2] Kroger H. Fractal geometry in quantum mechanics, field theory and spin systems. Phys Rep 2000;323(2):81–181.
- [3] Tarasov VE, Zaslavsky GM. Dynamics with low-level fractionality. Available from http://arxiv:physics/0511138>.
- [4] Tarasov VE. Fractional generalization of gradient and hamiltonian systems. J Phys A 2005;38(26):5929-43.
- [5] Tarasov VE, Zaslavsky GM. Fractional dynamics of coupled oscillators with long-range interaction. Available from http://arxiv.nlin.PS/0512013>.
- [6] Laskin N, Zaslavsky GM. Nonlinear fractional dynamics on a lattice with long range interactions. Available from http://arxiv.nlin.SI/0512010>.
- [7] Tarasov VE, Zaslavsky GM. Fractional Ginzburg-Landau equation for fractal media. Available from http://arxiv:physics/0511144>.
- [8] Kobelev LYa. What dimensions do the time and space have: integer or fractional? Available from http://arxiv:physics/0001035>.
- [9] Joos E et al. Decoherence and the appearance of a classical world in quantum theory. 2nd ed. Springer; 2003.
- [10] Schlosshauer M. Decoherence, the measurement problem, and interpretations of quantum mechanics. Rev Mod Phys. 2004:1267–305.
- [11] Kaku M. Quantum field theory, a modern introduction. Oxford University Press; 1993.
- [12] Goldfain E. Complex dynamics and the high-energy regime of quantum field theory. Int J Nonlinear Sci Numer Simulat 2005;6(3):223-34.
- [13] Goldfain E. Complexity in quantum field theory and physics beyond the standard model. Chaos, Solitons & Fractals 2006;28:913–22.
- [14] Feder J. Fractals. New York: Plenum Press; 1988.
- [15] Halsey TC et al. Fractal measures and their singularities: the characterization of strange sets. Phys Rev A 1986;33:1141-51.
- [16] Barut AO. Electrodynamics and classical theory of fields and particles. Dover Publications; 1980.
- [17] Norbury J. Lecture notes on quantum field theory 2000. Available from http://sciences.ows.ch/physique/QuantumFieldTheory. pdf>.

- [18] Goldfain E. Local scale invariance, cantorian space-time and unified field theory. Chaos, Solitons & Fractals 2005;23:701-10.
- [19] Donoghue JF et al. Dynamics of the standard model. Cambridge University Press; 1994.
- [20] Henley EM. What do we know about time reversal invariance violation. Fizika B 2001;10(3):161-75.
- [21] Rao S. An anyon primer. Available at http://arxiv.hep-th/9209066>.
- [22] Kane G. Modern elementary particle physics. Addison-Wesley Publishing Company; 1987.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



CHAOS SOLITONS & FRACTALS

Chaos, Solitons and Fractals 22 (2004) 513-520

www.elsevier.com/locate/chaos

Fractional dynamics, Cantorian space-time and the gauge hierarchy problem

Ervin Goldfain

OptiSolve Consulting, 4422 Cleveland Road, Syracuse, NY 13215, USA Accepted 27 February 2004

Abstract

The gauge hierarchy problem in particle physics refers to the large numerical disparity between the value of the Planck mass ($M_{Pl} \simeq 1.22 \times 10^{19}$ GeV) and the mass scale of the electroweak interaction ($M_{EW} \approx 10^2$ GeV). Explaining the hierarchy paradox has been attempted so far in quantum field models based on supersymmetry or higher dimensional space–time with a large number of extra dimensions (brane theories). Despite several years of experimental search, there is currently no validation for either one of these models. We approach the hierarchy paradox using the methodology of fractal operators in four-dimensional space–time. It is found that departure from the inverse-square gravity in the high-energy regime emerges naturally from the fractional Helmholtz equation and offers a simple resolution to the problem. Our work makes an explicit connection between the hierarchy problem and Cantorian geometry of space–time on energy scales comparable to the Planck mass.

© 2004 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

Relativistic quantum field theory is considered an effective representation of nature at low energies. It is generally accepted that any attempt to build a realistic field framework describing physics on large energy scales must account for the dynamic effect of the vacuum and for the strong gravitational effects induced by its fluctuations [27,23,29]. Gravitational stability of the vacuum sets a limit on the validity of any quantum field theory above a threshold energy scale [29,30]. Moreover, gravitationally bound states having masses of order $\sim 10^{19}$ GeV can be formed, in principle, on or below the Planck scale [5]. It has become increasingly clear in recent years that the adequate description of complex dynamics associated with generic random fluctuations demands use of fractal operators and fractional calculus [1–4]. From a mathematical physics viewpoint, introduction of this class of operators is closely related to a broad spectrum of topics ranging from analytic continuation [7] and non-local field theory [14] to generalized functions [15] and Levy stable probability distributions [16].

The gauge hierarchy problem in particle physics refers to the large numerical disparity between the value of the Planck mass ($M_{\rm Pl} \simeq 1.22 \times 10^{19}$ GeV) and the mass scale of the electroweak interaction ($M_{\rm EW} \approx 10^2$ GeV). Explaining the hierarchy paradox has been attempted in quantum field models based on supersymmetry or higher dimensional space–time with a large number of extra dimensions (brane theories). At the present time there is no empirical confirmation for either supersymmetry or brane theory. For example, experimental searches for departures from Newtonian gravity are focused on measuring the distance separating the branes, which is sought to be on the order of millimeters or less. No deviation from the inverse-square law has been found at distances as small as a tenth of a millimeter [19,20]. In light of these results, it appears that searching for alternate mechanisms that solve the gauge

E-mail address: ervingoldfain@hotmail.com (E. Goldfain).

^{0960-0779/\$ -} see front matter @~2004 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.chaos.2004.02.043
hierarchy problem is a worthwhile endeavor. We handle the hierarchy paradox using the methodology of fractal operators in four-dimensional space-time. It is found that departure from the inverse-square gravity in the high-energy regime emerges naturally from the fractional Helmholtz equation and offers a simple resolution to the problem. Results rely on the explicit connection between the hierarchy problem and Cantorian geometry of space-time on energy scales comparable to the Planck mass [17].

The plan of the paper is as follows: Section 2 introduces the gauge hierarchy problem. Models founded in higher dimensional space-time are briefly discussed in Section 3. Fractional solution of the Helmholtz equation is developed in Section 4. A link to fractional dynamics of the scalar field is established in Section 5. Scaling of the effective Planck mass and of the effective gravity coupling is the topic of Sections 6 and 7. Section 8 links results to the Cantorian space-time geometry. Concluding remarks are presented in Section 9.

2. The Planck and the gauge hierarchy problem

Let r be the distance at which the gravitational potential energy of a classical scalar particle of mass M equals rest its energy. Thus

$$G\frac{M^2}{r} = Mc^2 \tag{1}$$

where G stands for Newton's constant. If r is taken to represent the Compton wavelength of the particle, that is

$$r = \frac{\hbar}{Mc} \tag{2}$$

eliminating r and solving for M gives the Plank mass [6]

$$M_{\rm Pl} = (\hbar c G^{-1})^{1/2} \simeq 1.22 \times 10^{19} \,\,{\rm GeV} \tag{3}$$

At the same time, the electroweak interaction scale is set by either the vector boson mass ($M_{\rm EW} = M_W \approx 80$ GeV) or the Fermi constant ($M_{\rm EW} = G_{\rm F}^{-1/2} \approx 290$ GeV) [5]. The gauge hierarchy problem is defined by the large ratio of the Planck mass to the electroweak mass scale, which is on the order of 10¹⁷.

3. Models with large or warped extra dimensions

Large extra spatio-temporal dimensions have been introduced in recent years as a possible solution to the hierarchy problem [9–13]. This scenario is based on extending space-time dimensionality to D = 4 + n, where gravity propagates in the extra dimensional bulk $(n \gg 1)$ and the Standard Model fields are confined to the usual 3 + 1 space-time referred to as a "3-brane". According to this mechanism, the weakness of gravity in our four-dimensional space-time can be attributed to the spreading of gravity force lines into extra dimensions. This pervasive character of gravity enables coupling of the four dimensional continuum to neighboring branes. If the characteristic volume associated with the *n*-dimensional space is denoted by R^n , it can be shown that the effective four-dimensional Planck mass (M_{Pl}) is related to the Planck mass in *D* dimensions (M_S) via

$$M_{\rm Pl}^2 \sim R^n M_{\rm S}^{n+2} \tag{4}$$

While the mechanism of large extra dimensions resolves the disparity between M_{Pl} and M_{EW} , it introduces a new hierarchy between the energy scale associated with extra-dimensional space ($\mu \sim 1/R$) and M_{EW} [11]. An alternative is provided by the model of warped extra dimensions [11,12]. In this conjecture, the four-dimensional metric is multiplied by an exponential "warp" factor that is a rapidly changing function of an additional extra dimension. Ramifications of this scenario are discussed in [12].

We now proceed with the development of our arguments. Based on the introductory remarks, a logical starting point is fractional generalization of the scalar equation describing field propagation in arbitrary dimensions [8]. Natural units are assumed throughout the remainder of the paper ($\hbar = c = 1$).

4. Fractional representation of the Helmholtz equation

Consider a classical scalar field $\varphi(\vec{r}, t)$ of mass m_0 where $\vec{r} = \{x_j\}, j = 1, 2, 3$. It satisfies the well-known wave equation [21,24]

515

$$\left[\left(\frac{\partial^2}{\partial t^2} - \nabla^2\right) + m_0^2\right]\varphi(\vec{r}, t) = 0 \tag{5}$$

Eq. (5) is otherwise known as the Klein–Gordon equation describing the space–time evolution of a free spinless particle of mass m_0 . Performing the operator substitution

$$E \to i \frac{\partial}{\partial t}; \quad \vec{p} \to -i\nabla$$
 (6)

in (5) retrieves the relativistic dispersion relation

$$E^2 = \vec{p}^2 + m_0^2 \tag{7}$$

It is customary to use a dimensionless representation of (5) and (7). Dividing each side of these equations by an arbitrary mass scale M_0 and introducing the normalization prescription

$$\vec{r}^{0} = M_{0}\vec{r}; \quad t^{0} = M_{0}t; \qquad \frac{\partial}{\partial t^{0}} = \frac{1}{M_{0}}\frac{\partial}{\partial t}; \quad \frac{\partial}{\partial x_{j}^{0}} = \frac{1}{M_{0}}\frac{\partial}{\partial x_{j}}; \quad \nabla_{0} = \left\{\frac{\partial}{\partial x_{j}^{0}}\right\}$$
(8)

leads to

$$\left[\left(\frac{\partial^2}{\partial (t^0)^2} - \nabla_0^2 \right) + (m_0^0)^2 \right] \varphi(\vec{r^0}, t) = 0$$

$$(E^0)^2 = (\vec{p}^0)^2 + (m_0^0)^2$$
(9)

in which

$$m_0^0 = \frac{m_0}{M_0} \tag{10}$$

The Helmholtz equation is the time-independent version of (5) and (9). The Green function of the dimensionless Helmholtz equation satisfies [8,21]

$$\nabla_0^2 G(\vec{r}^0; m_0^0) - (m_0^0)^2 G(\vec{r}^0; m_0^0) = -\delta(\vec{r}^0)$$
(11)

where

$$\delta(\vec{r}^0) = \delta(x_1^0)\delta(x_2^0)\delta(x_3^0) \tag{12}$$

is the three-dimensional delta function representing a source-point located at the origin of the coordinate system. The explicit form of the Green function is

$$G(r^0; m_0^0) = \frac{\exp(-m_0^0 r^0)}{4\pi r^0}$$
(13)

The high-energy regime implies that r^0 is taken well inside the effective range of the source $(r^0 \ll 1/m_0^0)$. In this case (13) decays as

$$G(r^{0};m^{0}_{0}) \sim (r^{0})^{-1}$$

$$(14)$$

It is well known that, since the Green function relates to the gravitational potential created by the delta source and the magnitude of a conservative force is the gradient of that potential, the above framework is the basis for the inverse-square law of classical field theory. We recall that both the delta and potential functions depend on the dimensionality of the embedding space; explicit forms for the one-dimensional, two-dimensional and higher-dimensional cases are known and well documented in the literature [8,25].

Motivated by the growing evidence for complexity in field theory, we now ask the following question: What happens if the geometry of the delta source is generalized from integer-dimensional to fractal? Stated differently, What is the form taken by the Green function when the delta source is effectively an intermediate between a three-dimensional and a four-dimensional distribution? The answer to this question is reported in [8] where it is shown that, if the embedding space is *N*-dimensional (j = 1, 2, ..., N), the generalized form of the delta function is

E. Goldfain / Chaos, Solitons and Fractals 22 (2004) 513-520

$$\delta(x_1^0, x_2^0, \dots, x_{N-1}^0, x_N^0) = \frac{\delta(x_1^0)\delta(x_2^0)\cdots\delta(x_{N-1}^0)(x_N^0)^{N-f-1}}{\Gamma(N-f)}$$
(15)

In the above expression f represents a real number between N - 1 and N

$$\mathbf{N} - \mathbf{1} < f < N \tag{16}$$

defining the intermediate space dimension. Well inside the effective range of the source $((r^0)_{N-1} \ll 1/m_0^0)$, it is found that the corresponding Green function decays as

$$G_f(x_1^0, x_2^0 \dots x_{N-1}^0; m_0^0) \sim (r^0)_{N-1}^{\frac{1-f}{2}}$$

$$m_0^{n(r^0)_{N-1} \ll 1}$$
(17)

where

$$(r^{0})_{N-1} = \sqrt{(x_{1}^{0})^{2} + (x_{2}^{0})^{2} + \dots + (x_{N-1}^{0})^{2}}$$
(18)

It follows that the fractional gravitational potential in free three-dimensional space is given by

$$G_f(x_1^0, x_2^0, x_3^0; m_0^0) \sim (r^0)_3^{\frac{1-f}{2}}$$

$${}^{m_0^0(r^0)_3 \ll 1}$$
(19)

Let $M_{\text{eff},Pl}$ denote the effective Planck mass representing the generalization of M_{Pl} in the context provided by fractional Green function (19). As before, let M_0 denote the reference mass scale. By analogy with (1) we have

$$(GM_0^2)\frac{\left(\frac{M}{M_0}\right)^2}{(r^0)_3^{\frac{1-r}{2}}} = \frac{M}{M_0} = M^0$$
(20)

or, taking into account (3) and solving for the effective Planck mass $(M = M_{\text{eff},Pl})$

$$M_{\rm eff,Pl}^0 = (M_{\rm Pl}^0)^2 (r^0)_3^{\frac{1-f}{2}}$$
(21)

in which

$$M_{\rm eff,Pl}^{0} = \frac{M_{\rm eff,Pl}}{M_{0}} M_{\rm Pl}^{0} = \frac{M_{\rm Pl}}{M_{0}}$$
(22)

In closing this section, we recall that the left-hand side of (1) corresponds to the inverse-square law of classical potential theory in three-dimensional space. It can be shown that the inverse-square law is rooted in the rotational invariance of the three-dimensional space at low energy scales [21]. In contrast, the non-trivial nature of space-time in the highenergy regime is expected to break the rotational symmetry of ordinary space and open the door for non-commutative geometry [22,23]. In general, breaking the rotational symmetry of ordinary space amounts to upgrading the inverse-square gravity to a power-law depending on a non-integer exponent.

5. Connection to fractional dynamics of the scalar field

As previously stated, physics on high-energy scales is characterized by large perturbations in momenta produced by vacuum fluctuations and their strong gravitational effects. The erratic spectrum of fluctuations generates steady deviations from the unitary time evolution of quantum mechanics and drives the transition from order to chaos. The onset of Hamiltonian chaos transforms the smooth topology of classical phase-space into an irregular and highly fragmented structure. Adequate modeling of this regime requires replacing the conventional differential operators of quantum mechanics with fractal operators, as discussed in [1,18,26]. In this context, an additional key observation is that, due to the environment-induced decoherence and suppression of interference, all particles and fields loose their quantum memory and become classical objects [31,32].

In [18], a fractional generalization of the Klein–Gordon field theory expressed by (9) has been presented. To make the paper self-contained and for reader's convenience, we reiterate the main arguments here.

It is known that the chaotic dynamics of Hamiltonian systems is conveniently described as a fractional diffusion process [1,26]. The space-time flow of the scalar field $\varphi(\vec{r}, i)$ is encoded in a fractional generalization of the conventional Klein-Gordon equation. The new equation depends on two non-integer exponents (α, β) describing the space and time differentiation of the field, respectively. According to this prescription, the ordinary space and time differentiation operators are extended to

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t} \rightarrow \frac{\partial^{\beta}}{\partial t^{\beta}}$$

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial |x_j|} \rightarrow \frac{\partial^{\alpha}}{\partial |x_j|^{\alpha}}$$
(23)

in which $\partial^{\beta}/\partial t^{\beta}$ is the Riemann–Liouville derivative of order $0 < \beta \leq 1$ and $\partial^{\alpha}/\partial |x_j|^{\alpha}$ is the Riesz derivative of order $0 < \alpha \leq 2$ operating on the space-symmetrical coordinate $|x_j|$ [26]. Bounding the intervals of the two exponents allows the correct probabilistic interpretation of the field as a positive scalar.

Under these circumstances (9) may be extrapolated to

$$\left[\left(\frac{\partial^{2\beta}}{\partial (t^0)^{2\beta}} - \nabla_0^{2\alpha}\right) + (m_0^0)^2\right]\varphi(\overrightarrow{r^0}, t) = 0$$
(24)

Proceeding by analogy with (6), we perform the generalized operator substitution:

$$E^{\beta} \to \mathbf{i} \frac{\partial^{\beta}}{\partial (t^{0})^{\beta}}$$

$$p_{j}^{\alpha} \to -\mathbf{i} \frac{\partial^{\alpha}}{\partial |x_{j}^{0}|^{\alpha}}$$
(25)

which yields the fractional Klein-Gordon equation

 $\left[-E^{2\beta} + \vec{p}^{2\alpha} + (m_0^0)^2\right] = \varphi(\vec{r^0}, t) = 0$ ⁽²⁶⁾

where

$$\overrightarrow{p^{\alpha}} = \{p_i^{\alpha}\} \tag{27}$$

The resulting dispersion relation

$$E^{2\beta} = \vec{p}^{2\alpha} + (m_0^0)^2 \tag{28}$$

is an obvious generalization of the ordinary relativistic dispersion corresponding to $\alpha = \beta = 1$.

6. Scaling behavior of the effective Planck mass

We are now in a position to join the formalism outlined in (24)–(28) with the expression for the fractional Green function (19). The exponent f (defined inside the interval (3,4) for three-dimensional space, i.e. 3 < f < 4) can be mapped to the exponent α (defined inside (0,1)) by using the substitution

$$\alpha = 4 - f \tag{29}$$

Analysis of dimensionless units employed in (25) and (28) yields the following set of correspondence relations

$$M^{0} \to E^{\beta} \to \frac{\partial^{\beta}}{\partial (t^{0})^{\beta}} \to (t^{0})^{-\beta}$$

$$M^{0} \to p^{\alpha} \to E^{\beta}$$

$$p_{j}^{\alpha} \to \frac{\partial^{\alpha}}{\partial |x_{j}^{0}|^{\alpha}} \to (x_{j}^{0})^{-\alpha} \to (r^{0})^{-\alpha}$$
(30)

As a result, the normalized coordinate scales as

$$r^{0} = (r^{0})_{3} = (M^{0})^{-\frac{1}{\alpha}}$$
(31)

which is the fractional generalization of the Compton wavelength (2) in the classical limit $\alpha \rightarrow 1$. Substituting (31) in (21) leads to a power-law scaling of the effective Planck mass assuming the form

$$M_{\rm eff, Pl}^{0} = (M_{\rm Pl}^{0})^{\lambda(\alpha)}$$
(32)

with

$$\lambda(\alpha) = \frac{4\alpha}{\alpha+3} \tag{33}$$

This is the main result of the paper. Two asymptotic cases exist:

- (1) The approach to classical limit $\alpha \to 1$ recovers the Planck mass as $\lambda(1) \to 1$ and $M_{\text{eff},\text{Pl}} \to M_{\text{Pl}}$.
- (2) As $\alpha \to 0$, $\frac{M_{\text{eff},\text{Pl}}}{M_0} \to 1$. Since the choice of mass scale M_0 is arbitrary, the effective Planck mass can take any arbitrary real value in $\{R_+\}$. This finding is consistent with the physics of critical behavior near transition points where there is a manifest loss of length scale and field correlations acquire an infinite range.

7. Scaling behavior of the effective gravity constant

Examination of (32) indicates that the effective gravity constant defined by

$$G_{\rm eff}(M_0,\alpha) = (M_{\rm eff,Pl})^{-2} = (M_{\rm Pl})^{\frac{-8\alpha}{\alpha+3}} (M_0)^{\frac{\alpha(\alpha-1)}{\alpha+3}}$$
(34)

is no longer a universal constant, but a coupling strength depending on the dual choice of mass scale M_0 and exponent α . When $\alpha \to 1$, one recovers Newton's constant as

$$G_{\text{eff}} = G = \left(M_{\text{Pl}}\right)^{-2} \tag{35}$$

Fig. 1 shows the variation of $G_{\text{eff}}(M_0, \alpha)$ as function of M_0 for a fixed α , namely $\alpha = 0.236$ (cf. next section). It is seen that gravity becomes an asymptotically free theory relative to the mass scale M_0 . This is consistent with the behavior of non-abelian gauge theories at high energies [21,24].

The variation of $G_{\text{eff}}(M_0, \alpha)$ as a function of α at a fixed mass scale M_0 is illustrated in Fig. 2 where M_0 was chosen to coincide with proton mass (cf. next section). It is seen that gravity behaves as a non-asymptotically free field theory for $\alpha \to 0$, which may have significant implications for the gravitational stability of bound states in regions of the α -space where the effective coupling is large.



Fig. 1.



8. Connection to the geometry of Cantorian space-time

In what follows we use (34) to lower the numerical value of the effective Planck mass and suggest a simple solution to the gauge hierarchy problem. As pointed out in [18], exponent α is found to be dependent on the geometrical attributes of Cantorian space–time via

$$\alpha = \langle d_c \rangle - 4 = \phi^3 = 0.236068 \tag{36}$$

in which $\langle d_c \rangle$ is the expectation value for the Haussdorf dimension in E^{∞} theory and $\phi = \frac{\sqrt{5}-1}{2}$ is the golden mean [17,23]. If, using a standard procedure, we choose the reference mass to coincide with the proton mass $(M_0 = m_{\text{proton}})$ [5,24], (34) is solved by

$$M_{\rm eff,Pl} = 353.3 {\rm ~TeV}$$

We conclude that $M_{\text{eff},\text{Pl}}$ has the same order of magnitude as the upper limit of the Cohen–Kaplan fundamental scale of gravity, placed near 100 TeV. This scale is considered to set the threshold of validity for any quantum-field theoretical description of nature [27,28].

9. Concluding remarks

A novel strategy for solving the gauge hierarchy problem has been presented. It is based on using fractal operators in the Helmholtz equation of classical field theory. We have found that:

- (a) Deviation from the inverse-square gravity occurs naturally on high-energy scales.
- (b) The effective gravity coupling depends on both the mass scale M_0 and the order of fractional differentiation in space (α).
- (c) The effective Planck mass may be lowered in the Cohen–Kaplan range by linking α to a key geometrical attribute of Cantorian space–time, the golden mean ϕ .

References

- [1] West B, Bologna M, Grigolini P. Physics of fractal operators. New York: Springer; 2003.
- [2] Podlubny I. Fractional differential equations. Academic Press; 1999.
- [3] Zaslavsky GM. Physics of chaos in Hamiltonian systems. World Scientific Publishing Co.; 2003.

- [4] Volovich Y. arxiv:quant-ph/0008063.
- [5] Cooper NG, West GB. Particle physics (A Los Alamos primer). Cambridge University Press; 1989.
- [6] Kaku M. Quantum Field Theory. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 1993.
- [7] Woon SC. arXiv:hep-th/9707206.
- [8] Engheta N. cetaweb.mit.edu/pier/pier12/05.950510p.Engheta = 26.pdf and Progress in Electromagnetic Research, vol. 12, 107–132, 1996.
- [9] Arkani-Hamed N et al. Phys Lett B 1998;429:263.
- [10] Deshpande NG, Ghosh DK. Phys Rev D 2003;67:113006, and included references.
- [11] Randall L, Sundrum R. Phys Rev Lett 1999;83(17):3370, and included references.
- [12] Carena M et al. Phys Rev D 2003;68:035010, and included references.
- [13] Maalampi J et al. Phys Rev D 2003;67:113005.
- [14] Barci DG. arXiv: hep-th/9606183.
- [15] Gelfand IM, Shilov GE. In: Generalized function, vol. 1-3. New York: Academic Press; 1964.
- [16] Levy P. Theorie de l' Addition des Variable Aleatoires. Paris: Gauthier-Villars; 1937; Kintchine AY, Levy P. CR Acad Sci (Paris) 1936;202:374.
- [17] El Naschie M. Chaos, Solitons & Fractals 2003;18:401-20, and included references.
- [18] Goldfain E. Chaos, Solitons & Fractals 2003;20:427-35.
- [19] Harwit M. The Growth of Astrophysical Understanding. in Physics Today, 2003;38.
- [20] Long JC et al. Nature 2003;421:922.
- [21] Zee A. Quantum field theory in a nutshell. Princeton University Press; 2003.
- [22] Calmet X, Wohlgenannt M. Phys Rev D 2003;68:025016, and included references.
- [23] El Naschie M. Chaos, Solitons & Fractals 2002;13:1935–45.
- [24] Ryder LH. Quantum field theory. Cambridge: Cambridge Univ. Press; 1989.
- [25] Hassani S. Foundations of mathematical physics. Boston: Allyn & Bacon; 1991.
- [26] Zaslavsky GM. Physica D 1994;76:110;Saichev AI, Zaslavsky GM. Chaos 1997;7(4):753.
- [27] Carmona JM, Cortes JL. Phys Rev D 2001;65:025006.
- [28] Cohen AG et al. Phys Rev Lett 1999;82:4971.
- [29] Brunstein R et al. hep-th/0009063.
- [30] Brunstein R et al. Phys Rev D 2002;65:105013.
- [31] Elze HT. arxiv: quant-ph/9/10063.
- [32] Joos E et al. Decoherence and the appearance of a classical world. Heidelberg: Springer Verlag; 1996.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Communications in Nonlinear Science and Numerical Simulation

Communications in Nonlinear Science and Numerical Simulation 12 (2007) 1146-1152

www.elsevier.com/locate/cnsns

Nonlinear behavior of the renormalization group flow and standard model parameters

Ervin Goldfain *

Photonics CoE, Welch Allyn Inc., 4619 Jordan Road, Skaneateles Falls, NY 13153, USA OptiSolve Consulting, 4422 Cleveland Road, Syracuse, NY 13215, USA

Received 31 December 2005; received in revised form 17 February 2006; accepted 17 February 2006 Available online 30 March 2006

Abstract

The standard model for high-energy physics (SM) describes fundamental interactions between subatomic particles down to a distance scale on the order of 10^{-18} m. Despite its widespread acceptance, a consistent and comprehensive understanding of SM parameters is missing. Starting from a less conventional standpoint, our work suggests that the spectrum of particle masses, gauge couplings and fermion mixing angles may be derived from the chaotic regime of the renormalization group flow. In particular, we argue that the observed hierarchies of standard model parameters amount to a series of scaling ratios depending on the Feigenbaum constant. Leading order predictions are shown to agree well with experimental data.

© 2006 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

PACS: 11.10.Hi; 12.15.Ff; 12.60.-i; 12.90.+b

Keywords: Renormalization group flow; Period doubling bifurcations; Feigenbaum scaling; Standard model parameters

1. Introduction

The generation structure of quarks and leptons stands out as one of the most intriguing puzzles of the standard model for particle physics (SM). The conventional formulation of the SM requires 19 free input parameters, among which 12 can be expressed in terms of empirical mass eigenvalues [1]. In addition, there is a set of four inputs determined by the so-called Cabibbo–Kobayashi–Maskawa (CKM) matrix whose structure includes three quark-mixing angles and one CP phase [18,19]. The remaining three parameters are two gauge couplings (α_3 , α_{em}) and the strong CP phase. Recent experiments in neutrino physics have confirmed the existence of neutrino oscillations and masses and have subsequently triggered a host of challenging questions [2–4]. There is a large body of proposed extensions of SM, each of them attempting to resolve some unsatisfactory aspects of the theory while introducing new unknowns. In contrast with the line of thought pursued by

^{*} Address: Photonics CoE, Welch Allyn Inc., 4619 Jordan Road, Skaneateles Falls, NY 13153, USA. Tel.: +1 315 554 4064. *E-mail address:* ervingoldfain@hotmail.com

^{1007-5704/\$ -} see front matter @ 2006 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.cnsns.2006.02.006

these models, our work suggests that the spectrum of particle masses, gauge couplings and fermion mixing angles may be derived from the *chaotic behavior of the renormalization group* (RG) flow. Although predictions are found to match reasonably well experimental observations, we caution that our results are entirely preliminary and a concurrent analysis is needed to confirm or disprove their validity.

The standard procedure for investigating the high-energy domain of any effective field theory is to start from the underlying RG flow equations, identify its fixed points and analyze the asymptotic flow of coupling parameters in the basin of attraction of these points [5]. Taking an alternative approach, we treat the RG flow equation as a generic iterated mapping and evaluate its chaotic regime after a large number of iteration cycles. We conclude that the observed hierarchy of SM parameters amounts to a series of scaling ratios depending on the Feigenbaum constant [27]. Since fermion mass scaling ratios and mixing matrices can be parameterized in terms of the Cabibbo angle [6–8,28], this result supplies a natural connection between the Cabibbo angle and the Feigenbaum constant. Moreover, it is found that the model can accommodate hypothetical generations of both heavy and ultra-light fermions that are expected to emerge beyond the energy range of SM. A representative example in this regard is the fourth SM family neutrino whose detection is anticipated at future linear colliders [9].

The paper is organized in the following way: Section 2 outlines the background of the RG flow equation and derives the asymptotic link between the beta-function and Feigenbaum scaling for a generic effective field theory. The emergence of a hierarchical pattern of observables based on this link is elaborated upon in Section 3 with specifics on SM hierarchies detailed in Section 4. The last three sections include a brief presentation of future extensions, open questions and concluding remarks.

2. Beta-function and Feigenbaum scaling

Following the framework of RG transformations, all physical observables of an effective field theory can be formulated in terms of a finite number of renormalized couplings [10]. These are defined at an arbitrary mass scale μ referred to as a "subtraction point" or "sliding scale". One key result of RG is that any change in the renormalized correlation functions in response to a variation in μ must be compensated by a corresponding change in the renormalized couplings. The outcome of this conjecture is contained in the so-called Callan– Symanzik equation, which reflects how all observables of the theory change (or "flow") with μ . Beta-function of the renormalization group flow is defined by the partial differential equation

$$\beta[g(\mu)] \doteq \mu \frac{\partial g(\mu)}{\partial \mu} \tag{1}$$

The zeroes of the beta-function, generically called fixed points, are of particular interest in the theory of RG flows. Knowledge of the fixed points enables the study of high and low-energy domains of the effective field theory [10,11].

We proceed from these preliminary considerations by introducing the following set of working assumptions:

- 1. The effective field theory contains a single coupling parameter $g = g(\mu)$.
- 2. The asymptotic flow of the coupling parameter toward the fixed point g^* reflects the approach to the highenergy domain of field theory.
- 3. The phase transition associated with the flow $g(\mu) \rightarrow g^*$ is an infinite-order phase transition.

The last two assumptions may be linked to framework of conformal field theories, which are considered well suited for the description of high-energy physics [12–14]. A remarkable feature of infinite-order phase transitions is that the correlation length ξ has an essential singularity at the critical coupling g^* given by

$$\xi \sim \exp(A|g - g^*|^{-\sigma}) \tag{2}$$

in which σ is a critical exponent and A a constant. Such behavior develops when the coupling parameter has a vanishing mass dimension at g^* and the beta-function may be represented as a quadratic function of g [12–14]

E. Goldfain / Communications in Nonlinear Science and Numerical Simulation 12 (2007) 1146–1152

$$\mu \frac{\partial g}{\partial \mu} = cg^2 + \mathcal{O}(g^3) \tag{3}$$

where c is a real-valued coefficient. The discrete analogue of (3) reads

$$g_{n+1} - g_n = \frac{c\Delta\mu}{\mu}g_n^2 + \mathcal{O}(g_n^3) \tag{4}$$

Here *n* is the iteration index and the subtraction point increment $\Delta \mu$ represents a scalar fixed by resolution requirements. Any realistic description of the RG flow in the high-energy domain must take into account statistical fluctuations stemming from the uncertainty principle. Because large fluctuations and non-equilibrium microscopic processes dominate the physics on short time scales, the temporal resolution $\Delta t_n \doteq t_{n+1} - t_n$ is expected to vary as the inverse of time measurement, i.e. $\Delta t_n \sim t_n^{-1}$. It follows that the dimensionless subtraction point entering (4) and defined as $\tilde{\mu} \doteq \mu/c\Delta\mu$ acts as an autonomous control parameter. Following the onset of chaos in quadratic maps through period doubling bifurcations, it can be shown that the transition from a period 2^n super stable orbit to a period 2^{n+1} super stable orbit occurs for a geometrically spaced series of control parameters given by [15]

$$\tilde{\mu}_n - \tilde{\mu}_\infty \sim \delta_2^{-n} \tag{5}$$

where $2^n \gg 1$ and where $\delta_2 \doteq 4.669...$ is the Feigenbaum constant for the quadratic map. From the previous discussion it can be inferred that $\tilde{\mu}_{\infty}$ represents the fixed point of the $\tilde{\mu}_n$ series whose generic term is defined via

$$\tilde{\mu}_n \doteq \frac{\mu}{c\Delta\mu_n} \sim \frac{\mu}{c} t_n^{-1} \tag{6}$$

It is important to emphasize that (5) is frame-independent, in the sense that its form is not affected by changing the subtraction point and its limit $\tilde{\mu}'_n = s\tilde{\mu}_n$, $\tilde{\mu}'_\infty = s\tilde{\mu}_\infty$ with $s \in \{R\}$.

To streamline the derivation and without losing generality, we further assume that a plausible boundary condition in (5) is $\tilde{\mu}_{\infty} \approx 0$. This ansatz may be justified by considering that the RG flow develops over sufficiently large times ($t_n \gg 0$).

The emergence of scaling (5) points out to an important result regarding the asymptotic form of the betafunction. According to the guiding prescription of RG analysis, the evolution of the beta-function may be studied through a sequence of renormalization steps consisting of iterated composition and rescaling operations [15,16]. Let $\tilde{\beta}(g)$ designate the universal Feigenbaum–Cvitanovic function that satisfies the so-called renormalization equation

$$\tilde{\beta}(g) \doteq -\alpha \tilde{\beta} \left(\tilde{\beta} \left(\frac{g}{\alpha} \right) \right)$$
(7)

in which $\alpha \doteq 2.5029...$ After a large number of iteration cycles $(2^n \gg 1)$, the renormalized beta-function $\tilde{\beta}_n(g) \doteq (-\alpha)^n \beta^{(2^n)} (\frac{g}{\alpha^n}, \tilde{\mu}_n)$ approaches $\tilde{\beta}(g)$ according to [15,16]

$$\tilde{\beta}(g) = \lim_{n \to \infty} (-\alpha)^n \beta^{(2^n)} \left(\frac{g}{\alpha^n}, \tilde{\mu}_{\infty}\right)$$
(8)

The renormalized beta-function obeys the recursive relation

$$\tilde{\beta}_{n-1}(g) \doteq -\alpha \tilde{\beta}_n \left(\tilde{\beta}_n \left(\frac{g}{\alpha} \right) \right)$$
(9)

such that

$$\beta_n(g) - \beta(g) \sim \delta_2^{-n} h(g) \tag{10}$$

where h(g) is an analytic function. Moreover, since our focus is the coupling flow in the immediate neighborhood of g^* , where $(g - g^*) \sim O(\varepsilon)$, we may reasonably assume that $\tilde{\beta}(g) \sim O(\varepsilon)$. We arrive at

$$\tilde{\beta}_n(g) \sim \delta_2^{-n} h(g) \tag{11}$$

The above power-law behavior reveals the asymptotic connection between the renormalized beta-function, on the one hand, and Feigenbaum constant on the other. Next sections explore the impact of this result on key observables describing a typical field theoretic framework such as the electroweak model or QCD.

3. Hierarchical pattern of observables

Let Ω be a generic observable of the effective field theory such as mass, gauge coupling or mixing angle. Assuming that the dimension of Ω is d_0 , that is

$$\left[\Omega\right] = \left[\mu\right]^{d_0} \tag{12}$$

we may write, by dimensional analysis [17]

$$\Omega(\mu, g(\mu)) = \mu^{d_0} f_{d_0}(g(\mu))$$
(13)

Constraining the function $f_{d_0}(g(\mu))$ to be independent of the subtraction point yields

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\Omega(\mu, g(\mu))}{\mathrm{d}\mu} = 0 \to f_{d_0}(g(\mu)) \sim \exp\left(-d_0 \int_{g^*}^{g(\mu)} \frac{\mathrm{d}g}{\tilde{\beta}(g)}\right) \tag{14}$$

On account of the RG interpretation previously developed, the dimensionless form of (13) may be written as

$$\Omega_n(\tilde{\mu}_n, g(\tilde{\mu}_n)) \sim \tilde{\mu}_n^{d_0} \exp[-\delta_2^n d_0 F(g(\tilde{\mu}_n), g^*)]$$
(15)

with

$$F(g(\tilde{\mu}_n), g^*) \doteq \int_{g^*}^{g(\tilde{\mu}_n)} \frac{\mathrm{d}g}{h(g)}$$
(16)

The integral (16) may be approximated around $\tilde{\mu}_\infty\approx 0$ as

$$F(g(\tilde{\mu}_n), g^*) \approx \frac{g(\tilde{\mu}_n) - g^*}{h(g^*)} \approx \tilde{\mu}_n \frac{\left|\frac{\partial g}{\partial \tilde{\mu}_n}(0)\right|}{h(g^*)} = \delta_2^{-n} \frac{\left|\frac{\partial g}{\partial \tilde{\mu}_n}(0)\right|}{h(g^*)}$$
(17)

which implies that, for two arbitrary iteration indices,

$$\frac{\Omega_n(\tilde{\mu}_n, g(\tilde{\mu}_n))}{\Omega_m(\tilde{\mu}_m, g(\tilde{\mu}_m))} \sim \delta_2^{(m-n)d_0}$$
(18)

We end this section by noting that $d_0 = 1$ if the observable (13) refers to a mass parameter and $d_0 \sim O(\varepsilon)$ if it refers to a gauge coupling or a mixing angle. The latter property is a direct consequence of (2) which implies that coupling charges behave as marginal parameters in the immediate neighborhood of g^* [12,13]. In this case it is reasonable to assume that, on a first-order basis, the index difference $(m - n)d_0$ for $m, n \gg 1$ may be rounded off to the closest integer.

4. Scaling hierarchies of standard model parameters

A remarkable yet unexplained property of SM parameters is that they appear to be organized in a hierarchical fashion. The scaling ratio of two parameters in the hierarchy depends on integer powers of the Cabibbo angle whose experimental best-fit value is $\theta_C = 12.9-13^{\circ}$ [23]. It is customary to work with the Cabibbo angle in the equivalent trigonometric form, that is, $\lambda \doteq \sin\theta_C = 0.223-0.225$. Let us assume that the set of charged lepton and current-quark masses, evaluated at an arbitrary energy scale, are denoted by the vector M_I and matrix M_q , respectively

$$M_{l} \doteq \begin{bmatrix} m_{e} & m_{\mu} & m_{\tau} \end{bmatrix} \quad M_{q} \doteq \begin{bmatrix} m_{u} & m_{d} \\ m_{c} & m_{s} \\ m_{t} & m_{b} \end{bmatrix}$$
(19)

The explicit set of scaling ratios in (19) is given by [6–8,21,26]:

$$\frac{m_e}{m_{\mu}} \sim \lambda^4 \quad \frac{m_{\mu}}{m_{\tau}} \sim \lambda^2$$

$$\frac{m_c}{m_t} \sim \lambda^4 \quad \frac{m_s}{m_b} \sim \lambda^2$$

$$\frac{m_u}{m_t} \sim \lambda^8 \quad \frac{m_d}{m_b} \sim \lambda^4$$
(20)

E. Goldfain / Communications in Nonlinear Science and Numerical Simulation 12 (2007) 1146–1152

We note that the pattern of charged fermion masses depends on integer powers of λ^2 . Here, quark masses are arranged in two columns each involving three independent flavors, namely (u, c, t) and (d, s, b).

It is pertinent to bring up at this point the issue of fermion mixing and its parameterization. As it is known, in the SM quark mass eigenstates are different from their weak eigenstates partners and the CKM matrix, denoted by V_{CKM} , relates these two bases by operating on the (-1/3) mass states (d, s, b) [18,19]:

$$\begin{bmatrix} d'\\s'\\b' \end{bmatrix} = V_{\rm CKM} \begin{bmatrix} d\\s\\b \end{bmatrix}$$
(21)

In terms of individual mixing components, we have

1150

$$V_{\rm CKM} \doteq \begin{bmatrix} V_{ud} & V_{us} & V_{ub} \\ V_{cd} & V_{cs} & V_{cb} \\ V_{td} & V_{ts} & V_{tb} \end{bmatrix}$$
(22)

Unlike (20), the CKM matrix expressed using the so-called Wolfenstein parameterization [20] is approximated to the leading order by entries dependent on integer powers of λ^1

$$V_{\rm CKM} \approx \begin{vmatrix} 1 & \lambda & \lambda^3 \\ -\lambda & 1 & \lambda^2 \\ \lambda^3 & -\lambda^2 & 1 \end{vmatrix}$$
(23)

A similar matrix structure may be assigned to the recently discussed set of operators describing mixing in the lepton sector [21,22]. Specifically, if the neutrino mass matrix m_v and the charged lepton mass matrix m_l are diagonalized through the following transformations

$$m_{\nu} \doteq U_{\nu} m_{\nu}^{\text{diag}} U_{\nu}^{T}$$

$$m_{l} \doteq U_{L} m_{l}^{\text{diag}} U_{R}^{+}$$
(24)

then it can be shown that neutrino mixing, defined by the so-called Pontercovo-Maki-Nakagawa-Sakata (PMNS) matrix, may be represented as

$$U_{\rm PMNS} = U_L^+ U_\nu \tag{25}$$

In one plausible scenario, one finds [21]

-

$$m_{l}m_{l}^{+} \sim m_{\tau}^{2} \begin{vmatrix} \lambda^{6} & \lambda^{5} & \lambda^{3} \\ \lambda^{5} & \lambda^{4} & \lambda^{2} \\ \lambda^{3} & \lambda^{2} & 1 \end{vmatrix}$$

$$U_{L}m_{l}^{\text{diag}}U_{L}^{T} \sim m_{\tau} \begin{vmatrix} \lambda^{4} & \lambda^{3} & \lambda^{3} \\ \lambda^{3} & \lambda^{2} & \lambda^{2} \\ \lambda^{3} & \lambda^{2} & 1 \end{vmatrix}$$

$$(26)$$

The standard parameterization of the PMNS matrix is formulated with the help of three mixing angles $(\theta_{12}, \theta_{23}, \theta_{13})$. According to the above scenario, we have

$$\sin \theta_{12} = \lambda$$

$$\sin \theta_{13} = A\lambda^3$$

$$\sin \theta_{23} = B\lambda^2$$
(27)

where A, B are positive numbers of order unity.

¹ To simplify the argument, CP-violating phases are neglected here.

Finally, it is instructive to recall that SM coupling charges and weak boson masses satisfy the following scaling pattern [23]

$$\left(\frac{e}{g_2}\right)^2 \sim \lambda_{\rm W} \quad \left(\frac{e}{g_{3s}}\right)^2 \sim \lambda_{\rm W}^2$$

$$\left(\frac{M_{\rm W}}{M_Z}\right)^2 \sim 1 - \lambda_{\rm W}$$

$$(28)$$

Here, $e^2 \doteq 4\pi\alpha_{\rm em}$, $g_2^2 \doteq 4\pi\alpha_2$, $g_{3s}^2 \doteq 4\pi\alpha_{3s}$ stand for the electromagnetic, weak and strong coupling charges and $\lambda_{\rm W}$ is the "sine" squared of the Weinberg angle, whose magnitude is nearly identical to the nominal value of the Cabibbo angle ($\lambda_{\rm W} \doteq \sin^2 \theta_{\rm W} = 0.229$) [10,23].

As stated at the beginning of this section, relationships (19)–(28) provide ample analytical evidence that SM parameters display a hierarchical dependence on the Cabibbo angle. This observation is consistent with (18) and strongly suggests a direct connection between λ and δ_2 . In fact

$$\lambda \sim \delta_2^{-1} = 0.214\dots$$
(29)

which leads one to conclude that the Feigenbaum constant for the quadratic map plays a central role in the observed patterns of particle masses, gauge couplings and fermion mixing angles.²

5. Future extensions

As it is known, the SM does not fix the number of fermion families. For example, current data allow for additional generations of leptons and quarks if the mass of the fourth family neutrino is larger than $M_Z/2$ [9]. At the other end of the energy scale, various studies on neutrinoless double beta-decay processes point to a spectrum of ultra-light neutrinos with masses well below the eV threshold [25]. As the ladder-like pattern of SM parameters encoded in (18) and (19) is not bounded by fixed limits on the index difference $(n - m)d_0$, one may infer that new fermion generations arise beyond what is known today. The object of this section is to formulate first-order predictions on the hypothetical ultra-light and super-heavy fermion masses that may be observed in future experiments. The most straightforward extrapolation of (20) on account of (29) gives

$$m_{l4} \sim m_{v_e} \delta_2^{-2} < 4.6 \times 10^{-2} \text{ eV}$$

$$m_{l5} \sim m_\tau \delta_2^2 = 38.76 \text{ GeV}$$

$$m_{q4} \sim m_u \delta_2^{-2} = 0.107 \text{ eV}$$

$$m_{a5} \sim m_t \delta_2^2 = 3.95 \text{ TeV}$$
(30)

Here, l4, q4 (l5, q5) denote the ultra-light (super-heavy) families of leptons and quarks, respectively, whereas $m_{v_e}(< 1 \text{ eV})$, m_{τ} , m_u , m_t are best-fit fermion masses evaluated at the Z boson scale [9,26]. We find that these numbers agree well with predictions derived from the models developed in [9,25].

6. Open questions

The primary goal of this work was to present arguments that support an unexpected connection between the Feigenbaum scaling and RG, on the one hand, and SM hierarchies, on the other. Needles to say, our study does not provide a rigorous and comprehensive account of the physics underpinning the generation structure of the SM. Many questions remain open. Their satisfactory resolution requires a more extensive and refined plan of attack as well as a wealth of currently unavailable experimental data. Although a complete list of questions is not a practical option, we believe that among the most pressing issues that need to be dealt with are the following:

 $^{^{2}}$ A similar scenario is analyzed in [24] where mass generation in the lepton sector arises from the dissipative chaotic dynamics of the basic weak boson-fermion system.

- 1. What explains the small numerical difference $\lambda \delta_2^{-1} \approx 9 \times 10^{-3}$? Are contributions related to higher nonlinear terms in (3) and (4) relevant to this context?
- 2. Why is the mass hierarchy dependent on integer powers of δ_2^{-2} whereas the gauge coupling and mixing angle hierarchy depend on integer powers of δ_2^{-1} ?
- 3. What mechanism is responsible for maintaining the parameter hierarchy in the transition from the highenergy domain of field theory to the low-energy domain of the SM?

7. Concluding remarks

We have suggested that the chaotic behavior of the RG flow offers valuable insights into the generation puzzle of the SM. In particular, it was argued that the observed hierarchies of standard model parameters amount to a series of scaling ratios depending on the Feigenbaum constant. A direct link was found between this constant and the Cabibbo angle. Future generations of "would-be" heavy and ultra-light fermions may be extrapolated using this dynamical model.

References

- [1] Dicus DA, He H-J. Scales of fermion mass generation and electroweak symmetry breaking. Phys Rev D 2005;71:093009-1–093009-36.
- [2] Ashie Y et al. Measurement of atmospheric neutrino oscillation parameters by Super-Kamiokande I. Phys Rev D 2005;71:112005-1–112005-35.
- [3] Ahmed QR et al. Measurement of day and night neutrino energy spectra at SNO and constraints on neutrino mixing parameters. Phys Rev Lett 2002;89:011302-1–2-5.
- [4] Aliu E et al. Evidence for muon neutrino oscillation in accelerator-based experiment. Phys Rev Lett 2005;94:2081802-1-2081802-10.
- [5] Goldenfeld N. Lectures on phase transitions and the renormalization group. Perseus Publishing; 1992.
- [6] Cocolicchio D, Viggiano M. The exact parameterization of the neutrino mixing. Available from arxiv:hep-ph/9906228.
- [7] Jarlskog C. The quark mixing matrix with manifest Cabibbo substructure and an angle of the unitarity triangle as one of its parameters. Available from arxiv:hep-ph/0503199.
- [8] Nir Y, Shadmi Y. The importance of being Majorana: neutrino versus charged fermions in flavor models. Available from jhep.sissa.it/ archive/papers/jhep112004055.pdf.
- [9] Ciftci AK, Ciftci R, Sultansoy S. Fourth standard model family neutrino at future linear colliders. Phys Rev D 2005;72:053006-1–6-8.
- [10] Weinberg S. The quantum theory of fields. Cambridge University Press; 2001.
- [11] Shirkov DV. Evolution of the Bogoliubov renormalization group. Available from http://arxiv.org/abs/hep-th/9909024.
- [12] Itoi C, Mukaida H. Renormalization group for renormalization-group equations toward the universality classification of infiniteorder phase transitions. Available from arxiv:cond-mat/9711308.
- [13] Itoi C, Kato M. Extended massless phase and the Haldane phase in a spin-1 isotropic antiferromagnetic chain. Phys Rev B 1997; 55:8295.
- [14] Ginsperg P. Applied conformal field theory, Les Houches, session XLIX, 1988.
- [15] Creswick RJ, Farach HA, Poole Jr CP. Introduction to renormalization group methods in physics. Wiley-Interscience Publications; 1992.
- [16] Falconer KJ. The geometry of fractal sets. Cambridge University Press; 1985.
- [17] Chuletario S. Usefulness of the renormalization group. Available from http://lattice.ft.uam.es/clases/tca/material/Chuletario6.pdf.
- [18] Battaglia M et al. The CKM matrix and the unitarity triangle. Available from http://arxiv.org/abs/hep-ph/0304132.
- [19] Buras AJ. CKM matrix: present and future. Available from http://arxiv.org/abs/hep-ph/9711217.
- [20] Wolfenstein L. Parameterization of the Kobayashi-Maskawa matrix. Phys Rev Lett 1983;51:1945-7.
- [21] Petcov ST, Rodejohann W. Flavor symmetry $L_e L_{\mu} L_{\tau}$, atmospheric neutrino mixing, and CP violation in the lepton sector. Phys Rev D 2005;71:073002-1–073002-14.
- [22] Rodejohann W. A parameterization for the neutrino mixing matrix. Phys Rev D 2004;69:033005-1-033005-16.
- [23] Kaku M. Quantum field theory, a modern introduction. Oxford University Press; 1993.
- [24] Goldfain E. Derivation of lepton masses from the chaotic regime of the linear σ -model. Chaos, Solitons Fractals 2002;14:1331–40.
- [25] Bezrukov F. Neutrino minimal standard model predictions for neutrinoless double beta decay. Phys Rev D 2005;72:071303-R-1–3-R-3.
- [26] Antusch S. The running of neutrino masses, lepton mixings and CP phases. Available from http://www.ft.uam.es/personal/antusch/ files/antusch-phd.pdf.
- [27] Goldfain E. Chaotic behavior of the renormalization group flow and standard model parameters, paper H12.00007, American Physical Society meeting, 2006.
- [28] Ramond P. Neutrinos: windows to Planck physics. Available from http://arxiv.org/hep-ph/0401001.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Communications in Nonlinear Science and Numerical Simulation

Communications in Nonlinear Science and Numerical Simulation 14 (2009) 1431-1438

www.elsevier.com/locate/cnsns

On the asymptotic transition to complexity in quantum chromodynamics

Ervin Goldfain*

Photonics Center of Excellence, Welch Allyn Inc., 4619 Jordan Road, P.O. Box 187, Skaneateles Falls, NY 13153-4064, United States OptiSolve Consulting, 4422 Cleveland Road, Syracuse, NY 13215, United States

> Received 11 June 2007; received in revised form 9 January 2008; accepted 10 January 2008 Available online 18 January 2008

Abstract

Quantum chromodynamics (QCD) is a renormalizable gauge theory that successfully describes the fundamental interaction of quarks and gluons. The rich dynamical content of QCD is manifest, for example, in the spectroscopy of complex hadrons or the emergence of quark–gluon plasma. There is a fair amount of uncertainty regarding the behavior of perturbative QCD in the infrared and far ultraviolet regions. Our work explores these two domains of QCD using non-linear dynamics and complexity theory. We find that local bifurcations of the renormalization flow destabilize asymptotic freedom and induce a steady transition to chaos in the far ultraviolet limit. We also conjecture that, in the infrared region, dissipative non-linearity of the renormalization flow supplies a natural mechanism for confinement. © 2008 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

PACS: 89.75.Fb; 05.45.Ac; 12.38.Lg; 12.38.Mh

Keywords: Complex dynamics; Transition to chaos; Quantum chromodynamics; Quark-gluon plasma

1. Introduction and motivation

As a building block of the Standard Model for particle physics, QCD is a successful gauge theory describing the coupling of quarks and gluons [1–4]. It has several defining features, namely: (a) asymptotic freedom (the interaction becomes weaker at short distances and it can be determined from perturbation theory), (b) around 200 MeV, confinement sets in and the particle spectrum consists exclusively of color neutral states, (c) QCD exhibits spontaneous chiral symmetry breaking due to non-vanishing quark masses [1–4], (d) at high temperature or high density, QCD is conjectured to sustain phase transitions leading to quark–gluon plasma and the restoration of chiral symmetry [4]. Due to asymptotic freedom, perturbative QCD is reasonably effective in the high-energy limit but fails to provide accurate predictions in the infrared limit, where the theory becomes strongly coupled [1–5]. The infrared regime of QCD is a typical example where non-perturbative methods

^{*} Address: Photonics Center of Excellence, Welch Allyn Inc., 4619 Jordan Road, P.O. Box 187, Skaneateles Falls, NY 13153-4064, United States. Tel.: +1 315 469 0178.

E-mail addresses: ervingoldfain@gmail.com, goldfaine@welchallyn.com

^{1007-5704/\$ -} see front matter \odot 2008 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.cnsns.2008.01.004

become compelling. Since closed-form solutions of field theory are, in general, difficult to extract and manage, lattice-based computations and numerical approximations are among the most frequently used techniques for investigation [2,3]. Less developed are methods based on non-linear analysis and dynamical systems theory, whereby knowledge of explicit solutions is no longer critical. From this standpoint, it can be stated that non-linear dynamics offers an attractive theoretical laboratory for probing the asymptotic dynamics of QCD. With regard to field theory in general, this is also true near any boundary of the stability region where randomness becomes the driving factor [6] and the emergence of bifurcations and complex behavior is a likely occurrence. It is in this region where traditional procedures are questionable and one usually appeals instead to alternative methods such as the ones provided by the renormalization group (RG) [7]. Starting from these considerations, our goal is to develop a first-order analysis of the RG flow near the boundary of the stability region. The sustained contribution of perturbations to the RG flow is modeled as follows: (a) since QCD is asymptotically free, we assume that perturbations develop progressively but smoothly in the ultraviolet region. (b) in contrast, because QCD becomes strongly coupled in the infrared, we assume that perturbations are best modeled here as random fluctuations of Levy type. We caution that our work has an introductory nature and does not claim to provide a comprehensive and rigorous coverage of the topic. As the contribution of fluctuations and non-linearities becomes increasingly predominant in the asymptotic regime of QCD, a complete analysis needs to carefully account for a variety of factors that are deliberately left out in our derivation.

The paper is organized according to the following plan: Section 2 examines the QCD dynamics in the far ultraviolet region; the impact of Levy noise on the mechanism of infrared confinement is outlined in Section 3. The last section contains a brief summary of results. Appendix A includes a condensed presentation of RG equations in the context of perturbative QCD.

2. QCD dynamics in the far ultraviolet region

2.1. Perturbed RG flow equations

We start from the RG equations for coupling strength and quark masses [8]

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\alpha_{\mathrm{s}}}{\mathrm{d}t} \approx -b_0(n)\alpha_{\mathrm{s}}^2 - b_1(n)\alpha_{\mathrm{s}}^3$$

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}m}{\mathrm{d}t} \approx -m[c_0(n)\alpha_{\mathrm{s}} + c_1(n)\alpha_{\mathrm{s}}^2 + c_2(n)\alpha_{\mathrm{s}}^3] + \mathrm{NP}$$
(1)

Here, n stands for the number of quark flavors and

$$t = \ln\left(\frac{\Lambda}{\Lambda_0}\right) \tag{2}$$

represents the sliding scale, where the momentum cutoff Λ is normalized to an arbitrary reference value Λ_0 such as the strong interaction scale ($\Lambda_0 \cong 220$ MeV). The non-perturbative term in the mass flow is denoted by NP and is typically presumed to vanish faster than any power of the coupling [9]. In the presence of generic perturbations (1) becomes

$$\frac{d\alpha_{\rm s}}{dt} \approx -b_0(n)\alpha_{\rm s}^2 - b_1(n)\alpha_{\rm s}^3 + \Phi(\alpha_{\rm s})
\frac{dm}{dt} \approx -m[c_0(n)\alpha_{\rm s} + c_1(n)\alpha_{\rm s}^2 + c_2(n)\alpha_{\rm s}^3] + \Psi(m)$$
(3)

Let us assume that the two additive contributions may be expanded in power series of a small parameter that defines the perturbation amplitude ($\varepsilon \ll 1$)

$$\Phi(\alpha_{s}) = \Phi_{0}(\alpha_{s}) + \varepsilon \Phi_{1}(\alpha_{s}) + \varepsilon^{2} \Phi_{2}(\alpha_{s}) + \cdots
\Psi(m) = \Psi_{0}(m) + \varepsilon \Psi_{1}(m) + \varepsilon^{2} \Psi_{2}(m) + \cdots$$
(4)

For simplicity, we take

E. Goldfain / Communications in Nonlinear Science and Numerical Simulation 14 (2009) 1431–1438

$$\Phi_n(\alpha_s) = \Psi_n(m) = 0, \quad \text{if } n \neq 1
\Phi_1(\alpha_s) = \alpha_s^2, \quad \Psi_1(m) = -m$$
(5)

(3) is thereby well approximated by

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\alpha_{\mathrm{s}}}{\mathrm{d}t} \approx -[b_0(n) + \varepsilon]\alpha_{\mathrm{s}}^2 - b_1(n)\alpha_{\mathrm{s}}^3 \equiv -b_\varepsilon(n)\alpha_{\mathrm{s}}^2 - b_1(n)\alpha_{\mathrm{s}}^3 \tag{6a}$$

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}m}{\mathrm{d}m} \approx w[\alpha + \alpha_{\mathrm{s}}(n)\alpha_{\mathrm{s}}^2 + \alpha_{\mathrm{s}}(n)\alpha_{\mathrm{s}}^3] \tag{6b}$$

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}m}{\mathrm{d}t} \approx -m \left[\varepsilon + c_0(n)\alpha_{\mathrm{s}} + c_1(n)\alpha_{\mathrm{s}}^2 + c_2(n)\alpha_{\mathrm{s}}^3\right] \tag{6b}$$

in which

$$b_{\varepsilon}(n) = b_0(n) + \varepsilon \tag{7}$$

2.2. Linear stability analysis

Apart from the trivial solution represented by the fixed point $FP_0 = [\alpha_s^* = 0, m^* = 0]$, the non-trivial fixed point of (6a) is given by $FP = [\alpha_s^* = -(b_{\epsilon}/b_1), m^* = 0]$. Linearizing around FP_0 , we find that the Lyapunov exponent is vanishing regardless of the numerical value of coefficients b_0 , b_1 and, implicitly, regardless of the number of flavors *n*. On the other hand, the Lyapunov exponents corresponding to FP are [10,11]

$$\lambda_{1,2} = \frac{\tau \pm \sqrt{\tau^2 - 4\Lambda}}{2} \tag{8}$$

in which

$$\tau = -\frac{b_{\epsilon}^{2}}{b_{1}} + \epsilon + \frac{c_{0}b_{\epsilon}}{b_{1}} - \frac{c_{1}b_{\epsilon}^{2}}{b_{1}^{2}} + \frac{c_{2}b_{\epsilon}^{3}}{b_{1}^{3}}$$

$$\Delta = -\frac{b_{\epsilon}^{2}}{b_{1}} \left(\epsilon + \frac{c_{0}b_{\epsilon}}{b_{1}} - \frac{c_{1}b_{\epsilon}^{2}}{b_{1}^{2}} + \frac{c_{2}b_{\epsilon}^{3}}{b_{1}^{3}} \right)$$
(9a)

To streamline the analysis, we next assume that all terms and factors dependent on the "c" coefficients are negligible. Following the general guidelines of non-linear analysis, we are interested in the so-called borderline cases (i.e. centers, non-isolated fixed points, degenerate nodes and stars). These are determined by the numerical value of the characteristic parameter [11]

$$R = \tau^2 - 4\Delta \tag{9b}$$

Fig. 1 graphs the variation of *R* as a function of *n* as *R* approaches zero (red = 0.1, blue = 0.05, black = 0.001). It confirms that the dynamics of the RG flow becomes borderline as the number of quark flavors approaches $n_{\rm cr} = 16$ and QCD reaches the point of losing its asymptotic freedom [12].

2.3. Bifurcation of the fixed point

We now wish to study the behavior of the non-trivial FP under the influence of a steadily increasing perturbation whose amplitude augments the noise terms previously considered ($\varepsilon \ll 1$). The origin of this perturbation may be related to thermal fluctuations (if the analysis is carried out at a high temperature setting) or to the presence of a large number of high-order diagrams associated with the ultraviolet limit. To this end, let us add an infinite series of terms to the coupling flow equation (6a), that is

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\alpha_{\mathrm{s}}}{\mathrm{d}t} \approx -b_{\varepsilon}(n)\alpha_{\mathrm{s}}^{2} - b_{1}(n)\alpha_{\mathrm{s}}^{3} + \sum_{i=0}^{\infty}\kappa_{i}(n)\alpha_{\mathrm{s}}^{i} \tag{10}$$

We assume next that only the first two terms in the series (10) are non-vanishing and weakly dependent on n. Following the notation of [10], we obtain



Fig. 1. Characteristic parameter ξ versus the number of quark flavors *n*.

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\alpha_{\mathrm{s}}}{\mathrm{d}t} \approx \kappa_{1} + \alpha_{\mathrm{s}}(\kappa_{2} + \Lambda_{1}) + \Lambda_{2}\alpha_{\mathrm{s}}^{2} + \Lambda_{3}\alpha_{\mathrm{s}}^{3} \tag{11}$$

Here, $\Lambda_{1,2,3}$ denote the so-called Lyapunov values which are, respectively, given by $\Lambda_1 = -\frac{6b_x^2}{b_1}$, $\Lambda_2 = b_z$, $\Lambda_3 = -b_1$. The FP is stable since $\Lambda_3 < 0$. The set of scalars $\kappa_{1,2}$ denote the governing parameters and measure the deviation of an arbitrary point in parameter space from origin ($\kappa_1 = 0, \kappa_2 = 0$). Under these circumstances, the bifurcation curve has a cusp profile and is represented by [10,11]

$$\kappa_1 = \frac{\pm 2\kappa_2 \sqrt{|\kappa_2/(-b_1)|}}{3\sqrt{3}} + \cdots, \quad \kappa_2(-b_1) < 0$$
(12)

Fig. 2 plots the variation of the Lyapunov values as a function of *n*. Fig. 3 shows the emergence of a cusp bifurcation in the (κ_1, κ_2) plane when b_1 is computed at n = 6 (see (A2)). Depending on the location of the



Fig. 2. Lyapunov values versus the number of quark flavors *n*.



Fig. 3. Cusp bifurcation in the (κ_1, κ_2) plane.

governing parameters in the (κ_1, κ_2) plane, the stable FP stays unchanged or splits into two or three equilibria. It follows that, near the non-trivial FP, irregular behavior of the coupling flow is likely to develop through a progressive cascade of cusp bifurcations.

3. Levy noise as possible mechanism for confinement

As noted in the first section, the infrared limit is characterized by large fluctuations of the RG flow induced by the strong-coupling regime of QCD. To preserve maximum generality of our approach and using arguments related to the ubiquity of Levy flights in stochastic transport processes [13], we model these fluctuations with the help of the generalized Langevin equation [14]

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\alpha_{\mathrm{s}}}{\mathrm{d}t} = \eta(\alpha_{\mathrm{s}})\alpha_{\mathrm{s}} + \Gamma_{\alpha}(t) \tag{13}$$

Here, $\Gamma_{\alpha}(t)$ represents α -stable Levy noise and the dissipative non-linearity $\eta(\alpha_s)$ is given by

$$\eta(\alpha_{\rm s}) = -b_{\varepsilon}(n)\alpha_{\rm s} - b_1(n)\alpha_{\rm s}^2 \tag{14}$$

Under these conditions, the asymptotic probability distribution function for $\alpha_s \gg 1$ is given by [14]

$$p(r, \alpha_{\rm s}) \propto \frac{1}{b_r |\alpha_{\rm s}|^{\sigma}} \tag{15}$$

in which $b_r > 0$ stands for the *r*th order coefficient of (14) and

$$\sigma = 1 + r + \alpha \tag{16}$$

It follows that $\langle \alpha_s^2 \rangle$ stays finite if $r > r_{cr} = 2 - \alpha$, that is, r > 0 if $\alpha = 2$ and r > 2 if $\alpha = 0$. We conclude that the coupling flow driven by stable Levy noise remains confined if its expansion is taken at least to the second loop approximation. This ansatz suggests a plausible mechanism for confinement in the IR region of QCD: instead of reaching a regime of unbounded variations in interaction amplitude, higher order radiative corrections generated from $\eta(\alpha_s)$ dissipate the energy imparted by Levy noise. As a result, quarks and gluons form bounded states with a nearly constant average coupling strength.

It is instructive to note that this conjecture fits well various lattice studies and phenomenological theories of quark–antiquark $(q\bar{q})$ interaction, such as the Richardson or Cornell models [2,3]. For example, the Cornell model assumes that the long-range part of the static $q\bar{q}$ potential has the form

E. Goldfain/Communications in Nonlinear Science and Numerical Simulation 14 (2009) 1431–1438

$$V(r) = br - \frac{a}{r} + V_0 \tag{17}$$

where a, b, V_0 are constants. The coefficient b is commonly referred to as the "string tension" by comparison with string theories of hadrons. The linear term of this potential (br) dominates the interaction at large distances where it models a color-flux tube of constant energy density.

It is also instructive to remark that, in a certain sense, the mechanism of confinement produced by Levy fluctuations is similar to the phenomenon of Anderson localization in which quantum waves become confined in random potentials [15].

We close this section with an evaluation on how statistical moments of coupling strengths and quark masses depend on the Levy parameter α . For this purpose, it is sufficient to solve (1) in closed-form and use the asymptotic probability distribution function (15) to determine the expectations and variances for coupling



Fig. 4. QCD coupling strength and its variance versus α (log scale).



Fig. 5. Quark mass and its variance versus α (log scale).

1437

strength and mass. Fig. 4 plots the expectation of the coupling strength $(M_1\alpha_s)$ along with its variance (Var α_s) as functions of the Levy index α , whereas Fig. 5 plots the same behavior for the quark mass. The number of quark flavors is assumed to be n = 6 in both cases. It is seen that the increase of variances with the Levy parameter is significantly faster than the corresponding increase of expectation values.

4. Summary and discussion

Using the analytical tools provided by non-linear dynamics and complexity theory, we have examined the effect of the renormalization flow in the asymptotic regions of QCD. It was found that the steady addition of perturbations destabilizes asymptotic freedom and induces transition to chaos in the far ultraviolet limit. At the other end of the energy scale, dissipative non-linearity of the renormalization flow provides a plausible mechanism for confinement.

In Section 1, we pointed out the introductory nature of our treatment. QCD is a rich and complex theory that has the potential of exhibiting a large spectrum of behaviors (see, for instance [24,25]). It is apparent that the outcome of the set of coupled non-linear equations describing the RG flow depends strongly on how the model is formulated and how the boundary conditions are set. To be specific,

- (1) There are two dependent control parameters of the RG flow: the momentum scale Λ (or, equivalently, the dimensional regularization parameter $\varepsilon = 4 d$ [1,7]) and the number of fermion flavors $n = n(\Lambda) = n(t)$. Obviously, a simplified setting is to assume $n = n(\Lambda) = n(t)$ is a slowly varying function and carry the analysis with a single control parameter defining the energy scale at which the physics is probed.
- (2) The dimensionality of the flow plays a critical role: a planar system of equations (such as the one for coupling and masses) does not lead to deterministic chaos. In contrast, the 3D system containing the flow of fields and mixing angles leads to a much richer spectrum of behaviors, including deterministic chaos.
- (3) Addition of statistical perturbations leads to systems of coupled stochastic non-linear equations. These have, in general, a complex array of possible dynamical patterns. In this case all parameters (fields, masses, mixing angles, correlation functions) become random variables and their behavior needs to be formulated in terms of probability distribution functions. The ability to formulate the correct noise model is critically important. For convenience, we have limited the discussion to the generic case of Levy noise.
- (4) Finally, the presence of long-range interactions in space and time (extended spatial coupling, time-memory, delayed interactions) yields a problem with coupled multiple time-scales. The proper way to deal with this setting is to use the tools offered by fractional calculus and fractional dynamics [16–23] or, equivalently, with the formalism of non-extensive statistical physics [13].

Appendix A

Within the framework of perturbative QCD, the flow of the effective coupling strength with the sliding energy scale μ is governed by the beta-function:

$$\mu \frac{\partial \alpha_{\rm s}}{\partial \mu} = \beta(\alpha_{\rm s}) \tag{A1}$$

where

$$\beta(\alpha_{\rm s}) = -b_0 \alpha_{\rm s}^2 - b_1 \alpha_{\rm s}^3 - b_2 \alpha_{\rm s}^4 + O(\alpha_{\rm s}^5)$$

$$b_0 = \frac{11 - \frac{2}{3}n}{2\pi}, \quad b_1 = \frac{51 - \frac{19}{3}n}{4\pi^2}, \quad b_2 = \frac{2857 - \frac{5033}{9}n + \frac{325}{27}n^2}{64\pi^3}$$
(A2)

and *n* is the effective number of quark flavors [8]. Likewise, the scale dependence of a running quark mass $m(\mu)$ is represented by

$$\mu \frac{\mathrm{d}m(\mu)}{\mathrm{d}\mu} = -\gamma(\alpha_{\rm s})m(\mu) \tag{A3}$$

in which

$$\gamma(\alpha_{\rm s}) = c_0 \alpha_{\rm s} + c_1 \alpha_{\rm s}^2 + c_2 \alpha_{\rm s}^3 + \mathcal{O}(\alpha_{\rm s}^4)$$

$$c_0 = \frac{2}{\pi}, \quad c_1 = \frac{\frac{101}{12} - \frac{5}{18}n}{\pi^2}, \quad c_2 = \frac{1}{32\pi^3} \left[1249 - \left(\frac{2216}{27} + \frac{160}{3}\varsigma(3)\right)n - \frac{140}{81}n^2 \right]$$
(A4)

References

[1] Altarelli G. The standard model of particle physics. Encyclopedia of mathematical physics. Elsevier; 2005. Available from: arxiv:hepph/0510281:

Itzykson C, Zuber JB. Quantum field theory. McGraw-Hill; 1980.

- [2] Donoghue JF, Golowich E, Holstein BR. Dynamics of the standard model. Cambridge University Press; 1992van Baal P. Course notes on quantum field theory. Available from: http://www.lorentz.leidenuniv.nl/vanbaal/FT/extract.pdf.
- [3] See e. g. Berges J. Phys Rev D 1999;59:034010.
- [4] See e. g. Kohyama H, Niegawa A. Prog Theor Phys 2006;115(1):73-88.
- [5] Frasca M. Phys Rev D 2006;73:027701.
- [6] Loechner M. Noise sustained patterns. World Scientific; 2003; Morozov A, Niemi AJ. Nucl Phys B 2003;666:311-36.
- [7] Creswick RJ, Farach HA, Poole Jr CP. Introduction to renormalization group methods in physics. Wiley-Interscience Publications; 1992

Zinn-Justin J. Quantum field theory and critical phenomena. Clarendon Press; 2002;

Amit DJ. Field theory, the renormalization group, and critical phenomena. World Scientific; 2005.

- [8] Fusaoka H. Phys Rev D 1998:57:3986-4001.
- [9] Creutz M. Phys Rev Lett 2004;92:162003.
- [10] Shilnikov LP et al. Methods of qualitative theory in nonlinear dynamics. World Scientific; 2001.
- [11] Strogatz SH. Nonlinear dynamics and chaos. Perseum Books Group; 2001.
- [12] See e.g. http://www.pnas.org/cgi/content/short/102/26/9099.
- [13] Tsallis C et al. Phys Rev Lett 1995;75(20):3589.
- [14] Chechkin AV, Gonchar VY. Fundamentals of levy flights. In: Fractals, diffusion and relaxation in disordered complex systems, vol. 133 (Part B): 2006.
- [15] See e. g. http://www.newton.cam.ac.uk/programmes/MPA/MPAladybird.pdf.
- [16] West BJ, Bologna M, Grigolini P. Physics of fractal operators. Springer; 2003.
- [17] Tarasov VE, Zaslavsky GM. Dynamics with low-level fractionality. Available from: arxiv:physics/0511138.
- [18] Tarasov VE. J Phys A 2005;38:265929-43.
- [19] Tarasov VE, Zaslavsky GM. Fractional dynamics of coupled oscillators with long-range interaction. Available from: arxiv:nlin.PS/ 0512013.
- [20] Laskin N, Zaslavsky GM. Nonlinear fractional dynamics on a lattice with long range interactions. Available from: arxiv:nlin.SI/ 0512010.
- [21] Tarasov VE, Zaslavsky GM. Fractional Ginzburg-Landau equation for fractal media. Available from: arxiv:physics/0511144.
- [22] Goldfain E. Fractional dynamics and the TeV regime of field theory. doi:10.1016/j.cnsns.2006.06.001.
- [23] Goldfain E. Fractional dynamics and the standard model for particle physics. doi:10.1016/j.cnsns.2006.12.007.
- [24] Atkinson D, Johnson PW. Bifurcation of the quark self-energy: infrared and ultraviolet cutoffs. Phys Rev D 1987;35:1943-6.
- [25] Chang LN, Chang NP. Bifurcation and dynamical symmetry breaking in a renormalization-group-improved field theory. Phys Rev Lett 1985;54:2407-9.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



CHAOS SOLITONS & FRACTALS

Chaos, Solitons and Fractals 20 (2004) 187-194

www.elsevier.com/locate/chaos

On the relationship between Hamiltonian chaos and classical gravity

Ervin Goldfain

OptiSolve Consulting, 4422 Cleveland Road, Syracuse, NY 13215, USA Accepted 26 August 2003

Abstract

It is known that Hamiltonian equations of motion for low-dimensional chaotic systems are typically formulated using fractional derivatives. The evolution of such systems is governed by the fractional diffusion equation, which describes self-similar and non-Gaussian processes with strong intermittencies. We confirm, in this context, that the dynamics of a Brownian particle driven by space-time dependent fluctuations evolves towards Hamiltonian chaos and fractional diffusion. The corresponding motion of the particle has a time-dependent and nowhere vanishing acceleration. Invoking the equivalence principle of general relativity leads to the conclusion that fractional diffusion is locally equivalent to a transient gravitational field. It is shown that gravity becomes renormalizable as Newton's constant converges towards a dimensionless quantity.

© 2003 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

Fractional diffusion equations have emerged in recent years as a powerful tool for the analysis of stochastic processes and complex dynamics. In particular, fractional diffusion has been successfully linked to the study of Hamiltonian chaos in low-dimensional systems [1–4,10,11]. In this work we investigate an unexpected connection that may be established between Hamiltonian chaos and the classical theory of gravitation. The object of study is the Brownian motion of a free non-relativistic particle evolving in an environment that is random and space-time dependent. Despite its simplicity, this model offers a convenient benchmark for probing dissipative systems of higher complexity. 1

Our three main findings are that (i) fluctuations are capable of migrating Brownian motion into Hamiltonian chaos, (ii) the Brownian particle moves as if subjected to a locally transient gravitational field and (iii) Newton's constant converges towards a dimensionless quantity as the dynamics makes the transition from fractional to the classical regime. The last finding opens the door for full renormalization of the theory, in manifest contrast with quantum gravity. The approach may be extended to include open dynamical systems and stochastic field models and may thus provide valuable insights into the long-standing issue of unification in field theory [25–28]. This is particularly attractive in light of the recently discovered decoherence mechanism responsible for the transition from quantum to classical behavior in systems strongly coupled to their environment [6,7].

It is instructive to point out that our conclusions are consistent with El Naschie's conjecture on the connection between gravitation and the Cantorian topology of space-time on or above the Planck scale ($M_{\rm Pl} \sim 10^{19}$ GeV)

E-mail address: ervingoldfain@hotmail.com (E. Goldfain).

¹ We recall that, in general, there is a large spectrum of persistent fluctuations that may perturb the evolution of any dynamical system in a variety of physical settings. Examples include thermal fluctuations in statistical ensembles, Poincare resonances [21] and vacuum fluctuations in quantum physics [8].

[12,22,24]. Our results are also relevant for theories concerned with the statistical nature of gravitational interaction in ultra-high energy physics. These models are based upon the prediction that the underlying structure of space-time undergoes large stochastic fluctuations as a result of short-distance gravitational effects [29,30].

The outline of the paper is as follows: Section 2 derives the relationship between the Langevin equation of Brownian motion and Hamiltonian chaos. A brief review of the classical Hamilton–Jacobi formalism is outlined in Section 3. The generalization of Hamilton–Jacobi equation to fractional diffusion is presented in Section 4. Section 5 establishes the explicit connection between Hamiltonian chaos and classical gravity. Renormalization is discussed in Section 6 and concluding remarks are presented in Section 7.

2. Noise driven dynamics and Hamiltonian chaos

It is well known that classical Langevin equation describes the transport of a non-relativistic Brownian particle moving in a dissipative and disordered environment [13]. Let m_0 denote the mass of the particle, γ the damping coefficient and $\eta(x, t)$ the stochastic force exerted on the particle. If there are no external potentials and the motion takes place in one dimension, the Langevin equation reads

$$m_0 \ddot{\mathbf{x}} + \gamma \dot{\mathbf{x}} = \eta(\mathbf{x}, t) \tag{1}$$

It is customary to assume that the stochastic force has a noise-like distribution characterized by a constant average and a shift-invariant correlation function

$$\langle \eta(x,t) \rangle = \text{const.}$$

$$\langle \eta(x,t)\eta(x',t') \rangle = Dw_x(x-x')w_t(t-t')$$

$$(2)$$

The fluctuation–dissipation theorem requires [13,14]

$$D \sim \gamma kT$$
 (3)

where D are the diffusion coefficient and T the temperature. 2

A convenient noise representation is provided by the delta-kicked model [15]. Under the most general circumstances, the function $\eta(x, t)$ may be factored as

$$\eta(x,t) = \zeta(x) \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \delta(t - n\tau)$$
(4)

in which $\tau = 2\pi/\Omega$ stands for the period separating successive kicks and the space-dependent amplitude is considered a superposition of power terms

$$\zeta(x) = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} a_m x^m \tag{5}$$

The sum of delta-kicks may be expanded in harmonics of Ω to obtain

$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \delta(t - n\tau) = 1 + 2\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \cos(n\Omega t)$$
(6)

In what follows we assume that, on a suitably chosen observation scale, the fundamental noise mode (n = 1) is predominant and the rest of harmonics cancel out by destructive interference. As a result, the following condition holds

$$\sum_{n=2}^{\infty} \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} a_m x^m \cos(n\Omega t) \to 0$$
(7)

² It is important to emphasize that, according to the fluctuation–dissipation theorem, any system undergoing random perturbations must include damping as a mechanism for relaxation towards thermal equilibrium.

The Langevin model may thus be transformed into a set of coupled differential equations using the parameterization

$$y_{2} = \dot{y}_{1} = \frac{1 + 2\cos(y_{3}t)}{m_{0}} \left(\sum_{m=0}^{\infty} a_{m}x^{m}\right) - \frac{\gamma}{m_{0}}y_{1}$$

$$y_{3} = \Omega$$
(8)

The system (8) resembles the evolution equations for the damped driven pendulum [16]. It has a three-dimensional phase space which is the minimum dimension required for the onset of chaos in solutions of differential equations. According to the KAM theory, the winding number

$$w = \sqrt{\frac{\gamma}{m_0 \Omega^2}} \tag{9}$$

controls the transition from unperturbed motion to weak and fully developed Hamiltonian chaos [16,17]. A manifest example of such a transition is driving with a time-dependent noise frequency $\Omega(t)$. The corresponding phase space has a rich topological structure characterized by a mixture of periodic orbits layered between chaotic islands. Fluctuations in the driving frequency generated over short time intervals lead to progressive instability and eventual breakup of KAM tori [17,23]. It is of interest to mention that the last torus destroyed by noise corresponds to the most irrational winding number, i.e. to the golden mean

$$\phi = \frac{\sqrt{5-1}}{2} \tag{10}$$

which is a key concept of the E^{∞} theory (see [22] and included references).

3. Overview of the classical Hamilton-Jacobi formalism

It is instructive, at this point, to bridge the gap between the Langevin formalism previously outlined and the canonical approach of classical mechanics based on the Hamilton–Jacobi equation. Consider the previous example of a free non-relativistic particle of mass m_0 moving in one dimension from origin to (x, t). In the absence of any damping and disorder, its trajectory is given by

$$x(t) = \dot{x}t \tag{11}$$

The action S(x, t) satisfies the Hamilton–Jacobi equation [5]

$$\frac{\partial S}{\partial t} + \frac{1}{2m_0} \left(\frac{\partial S}{\partial x}\right)^2 = 0 \tag{12}$$

and has the explicit form

 $v_1 = \dot{\mathbf{r}}$

$$S(x,t) = \frac{m_0}{2} \frac{x^2}{t} + S_0 \tag{13}$$

where S_0 is an arbitrary additive constant. Setting

$$-\frac{\partial S}{\partial t} = \frac{p^2}{2m_0} = \text{const.}$$

$$p = m_0 \dot{\mathbf{x}}$$
(14)

recovers the uniform motion expressed by (11).

As it is known, the Hamilton–Jacobi equation may be converted to a second-order partial differential equation describing standard diffusion or wave propagation. To elaborate on this point we proceed by analogy with the path integral formalism of quantum mechanics [8,31,32]. The probability amplitude for a given space–time path x(t) is given by

$$\rho[\mathbf{x}(t)] = \rho_0 \exp\{\mathbf{i} S[\mathbf{x}(t)]\} \tag{15}$$

Assuming that the technique of analytic continuation is applicable [9,32], (15) becomes

$$\rho[\mathbf{x}(t)] = \rho_0 \exp\{-S_{\rm E}[\mathbf{x}(t)]\}\tag{16}$$

where $S_{\rm E}(\bullet)$ represents the Euclidean action. Taking into account that momentum is a constant of motion, or $\partial^2 S_{\rm E}/\partial x^2 \rightarrow 0$, the Hamilton–Jacobi equation (12) assumes the form

$$\frac{\partial\rho}{\partial t} + \frac{1}{2m_0} \frac{\partial^2\rho}{\partial x^2} = 0 \tag{17}$$

For sufficiently small space-time paths the probability amplitude is proportional to the action, that is

$$\rho[\Delta x(t)] \approx \rho_0 \{ 1 - S_{\rm E}[\Delta x(t)] \} \tag{18}$$

We shall use relation (18) in the next section.

4. Generalization of Hamilton-Jacobi formalism to fractional diffusion

For the sake of clarity we briefly summarize results obtained so far. It was found in Section 2 that, if conditions required by KAM theory are met, path dependent fluctuations are capable of migrating the classical Brownian motion into Hamiltonian chaos. The adequate formulation of this noise-driven regime requires use of fractional space and time derivatives. Section 3 has pointed out that the canonical treatment of motion in classical mechanics is based upon the Hamilton–Jacobi equation. A natural question arises on how to properly apply the Hamilton–Jacobi formulation to Hamiltonian chaos. This is the object of the current section.

Let P(x, t) represent the probability density function of finding the particle at location x at instant t. Fractional diffusion equation is defined by two critical exponents (α, β) corresponding to the space and time derivatives of P(x, t) [1,2]. To simplify the presentation and without any loss of generality, we set below $m_0 = \frac{1}{2} in$ (17). Fractional diffusion of the Brownian particle then takes the form

$$\frac{\partial^{\beta} P}{\partial t^{\beta}} = \frac{\partial^{\alpha} P}{\partial |x|^{\alpha}} + \frac{t^{-\beta}}{\Gamma(1-\beta)} \delta(x)$$
(19)

for positive time intervals t > 0 and point-like source functions [1,2,4]. Particular cases include Levy transport ($\beta = 1$) and fractal Brownian motion ($0 < \beta < 1, \alpha = 2$). The probability density stays positive if the range of the two exponents is limited to the intervals below

$$\begin{array}{l}
0 < \alpha \leqslant 2 \\
0 < \beta \leqslant 1
\end{array}$$
(20)

To simplify the formalism we adopt below the hypothesis that the integral over all possible paths connecting the initial and final space-time points can be approximated by a single contribution arising from the most dominant path. Let Δ represent the linear extent of the particle motion. Following Section 3, we note that P(x, t) is equivalent to

$$P(x,t) = \frac{1}{\varDelta} \left(\frac{\rho[x(t)]}{\rho_0} \right)^2 \tag{21}$$

and satisfies the normalization condition

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} P(x,t) \,\mathrm{d}x = 1 \tag{22}$$

For sufficiently small paths we have from (18)

$$P(\Delta x, t) \approx \frac{1}{\Delta} \{ 1 - 2S_{\rm E}[\Delta x(t)] \}$$
⁽²³⁾

which shows that, up to an additive constant and a scaling factor, the probability density function and Euclidean action are identical. Under these circumstances, the asymptotic solution of the fractional diffusion equation (19) reads [2]

$$S_{\rm E}[\Delta x(t)] \approx \left(-\frac{\Delta}{2}\right) \left[\frac{1}{\pi} \frac{t^{\beta}}{\left|\Delta x\right|^{\alpha+1}} \frac{\Gamma(1+\alpha)}{\Gamma(1+\beta)} \sin\frac{\pi\alpha}{2}\right]$$
(24)

for ultra-short time intervals obeying

$$(\Delta x)^{\alpha} \gg t^{\beta} \tag{25}$$

Dimensional analysis of (24) in light of normalization (22) leads to

$$[t]^{\beta} = [\Delta x]^{\alpha} \tag{26}$$

in which [•] stands for the unit of time and space.

5. Fractional diffusion as locally transient non-inertial motion

We may naturally associate the following Hamilton-Jacobi equation to the Euclidean action (24) [18]:

$$E_{\rm fr} = -\frac{\partial^{\beta} S_{\rm E}}{\partial t^{\beta}} = \frac{m_0}{2} \left[\frac{\partial^{\beta} (\Delta x)}{\partial t^{\beta}} \right]^2 \tag{27}$$

where $E_{\rm fr}$ is the energy transported by the fractional diffusion process and $\frac{\partial^{\beta}(\Delta x)}{\partial t^{\beta}}$ generalizes the ordinary velocity corresponding to $\beta = 1$. Hence

$$v_{\rm fr} = \frac{\partial^{\beta}(\Delta x)}{\partial t^{\beta}} = \sqrt{2} \left[\Delta \frac{\Gamma(1+\alpha)\sin(\pi\alpha/2)}{\pi |\Delta x|^{1+\alpha}} \right]^{1/2}$$
(28)

Following the rules of fractional differentiation [20], the generalized acceleration may be obtained from (28) as

$$a_{\rm fr} = \frac{\partial^{\beta} v_{\rm fr}}{\partial t^{\beta}} = v_{\rm fr} \frac{t^{-\beta}}{\Gamma(1-\beta)}$$
(29)

This expression indicates that the free Brownian particle undergoes a space-time dependent non-inertial motion for $t < \infty$. The fractional acceleration vanishes in the limit $\beta = 1$ as $\Gamma(0) \to \infty$. According to the equivalence principle of general relativity, a non-inertial frame of reference is locally identical to a gravitational field. We conclude that, under the assumption that the equivalence principle holds for non-smooth trajectories, the statistical transport of the free Brownian particle is locally equivalent to the action of a transient gravitational field. The next section attempts to show that this field may be described by a renormalizable theory.

6. Dimensional analysis and renormalization

In the relativistic theory of gravitation Newton's constant carries a negative mass dimension. Power expanding the metric around the Lorentz solution leads to a non-polynomial action in this constant [19,32] (see Appendix A). As a result, quantum gravity theories founded on general relativity are considered non-renormalizable. The object of this section is to evaluate the impact of critical exponents (α , β) on renormalizability from arguments based on dimensional analysis.

(26)–(28) may be used to determine the dimensions of energy, fractional velocity and mass starting from the scalar nature of the Euclidean action. We find, respectively

$$\begin{split} &[E_{\rm fr}] = t^{-\beta} \\ &[v_{\rm fr}] = [\Delta x][t]^{-\beta} = [\Delta x]^{1-\alpha} \\ &[m_0] = \frac{[E_{fr}]}{[v_{\rm fr}]^2} = [\Delta x]^{\alpha-2} \end{split}$$
(30)

In order to include Newton's constant in these considerations it is necessary to write down a fundamental field equation. The most straightforward choice is the Poisson equation of classical field theory. Let Φ_{fr} and G_{fr} represent the gravitational potential and coupling constant induced by fractional diffusion. The natural generalization of Poisson's equation in 1 + 1 space–time is

$$\frac{\partial^{2\alpha} \Phi_{\rm fr}}{\partial (\Delta x)^{2\alpha}} = 4\pi G_{\rm fr} \rho \tag{31}$$

where ρ is the equivalent source of $\Phi_{\rm fr}$, expressed in units of mass per unit of length.³ Since the standard Poisson equation is recovered in the limit $\alpha = 1$, it makes sense to change the upper bound in (20) such that $0 < \alpha \le 1$. The solution of (31) for a uniform source and subject to the boundary condition

$$\Phi_{\rm fr}(\Delta x = 0) = \Phi_0 \tag{32}$$

is supplied by [20]

$$\Phi_{\rm fr}(\Delta x) = 4\pi G_{\rm fr} \rho \frac{(\Delta x)^{2\alpha}}{\Gamma(2\alpha+1)} + \Phi_0$$
(33)

In general relativity the gravitational potential is dimensionless ([5] and Appendix A) which can be expressed as

$$[\boldsymbol{\Phi}] = [\boldsymbol{m}_0]^0 \tag{34}$$

In the framework provided by fractional diffusion this constraint may be relaxed to a less restrictive requirement, that is

$$\left[\boldsymbol{\varPhi}_{\mathrm{fr}}\right] = \left[\boldsymbol{m}_{0}\right]^{\gamma(\alpha)} \tag{35}$$

where $\gamma(\alpha)$ represents an α -dependent exponent obeying

$$\lim_{\alpha \to 1} \gamma(\alpha) = 0 \tag{36}$$

It is apparent that condition (36) does not uniquely determine the explicit form of $\gamma(\alpha)$. For example, two choices from the infinite span of possible solutions are

$$\gamma(\alpha) = 1 - \alpha^2$$

$$\gamma(\alpha) = |\ln \alpha|$$
(37)

As it is shown below, we use this redundancy to control the mass dimension of $G_{\rm fr}$. Since

$$[\rho] = \frac{[m_0]}{[\Delta x]} \tag{38}$$

we obtain from (30), (33), (35) and (38)

$$[G_{\rm fr}] = [m_0]^{\gamma(\alpha) - \frac{3(\alpha-1)}{\alpha-2}}$$
(39)

Demanding a positive or vanishing mass dimension in (39) amounts to

$$\gamma(\alpha) \ge \frac{3(\alpha - 1)}{\alpha - 2} \tag{40}$$

which further restricts the space of acceptable functions $\gamma(\alpha)$.

Using (36) it is seen that condition (40) is automatically satisfied for $\alpha \to 1$, that is, when the dynamics makes the transition from fractional to the classical regime.

It is instructive to consider the particular choice $\gamma(\alpha) = |\ln \alpha|$. Condition (40) leads to

$$\alpha \leqslant 0.28683 \tag{41}$$

7. Concluding remarks

We have reported the close connection between Hamiltonian chaos and fractional diffusion, on the one hand, and classical theory of gravitation on the other. It was found that fractional diffusion enables Newton's constant to converge towards a dimensionless quantity and creates the necessary framework for renormalization. The approach is built upon the Hamilton–Jacobi formalism and may be thus extrapolated to a larger class of field theories. Our work complements

³ A similar analysis may be carried out in 3+1 space-time. It involves a lengthy derivation and it is not included here.

similar studies linking classical gravity to space-time fluctuations, as well as several papers on unification via fractal topology [24-28].

Appendix A

For ease of reading we briefly review in this Appendix A some key points regarding the renormalization topic of quantum gravity and related theories. Additional details may be found in [8,31,32].

The potential generated by a point mass m at a distance R in Newtonian gravitation is given by

$$\varphi = -G\frac{m}{R} \tag{A.1}$$

Let $g_{\mu\nu}$ denote the components of the metric tensor (μ , $\nu = 0, 1, 2, 3$). The potential is a dimensionless quantity related to the magnitude of g_{00} , the temporal component of the metric tensor, via

$$g_{00} = 1 + 2\varphi \tag{A.2}$$

Because g_{00} and φ are both dimensionless and since, in natural units, distance is measured as reciprocal of mass

$$[R] = [m]^{-1} \tag{A.3}$$

it follows from (A.1) that Newton's constant has a -2 mass dimension, that is

$$[G] = [m]^{-2} \tag{A.4}$$

The negative mass dimension carried by G makes gravity non-renormalizable due to the following argument: the probability amplitude for graviton-graviton scattering at a given energy E may be computed using the series expansion

$$\operatorname{amplitude} \sim 1 + GE^2 + (GE^2)^2 + \cdots \tag{A.5}$$

where different orders correspond to various Feynman diagrams. The series (A.5) is manifestly divergent and the resulting scattering amplitude lacks physical meaning.

A similar argument may be brought up in conjunction with any attempt to quantize gravity by power expanding the metric tensor $g_{\mu\nu}$ around the Euclidean metric $g_{\mu\nu}^{(0)}$ (where $g_{\mu\nu}^{(0)}$ is referred to as the Lorentz solution)

$$g_{\mu\nu}(x) = g_{\mu\nu}^{(0)} + \sqrt{G}h_{\mu\nu} \tag{A.6}$$

In the above, the metric deviations $h_{\mu\nu}$ are associated with the graviton field. Each term of the series contains derivatives and an ever-increasing number of $h_{\mu\nu}$ fields and powers of G. The action series assumes the generic form

$$S \sim \frac{1}{16\pi G} \int d^4x [\partial h \partial h + h \partial h \partial h + h^2 \partial h \partial h + \cdots]$$
(A.7)

where space-time indexes μ , ν have been omitted for simplicity. The action expansion is not considered polynomial due to the very existence of a non-scalar Newton constant.

Dimensional analysis indicates that a renormalizable theory must be characterized by a coupling constant having a positive or vanishing mass dimension. Quantum electrodynamics, the electroweak model and quantum chromodynamics are examples of renormalizable theories because the fine-structure constant and gauge couplings g_1 , g_2 and g_3 are dimensionless.

References

- [1] Zaslavsky GM. Physica D 1994;76:110.
- [2] Saichev AI, Zaslavsky GM. Chaos 1997;7(4):753.
- [3] Zaslavsky GM, Edelman M at <http://arxiv.org/PS_cache/nlin/pdf/0112/0112033.pdf>.
- [4] Barkai E. Chem Phys 2002;284:13.
- [5] Landau LD, Lifshitz EM. The classical theory of fields. Butterworth-Heineman; 1997.
- [6] Elze H.T. at <arXiv:quant-ph/9710063 v1> and at <arXiv:hep-ph/9407377 v1>.
- [7] Zurek WH. Phys Today 1991;44(10):36;Zeh HD. Phys Lett A 1993;172:189.
- [8] Hatfield B. Quantum field theory of point particles and strings. Westview Press; 1992.

- [9] Donoghue JF, Golowich E, Holstein BR. Dynamics of the standard model. Cambridge University Press; 1992.
- [10] Mainardi F. Appl Math Lett 1996;9(6):23.
- [11] Gorenflo R, Mainardi F. Arch Mech 1998;50(3):377.
- [12] El Naschie M. Chaos, Solitons & Fractals 1997;8(11):1865-72.
- [13] Cohen D. J Phys A: Math Gen 1998;31:8199–220.
- [14] Cohen D. Phys Rev E 1997;55:1422-41.
- [15] Jackson EA. Perspectives of nonlinear dynamics. Cambridge University Press; 1991.
- [16] McCauley JL. Chaos, dynamics & fractals. Cambridge University Press; 1994.
- [17] Gutzwiller MC. Chaos in classical and quantum mechanics. Springer-Verlag; 1990.
- [18] Riewe F. Phys Rev E 1997;55(3):3581-91.
- [19] Kaku M. Quantum field theory. New York: Oxford University Press; 1993.
- [20] Podlubny I. Fractional differential equations. Academic Press; 1999.
- [21] Petrosky T, Prigogine I. Chaos, Solitons & Fractals 1995;5.
- [22] El Naschie M. Chaos, Solitons & Fractals 2004;19(1):209-36.
- [23] Cvitanovic P. Universality in chaos. Bristol: Adam Hilger; 1984.
- [24] Agop M et al. Chaos, Solitons & Fractals 2003;18(1):1-16.
- [25] Nottale L. Chaos, Solitons & Fractals 2001;12:1577-83.
- [26] Sidharth BG. Chaos, Solitons & Fractals 2001;12:2143-7.
- [27] El Naschie M. Chaos, Solitons & Fractals 2000;11(7):1149-62.
- [28] El Naschie M. Chaos, Solitons and Fractals 2000;11(9):1459-69.
- [29] Hu BL, Verdaguer E, at <http://arXiv.org/abs/gr-qc/0307032>.
- [30] Phillips NG, Hu BL, at <http://arXiv.org/abs/gr-qc/0010019>.
- [31] Ryder L. Quantum field theory. Cambridge University Press; 1987.
- [32] Zee A. Quantum field theory in a nutshell. Princeton University Press; 2003.



PERGAMON

Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



CHAOS SOLITONS & FRACTALS

Chaos, Solitons and Fractals 19 (2004) 1023-1030

www.elsevier.com/locate/chaos

Renormalization group and the emergence of random fractal topology in quantum field theory

Ervin Goldfain

OptiSolve Consulting, 4422 Cleveland Road, Syracuse, NY 13215, USA Accepted 17 June 2003

Abstract

This work reveals the close connection between the random fractal topology of space-time in microphysics and the renormalization group program (RG) of quantum field theory. As known, the primary goal of RG is to consistently remove divergences from quantum computations by factoring in the energy scale (μ) at which physical processes are probed. RG postulates that the action functional is independent of any particular choice of μ , that is, physical processes are invariant to arbitrary changes of the observation scale. In this context, we conjecture that μ represents a continuous random variable having a uniform density function. Novel results emerge in the basin of attraction of all fixed points, namely: (i) the field exponent becomes a continuous random variable and (ii) space-time coordinates become fractals with random dimensions. It is concluded that the random topology of space-time is not an exclusive attribute of the Planck scale but an inherent manifestation *of stochastic dynamics* near any fixed point of the underlying field theory. © 2003 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

In recent years significant effort has been devoted to applications of fractal geometry, deterministic chaos and stochastic dynamics in classical and quantum physics. Due to the wide extent of this research field, a complete listing of main contributions is impractical. We mention here few examples that are representative for the topic of this work: anomalous diffusion and Levy statistics in Hamiltonian phase space [12,13], non-differentiability of Feynman paths [14,15], application of fractional Brownian motion in quantum field theory [4], vacuum fluctuations, chaotic maps and stochastic quantization in particle physics [16], mass generation in the lepton sector due to period doubling transition to chaos [17], quantum Brownian motion [18], fractional dynamics and origin of the fine-structure constant [19], Cantorian space–time and the topological foundation of coupling and mass spectra in the Standard Model [20–27].

The prevailing interpretation of El Naschie's E^{∞} model is that the Cantorian space-time topology emerges at mass scales comparable to the Planck length. Drawing on recent results regarding renormalization group in the presence of quantum fluctuations [4], our work suggests that the random topology of space-time is not an exclusive attribute of the Planck scale but an inherent manifestation of stochastic dynamics near any fixed point of the underlying field theory.

The paper is organized as follows: Section 2 introduces the concept of random observation scale from arguments related to equilibrium statistical mechanics. Taking the φ^4 theory as a benchmark model, Section 3 examines the behavior of the RG solution near the unique fixed point $g \rightarrow 0$. The stochastic character of the field exponent is analyzed in Section 4. Section 5 investigates the temporal evolution of the φ field from a statistical mechanics perspective. Connection of space-time coordinates to fractal objects having random dimension is discussed in Section 6. Results are summarized in Section 7.

E-mail address: ervingoldfain@hotmail.com (E. Goldfain).

^{0960-0779/\$ -} see front matter @ 2003 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/S0960-0779(03)00304-7

2. The random observation scale: a statistical mechanics argument

Classical statistical mechanics of systems at thermal equilibrium asserts that energy or energy and number of particles in thermodynamic ensembles are subject to incessant fluctuations. Consider, for example, a system enclosed in a heatbath at constant finite temperature T (a "canonical ensemble"). The energy fluctuation is linearly dependent on temperature according to [1]:

$$\frac{\Delta E}{\langle E \rangle} \sim \frac{T}{N\varepsilon} \tag{1}$$

where $\langle E \rangle$ is the thermal average of the energy, N is the number of particles in the system and ε is the energy per particle. Fluctuations vanish for macroscopic systems in the limit $N \to \infty$ where the distribution of energy is sharply peaked around $\langle E \rangle$. In contrast, fluctuations survive in canonical ensembles comprising low-dimensional classical or quantum systems such as dilute Bose gases.

In the same context, we recall that quantum fields are objects with manifest statistical properties owing to the cascade of virtual processes that occur during propagation and interaction. We also recall that a basic requirement of any realistic quantum field theory is renormalizability [2]. To render all computations finite, a well-established regularization procedure needs to be implemented. The renormalization program imposes an arbitrary energy scale (μ) upon which no physical consequences must depend [2,3]. This sets the "coarse-graining" scale and the resolution at which the underlying physics is probed.

From these arguments it follows that, if the average energy of the quantum field system $\langle E \rangle$ sets its temperature, then μ is expected to undergo continuous fluctuations about $\langle E \rangle$. There are no preferential values in this random occurrence. Hence, invoking the uncertainty principle, we assert below that μ represents a continuous random variable with a uniform probability density function $p(\mu)$. Let μ be defined inside a range bounded by μ_M and μ_m . We have

$$p(\mu) = \frac{1}{\mu_M - \mu_m} \leqslant \frac{\tau}{h} \quad \text{if } \mu \in \{\mu_m, \mu_M\}$$

$$p(\mu) = 0 \quad \text{if otherwise}$$
(2)

in which h is Planck's constant and τ sets the observation time window. During τ we assume that the system randomly samples all available energy scales contained in the range.

A comment on (2) is now in order. Dimensional consistency requires the right hand side of (2) to be expressed in scalar form. The simplest way to fulfill this requirement is to work with a relative energy scale μ^0 defined via

$$\mu^0 = \frac{\mu}{\mu_M} \tag{3}$$

which converts (2) into

$$p(\mu^{0}) = \frac{1}{1 - \mu_{m}^{0}} \leqslant \tau^{0} \quad \text{if } \mu \in \{\mu_{m}, \mu_{M}\}$$

$$p(\mu^{0}) = 0 \quad \text{if otherwise}$$

$$(4)$$

where h = 1 and $\tau^0 = \mu_M \tau$ is the non-dimensional time observation window. According to this interpretation, the time window τ^0 and energy scale μ^0 are statistically conjugate variables. This implies that there is random sampling of all available time instants contained in τ^0 in a similar fashion with energy sampling in the range $[\mu_m^0, 1]$. The natural outcome of this conjecture is that time behaves as a stochastic variable. To derive similar conclusions on the space coordinate we note that, in non-relativistic field theories, time and space scale independently as

$$\vec{x} = s\vec{x'} t = s^2 t'$$
(5)

where $z \neq 1$ is the so-called dynamic exponent [4]. In scalar form (5) reads

$$\vec{x}^0 = s \vec{x'}^0$$

$$t^0 = s^z t^0$$
(6)

in which

$$x^{0} = x\mu_{M}$$

$$t^{0} = t\mu_{M}$$
(7)

It follows that space and time are non-trivially related through

$$(8)$$

and the analogue of (4) is given by

$$p(\mu^{0}) = \frac{1}{1 - \mu_{m}^{0}} \leq (\lambda^{0})^{z} \quad \text{if } \mu \in \{\mu_{m}, \mu_{M}\}$$

$$p(\mu^{0}) = 0 \quad \text{if otherwise}$$

$$(9)$$

where $\lambda^0 = \lambda \mu_M$ is the spatial observation window. The space coordinate randomly samples all available locations contained in λ^0 as the energy scale fluctuates within $[\mu_m^0, 1]$.

3. Behavior of the RG solution near fixed points

Consider a simple field theoretic framework comprising the scalar field operator $\varphi(\vec{x}, t)$, the mass parameter *m* and coupling constant *g*. A typical prototype is the well-known φ^4 model whose free-form action is [2,3]

$$S[\varphi] = \int \left\{ \frac{1}{2} [\partial_{\nu} \varphi \partial^{\nu} \varphi - m^2 \varphi^2] - \frac{\mu^{4-d} g}{4!} \varphi^4 \right\} \mathrm{d}^{d-1} x \, \mathrm{d}t$$
(10)

in which d stands for the dimension of the space-time domain and v is the space-time index. Fluctuations in the observation scale are expected to create subsequent fluctuations of the operator $\varphi(\vec{x}, t)$. The field probability density function $p_{\mu}(\varphi, g, m)$ has dimension

$$[\varphi]^{-1} = \mu_M^{1-\frac{d}{2}} \tag{11}$$

and satisfies the RG equation [4]:

$$\left[\mu\frac{\partial}{\partial\mu} + \beta(g)\frac{\partial}{\partial g} + \delta(g)m\frac{\partial}{\partial m} - \frac{\gamma(g)}{2}\varphi\frac{\partial}{\partial\varphi}\right]p_{\mu}(\varphi, g, m) = 0$$
(12)

where the coefficient functions

$$\mu \frac{\partial g}{\partial \mu} = \beta(g)$$

$$\mu \frac{\partial m}{\partial \mu} = \delta(g)m$$

$$\mu \frac{\partial \varphi}{\partial \mu} = -\frac{\gamma(g)}{2}\varphi$$
(13)

outline the scale dependence of coupling, mass and field, respectively. As known, coefficient functions are specific for each field theory. In particular, the sign of $\beta(g)$ determines the type of asymptotic behavior at large momenta, that is, whether or not the theory displays asymptotic freedom [4,5]. In general, the zeros of $\beta(g)$ define the set of fixed points $\{g_i^*\}$, i = 1, 2, ..., N. In the neighborhood of these points (i.e., in their basin of attraction) Eqs. (13) become

$$\mu \frac{\partial m}{\partial \mu} = \delta(g_i^*)m$$

$$\mu \frac{\partial \varphi}{\partial \mu} = -\frac{\gamma(g_i^*)}{2}\varphi$$
(14)

To further carry out computations involving exclusively scalar variables, it is convenient to cast (14) in a nondimensional form. Dividing both sides by their respective units for mass and field yields

E. Goldfain / Chaos, Solitons and Fractals 19 (2004) 1023-1030

$$\mu^{0} \frac{\partial m^{0}}{\partial \mu^{0}} = \delta(g_{i}^{*})m^{0}$$

$$\mu^{0} \frac{\partial \varphi^{0}}{\partial \mu^{0}} = -\frac{\gamma(g_{i}^{*})}{2}\varphi^{0}$$
(15)

where

$$\varphi^{0} = \frac{\varphi}{[\varphi]}$$

$$m^{0} = \frac{m}{\mu_{M}}$$
(16)

(15) is solved by the following set of closed-form solutions:

$$m_{i}^{0} = K_{m}(\mu^{0})^{\delta(g_{i}^{*})}$$

$$\varphi_{i}^{0} = K_{\varphi}(\mu^{0})^{\frac{\gamma(g_{i}^{*})}{2}}$$
(17)

in which K_m , K_{φ} are integration constants. It can be seen that, in general, both field and mass solutions display a N-fold multiplicity and acquire properties of continuous random variables. There is only one fixed point in the φ^4 model corresponding to the IR limit $(g \to 0)$ as $\mu \to 0$. In its basin of attraction we have

$$m^{0} = f_{m}(\mu^{0}) = K_{m}(\mu^{0})^{\phi_{0}}$$

$$\varphi^{0} = f_{\varphi}(\mu^{0}) = K_{\varphi}(\mu^{0})^{-\frac{\gamma_{0}}{2}}$$
(18)

where $\gamma_0 = \gamma(0)$ and $\delta_0 = \delta(0)$.

Since the power-law relations contained in (18) are strictly monotonic, their respective probability density functions are given by [6]

$$p(m^{0}) = p_{\mu}[f_{m}^{-1}(m^{0})] \left| \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}m^{0}} [f_{m}^{-1}(m^{0})] \right|$$

$$p(\varphi^{0}) = p_{\mu}[f_{\varphi}^{-1}(\varphi^{0})] \left| \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}\varphi^{0}} [f_{\varphi}^{-1}(\varphi^{0})] \right|$$
(19)

leading to

$$p(m^{0}) = \frac{K_{m}^{-\frac{1}{b_{0}}}}{(1-\mu_{m}^{0})\delta_{0}} (m^{0})^{\frac{1}{b_{0}}-1}$$

$$p(\varphi^{0}) = \frac{2K_{\varphi}^{\frac{2}{\gamma_{0}}}}{(1-\mu_{m}^{0})\gamma_{0}} (\varphi^{0})^{-\binom{2}{\gamma_{0}}+1}$$
(20)

One may verify from (20) that the completeness relation

$$\int_{\mu_m^0}^{1} p(m^0) \,\mathrm{d}m^0 = \int_{\mu_m^0}^{1} p(\phi^0) \,\mathrm{d}\phi^0 = 1 \tag{21}$$

is automatically satisfied. For simplicity we choose $K_m = K_{\varphi} = 1$.

Let m_i^0, ϕ_i^0 and m_f^0, ϕ_f^0 designate two random sets of initial and final mass and field states. Using (20) yields the following mass and field moments corresponding to these random intervals

$$\langle (m^{0})^{2} \rangle_{\rm fi} = \frac{1}{(1-\mu_{m}^{0})(2\delta_{0}+1)} \left[(\mu_{\rm f}^{0})^{2\delta_{0}+1} - (\mu_{\rm i}^{0})^{2\delta_{0}+1} \right]$$

$$\langle (\phi^{0})^{2} \rangle_{\rm fi} = \frac{1}{(1-\mu_{m}^{0})(\gamma_{0}-1)} \left[(\mu_{\rm f}^{0})^{1-\gamma_{0}} - (\mu_{\rm i}^{0})^{1-\gamma_{0}} \right]$$

$$(22)$$

Let the initial state be fixed and the final state randomly vary. Up to an additive constant (22) may be written as

$$\langle (m^{0})^{2} \rangle = \frac{1}{(1 - \mu_{m}^{0})(2\delta_{0} + 1)} (\mu^{0})^{2\delta_{0} + 1}$$

$$\langle (\phi^{0})^{2} \rangle = \frac{1}{(1 - \mu_{m}^{0})(\gamma_{0} - 1)} (\mu^{0})^{1 - \gamma_{0}}$$
(23)

We shall make use of these relations in Section 6.

4. Stochastic nature of field scaling

A well-known property of critical phenomena is that, near transition points, all relevant variables scale in a similar fashion with the control parameter. The scaling behavior is defined by a set of fixed exponents that are deterministic in nature and dependent on the dimensionality of the system [5,7,8]. In contrast, we are going to show in this section that the field exponent γ_0 acquires a stochastic character due to the postulated randomness of the observation scale μ^0 .

Let

$$G(\vec{x}^0, t^0) = \langle \varphi^0(\vec{x}^0, t^0) \varphi^0(0, 0) \rangle \tag{24}$$

denote the field propagator from the initial space-time point (0,0) to the arbitrary point (\vec{x}, t) [5]. Upon independent scaling of the non-dimensional space-time coordinates according to (6), it can be shown that the field propagator changes as [4]

$$G(\vec{x}^0, t^0) = (r^0)^{2\chi} f\left[\frac{t^0}{(r^0)^z}\right]$$
(25)

if the field scales as

$$\varphi^{0}(\vec{x}^{0},t^{0}) = s^{\chi}\varphi^{0}\left(\overrightarrow{x'}^{0}t^{0}\right)$$

$$\tag{26}$$

and the scale factor is chosen to be proportional to the modulus of the position vector

$$s \sim |\vec{x}^0| = r^0 \tag{27}$$

The asymptotic behavior of $f\left[\frac{t^0}{(t^0)^2}\right]$ is supplied by

$$\lim f\left[\frac{t^{0}}{(r^{0})^{z}}\right] \to \text{const.} \quad \text{if } t^{0} \ll (r^{0})^{z}$$

$$\lim f\left[\frac{t^{0}}{(r^{0})^{z}}\right] \to \left[\frac{t^{0}}{(r^{0})^{z}}\right]^{2\chi/z} \quad \text{if } t^{0} \gg (r^{0})^{z}$$
(28)

In *d*-dimensional space-time and at the fixed point, χ is related to the field exponent γ_0 via

$$\chi = -\left(\frac{d}{2} - 1 + \frac{\gamma_0}{2}\right) \tag{29}$$

Using the propagator interpretation as probability density amplitude for transitions involving the initial (0,0) and final space-time location (\vec{x}, t) [3], we demand

$$\int_{x_i^0}^{x_i^0} \left[G(\vec{x}^0, t^0) \right]^2 \mathrm{d}^{d-1} x^0 = 1 \tag{30}$$

in which (x_i^0, x_j^0) are random limits of the spatial domain. In order to explicitly carry out the integral, these limits need to be expressed in terms of μ^0 . Let us rewrite (9) in the equivalent minimal form

$$[x^{0} - \langle x^{0} \rangle]^{z} [\mu^{0} - \langle \mu^{0} \rangle] = 1$$
(31)

and take for simplicity

$$\langle x^0 \rangle = \langle \mu^0 \rangle = 0 \tag{32}$$

Thus

$$\begin{aligned} x_i^0 &= (\mu_i^0)^{-\frac{1}{z}} \\ x_f^0 &= (\mu_f^0)^{-\frac{1}{z}} \end{aligned} \tag{33}$$

We note that (30) is a result of the general closure condition

$$\int G(\vec{x},t)G^*\left(\overrightarrow{x},t\right)d^{d-1}x = \delta^{(d-1)}\left(\vec{x}-\overrightarrow{x}\right)$$
(34)

upon a suitable normalization of the δ -function to unity [9]. Since, apart from a multiplicative constant,

$$d^{d-1}x^0 = (r^0)^{d-1}dr^0$$
(35)

we find from (30)

$$(\mu_{\rm f}^0)^{\frac{d-2(2-\gamma_0)}{z}} - (\mu_{\rm f}^0)^{\frac{d-2(2-\gamma_0)}{z}} = 2(2-\gamma_0) - d \tag{36}$$

Keeping the initial state fixed and letting the final state fluctuate, gives the generic relation

$$(\mu^0)^{\frac{d-2(2-\gamma_0)}{z}} = 2(2-\gamma_0) - d \tag{37}$$

highlighting the random nature of γ_0 .

5. Statistical mechanics of the φ^4 model

In the previous section it was shown that the field exponent γ_0 is no longer a fixed parameter of the RG but a random variable dependent on μ^0 . To gain further insight into statistical properties of the scalar field, it is desirable to analyze the effect of the stochastic observation scale on the field dynamics. To this end, a convenient starting point is the effective action formalism of the φ^4 theory [3]. Consider the vacuum expectation value of the operator $\varphi(\vec{x}, t)$ in the presence of an external source $J(\vec{x}, t)$

$$\varphi_{c}(\vec{x},t) = \frac{\langle 0|\varphi(\vec{x},t)|0\rangle_{J}}{\langle 0|0\rangle_{J}}$$
(38)

(38) represents the classical counterpart of the scalar field operator. The equation of motion for the free φ^4 theory is obtained by replacing $\varphi_c(\vec{x}, t)$ in (10)

$$\frac{\delta S[\varphi_{\rm c}]}{\delta\varphi_{\rm c}} = [\partial_{\nu}\partial^{\nu} + m^2]\varphi_{\rm c}(\vec{\mathbf{x}}, t) + \frac{\mu^{4-d}g}{3!}\varphi_{\rm c}(\vec{\mathbf{x}}, t)^3 = 0$$
(39)

For simplicity, we proceed with the assumption that the field $\varphi_c(\vec{x}, t)$ is spatially uniform, $\varphi_c = \varphi_c(t)$. Furthermore, to ensure consistency with the formal treatment developed so far, we pass to a non-dimensional representation of (39) by using (7), (11) and (16). The resulting equation of motion reads

$$\left[\frac{\partial^2}{\partial(t^0)^2} + (m^0)^2\right] \varphi_c^0(t^0) + \frac{g}{3!} \varphi_c^0(t^0)^3 = 0$$
(40)

In the basin of attraction of the IR fixed point, the non-linear coupling term in (40) becomes a small perturbation to the free harmonic oscillator whose equation is

$$\left[\frac{\partial^2}{\partial(t^0)^2} + (m_{\rm eff}^0)^2\right] \varphi_{\rm c}^0(t^0) = 0$$
(41)

The net result of this approximation is that the original mass may be replaced by an effective mass parameter [10]

$$m_{\rm eff}^0 = m^0 + \frac{g(\Phi_{\rm c}^0)^2}{16m^0} \tag{42}$$

where Φ_{c}^{0} is the amplitude for the closed-form solution of (40), i.e.

$$\varphi_c^0 = \Phi_c^0 sn(m_{\rm eff}^0 t^0) \tag{43}$$

and m^0 is a random variable depending on δ_0 (Section 3).
6. Emergence of space-time as a random fractal set

The stochastic nature of φ_c^0 can be fully accounted for by adopting a statistical interpretation of its dynamics. In this context, the field second moment may be computed as [11]

$$\langle (\varphi_{\rm c}^0)^2 \rangle \sim \coth\left(\frac{1}{2}m_{\rm eff}^0t^0\right)$$
(44)

In the IR limit $g \ll m^0 < 1$ and for time intervals consistent with (28) (that is, for $t^0 \ll (r^0)^z$), a reasonable approximation of (44) is

$$\langle (\varphi_{\rm c}^0)^2 \rangle \sim \frac{1}{m_{\rm eff}^0 t^0} \tag{45}$$

Direct comparison of (23) with (45) gives

$$t^{0} \sim (1 - \mu_{m}^{0})(\gamma_{0} - 1)t_{\rm eff}^{0}(\mu^{0})^{\gamma_{0} - 1}$$
(46)

in which $t_{eff}^0 = (m_{eff}^0)^{-1}$ is the period of the harmonic oscillator described by (41). Using (8) we find

$$x^{0} \sim (1 - \mu_{m}^{0})(\gamma_{0} - 1)t_{\text{eff}}^{0}(\mu^{0})^{\frac{\gamma_{0} - 1}{2}}$$

$$\tag{47}$$

It follows from (46) and (47) that time and space coordinates scale as random fractals whose dimensions depend on both δ_0 and γ_0 .

7. Summary

Starting from the viewpoint that the renormalization group scale is a continuous random variable spanning a specific range, we have shown that, near fixed points of the underlying field theory, the space-time manifold acquires properties of random fractal sets. We have found that the manifold dimension depends on the values taken by the mass and field exponents at the fixed point. The φ^4 theory has been chosen as an illustrative framework, however, results are not restricted to this model.

References

- [1] Tolman R. Statistical mechanics. New York: Dover Publications; 1979.
- [2] Ryder LH. Quantum field theory. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; 1989.
- [3] Hatfield B. Quantum field theory of point particles and strings. Westview Press; 1992.
- [4] Hochberg D, Peres Mercader J. J Phys Lett A 2002;296:272.
- [5] Kaku M. Quantum field theory. Oxford University Press; 1993.
- [6] Walpole RE, Myers RH, Myers SL. Probability and statistics for engineers and scientists. Prentice Hall; 1998.
- [7] Grosse H. Models in statistical physics and quantum field theory. Berlin: Springer-Verlag; 1988.
- [8] Creswick RJ, Farach HA, Poole Jr CP. Introduction to renormalization group methods in physics. New York: John Wiley and Sons; 1992.
- [9] Zemanian AH. Distribution theory and transform analysis. Dover Publications; 1987.
- [10] Jackson EA. Perspectives of nonlinear dynamics. Cambridge University Press; 1992.
- [11] Feynman R. Statistical mechanics. Addison-Wesley; 1998.
- [12] Saichev AI, Zaslavsky GM. Chaos 1997;7(4):753.
- [13] Zaslavsky GM. Physica D 1994;76:110.
- [14] Feynman R, Hibbs AR. Quantum mechanics and path integrals. New York: McGraw-Hill; 1965.
- [15] Abort LF, Wise MB. Am J Phys 1981;49:37.
- [16] Beck C. Spatio-temporal chaos and vacuum fluctuations of quantized fields. Singapore: World Scientific; 2002.
- [17] Goldfain E. Chaos, Solitons & Fractals 2002;14:1331.
- [18] Caldeira AO, Leggett AJ. Physics 1983;121A:587;
- Phys Rev A 1985;31:1059.
- [19] Goldfain E. Chaos, Solitons & Fractals 2003;17:811.
- [20] El Naschie M. Chaos, Solitons & Fractals 2002;14:369.
- [21] El Naschie M. Chaos, Solitons & Fractals 2002;14:523.

- [22] El Naschie M. Chaos, Solitons & Fractals 2002;13:1935.
- [23] El Naschie M. Chaos, Solitons & Fractals 2002;14:649.
- [24] El Naschie M. Chaos, Solitons & Fractals 2002;14:797.
- [25] El Naschie M. Chaos, Solitons & Fractals 2003;17:797.
- [26] El Naschie M. Chaos, Solitons & Fractals 2003;17:631.
- [27] El Naschie M. Chaos, Solitons & Fractals 2003;17:591.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Communications in Nonlinear Science and Numerical Simulation

Communications in Nonlinear Science and Numerical Simulation 13 (2008) 1845-1850

www.elsevier.com/locate/cnsns

Stability of renormalization group trajectories and the fermion flavor problem

Ervin Goldfain

Photonics CoE, Welch Allyn Inc., 4619 Jordan Road, Skaneateles Falls, NY 13153-0187, United States Minor Outlying Islands OptiSolve Consulting, 4422 Cleveland Road, Syracuse, NY 13215, United States

> Received 28 December 2006; received in revised form 4 April 2007; accepted 5 April 2007 Available online 27 April 2007

Abstract

A long-standing puzzle of the current standard model for particle physics is that both leptons and quarks arise in replicated patterns. Our work suggests that the number of fermion flavors may be directly derived from the dynamics of coupling flow equations. Specifically, we argue that the number of flavors results from demanding stability of the coupling flow about its fixed-point solution.

© 2007 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

PACS: 11.10.Hi; 11.15.-q; 12.20.-m; 12.38.Aw; 47.15.Fe

Keywords: Renormalization Group; Gauge field theories; QED; QCD; Stability of the laminar flow

1. Introduction and motivation

The standard model for particle physics (SM) represents a highly successful framework for the description of sub-nuclear particles and their interactions in an energy range bounded by an upper limit of about 100 GeV ([10] and Appendix A). The backbone of SM is relativistic quantum field theory (QFT) whose predictive power rests primarily on the techniques of perturbation theory [1–7,19]. A key premise of QFT is that the cumulative contribution of arbitrary-order quantum corrections above any energy threshold can be conveniently suppressed. Carrying out this program means that all quantum processes above the threshold can be absorbed into a redefinition of parameters that make up the theory (masses, couplings, fields). It is customary to call this prescription the "renormalization group" approach (RG) and its outcome an "effective field theory". The main outcome of RG is that the parameters of the theory depend on the energy scale at which the physics is probed ([8] and Appendix B). In particular, an important concept in RG is the evolution of coupling with the energy scale, referred to as the coupling flow equation. Since SM is an effective framework for

E-mail address: ervingoldfain@hotmail.com

^{1007-5704/\$ -} see front matter @ 2007 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.cnsns.2007.04.016

1846

the description of particle physics below 100 GeV [1-7], it is typically assumed that the coupling flow is stable and its approach towards equilibrium develops in a deterministic way.

Despite its remarkable predictive power, SM cannot explain why both leptons and quarks arise in replicated patterns. This puzzle is referred to as the fermion "flavor problem" [11,19] and it continues to challenge to the day our understanding of particle physics. Motivated by the relevance of nonlinear dynamics in field theory [12–17,20,21], this work suggests that the number of fermion flavors may be directly derived from the dynamics of coupling flow equations. Specifically, we find that the number of flavors results from demanding stability of the coupling flow about its fixed-point solution.

The paper is organized as follows. Section 2 surveys the theory underlying the gauge coupling flow in SM and Section 3 retrieves the number of fermion flavors from a standard stability analysis. Results and concluding remarks are detailed in the last two sections. Three Appendix sections are included for convenience. The deal, respectively, with a brief overview of SM, an introduction to the RG approach to coupling flow equations and a brief presentation of the Routh–Hurwitz criterion.

2. Coupling flow equations

We start from the set of beta-functions describing the RG flow in the gauge sector of SM [1–7, Appendix B]:

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}g_i}{\mathrm{d}t} = \beta_i(g) = b_i(N, n)g_i^3 + \mathcal{O}(g_i^5) \tag{1}$$

in which i = (1, 2, 3), N is the dimension of the gauge group and n the number of fermion flavors. In particular, the beta-functions for quantum electrodynamics (QED) and non-abelian gauge theories (the weak interaction model and QCD) are respectively supplied by [6,7]

$$\beta_{\text{QED}}(e) = N \frac{ne^3}{12\pi^2} + O(e^5), \tag{2}$$

$$\beta_{\rm NA}(g) = -\frac{11N - 2n}{48\pi^2}g^3 + O(g^5). \tag{3}$$

Accounting for the underlying $SU(3) \times SU(2) \times U(1)$ gauge structure of SM, the explicit form of the coefficient vector is

$$\mathbf{b}(N,n) = \begin{vmatrix} b_1(1,n) \\ b_2(2,n) \\ b_3(3,n) \end{vmatrix}$$
(4)

with entries

$$b_{1}(1,n) = \frac{n}{12\pi^{2}}, \text{ for } N = 1,$$

$$b_{2}(2,n) = -\frac{11-n}{24\pi^{2}}, \text{ for } N = 2,$$

$$b_{3}(3,n) = -\frac{33-2n}{48\pi^{2}}, \text{ for } N = 3.$$
(5)

Let us assume in what follows that typical coupling strengths of SM represent fixed-point solutions of (2) and (3). For reference, we also assume that these are computed at the high-energy limit set by the mass of the Z boson [Appendix B, 19]:

$$\begin{aligned} \alpha_{\text{QED}}(M_Z) &= 1/127.9 \approx 0.00782, \\ \alpha_2(M_Z) &= 0.0338, \\ \alpha_3(M_Z) &= 0.123, \end{aligned} \tag{6a}$$

or, in set form

$$\alpha(M_Z) = \{ 0.00782 \quad 0.0338 \quad 0.123 \}$$
(6b)

Using (6b) the set of coupling parameters is given by

$$g_0^2(M_Z) = 4\pi\alpha(M_Z) = \{ 0.098 \quad 0.425 \quad 1.546 \}$$
⁽⁷⁾

3. Stability analysis

The set of three nonlinear differential Eqs. (2) and (3) based on (5) and (7) depends on the number of flavors n, which plays the role of an independent control parameter. Qualitative changes in the behavior of coupling trajectories are to be expected when n is finely tuned. As pointed out in Section 1, a typical assumption made in QFT is that the coupling flow evolves towards a finite set of attractors consisting of isolated fixed points [17]. On this basis we require that (2) and (3) yield a coupling flow that is *unique* and *stable*. These constraints amount to demanding that all Lyapunov exponents are real and vanishing with the exception of a single one, which is either vanishing or negative. Expanding (2) and (3) about (7) yields the new coefficient vector

$$\mathbf{a}(N,n) = 3g_0^2(M_Z)\mathbf{b}(N,n) = 10^{-3} \begin{vmatrix} 2.482n \\ -5.382(11-n) \\ -9.790(33-2n) \end{vmatrix}.$$
(8)

Following the Routh–Hurwitz criterion, the set of stability parameters assumes the form (see Appendix C):

$$p(n) = -[a_{11}(n) + a_{22}(n) + a_{33}(n)],$$

$$q(n) = [a_{11}(n)a_{22}(n) + a_{11}(n)a_{33}(n) + a_{22}(n)a_{33}(n)],$$

$$r(n) = -a_{11}(n)a_{22}(n)a_{33}(n),$$

(9)

where $a_{kk}(n)$, k = 1, 2, 3 are supplied by the components of (8). The characteristic equation is represented by the cubic polynomial

$$\Delta(n) = \lambda^3 + p(n)\lambda^2 + q(n)\lambda + r(n) = 0.$$
⁽¹⁰⁾

The constraint of a unique and stable trajectory implies

$$\lambda_1 = \lambda_2 = 0, \tag{11a}$$
$$\lambda_3 \leq 0, \tag{11b}$$

which yields

$$p(n) \ge 0,\tag{12}$$

$$q(n) = r(n) = 0. \tag{12}$$

We obtain the least squares solution

$$\underline{n \cong 7.3} \tag{13}$$

4. Discussion of results

Fig. 1 graphs the variation of the stability parameters with the flavor number. As expected, the least squares solution lies at the intersection point of q(n) and r(n). There are two distinct interpretations of this result, namely:

- the actual number of flavors in SM is indeed seven and so we should anticipate an extra fermion flavor to be discovered in future accelerator experiments (such as, but not limited to, the fourth family neutrino [9]);
- (2) the stability analysis we have developed is only an approximation that needs further revision. One can invoke here, for example, including higher-order corrections to (2) and (3), accounting for the Yukawa sector of the coupling flow [19] or starting from the framework of non-perturbative RG flow equations



Fig. 1. Variation of the stability parameters with the number of fermion flavors.

[20]. The expectation is that, by using one or more of these scenarios, the actual number of SM flavors n = 6 may be recovered at the end of calculations.

It is also instructive to note that the condition $p(n) \ge 0$ determines the largest number of flavors that preserves the flow stability. From the graph we see that this number is $n_{MAX} \approx 14$, consistent with the maximum number of quark flavors that maintains asymptotic freedom in QCD [4].

5. Conclusions

The origin of the six known generations of active fermions continues to be an unresolved issue of SM. We have examined in this work the possibility that the number of fermion generations is rooted in the stability of the gauge coupling flow. Constraining the coupling trajectories to settle on a set of isolated stationary points brings the number of flavors to seven. This result *either* makes room for an additional fermion generation in future tests of SM or suggests that our stability analysis is valid only up to a first-order approximation. The largest number of flavors for which the coupling trajectory remains stable was found to be fourteen. Future works on the topic may be devoted to the analysis of the gauge coupling flow in the presence of higher-order diagrams and/or random perturbations. A number of excellent studies exist on the subject of stochastic stability for multidimensional nonlinear systems. Although a complete listing is impractical, we believe that the methodology discussed in [22–25] may provide a suitable starting baseline.

Appendix A. On the Standard Model for particle physics [1-8,10,19]

SM combines relativity and quantum mechanics in a unified conceptual framework known as relativistic quantum field theory (QFT). Electromagnetic, weak and strong interactions are all included in SM and are described by abelian and non-abelian gauge theories. The structure of SM is a generalization of that of QED – the quantum theory of electromagnetic phenomena – to a larger set of conserved currents and charges. In SM the matter fields have spin 1/2 and are divided into two groups: quarks (the constituents of protons, neutrons and all hadrons) and leptons. There are six known generations (flavors) of quarks and six generations

of leptons. There are eight color charges, which couple quarks in QCD and four electroweak charges, which couple leptons and quarks. All interactions are carried through gauge particles of spin 1. They are, respectively, the photon γ , the three vector bosons of the weak interaction W^+, W^-, Z^0 and the eight gluons of the strong interaction. The set of three interactions can be formulated in terms of unitary groups of different dimensions. It is customary to denote the gauge structure of SM as a product expressed as $SU(3) \times SU(2) \times U(1)$. This notation has the following meaning: a gauge theory described by the group SU(N) is defined in terms of $N^2 - 1$ underlying gauge bosons. The group SU(3) is the gauge group of QCD, which carries the $3^2 - 1 = 8$ gluons of the strong interaction. The $SU(2) \times U(1)$ group represents the structure of the electro-weak model with $2^2 - 1 = 3$ corresponding massive vector bosons, namely (γ , W^+, W^-, Z^0).

The interaction amplitude is determined by the magnitude of a coupling constant, generically denoted by g or by the magnitude of the coupling strength $\alpha = g^2/4\pi$. A QFT characterized by a dimensionless coupling constant $g \ll 1$ is said to be weakly coupled and it is well defined by an expansion in powers of g, called perturbation theory. Otherwise, the theory is said to be strongly coupled. Perturbation techniques have limited applicability in strongly coupled theories and various non-perturbative methods have to be implemented in order to derive meaningful results.

Appendix B. The renormalization theory of coupling flow

The underlying idea of renormalization is to avoid divergences that show up in physical predictions of QFT by using systematic rules for performing calculations [1,2,7,8,19]. In general, a QFT is called renormalizable if all infinities can be absorbed into a redefinition of a finite number of parameters. There are several technical procedures to renormalize a field theory. One standard way is to cut off the integrals in the calculations at a large but finite value of momentum (Λ). The renormalization is successful if, after taking the limit $\Lambda \to \infty$, the resulting quantities are finite and independent of Λ .

An important consequence of the renormalization program is that all parameters of the theory depend on the energy scale at which the phenomena are recorded (μ). The so-called *beta function* encodes the evolution of a given parameter with the energy scale. For instance, the coupling flow equation is defined by the relation

$$\mu \frac{\partial g}{\partial \mu} = \beta(g). \tag{B1}$$

If the beta-functions of a QFT vanish, then the theory approaches a so-called *fixed point* where it becomes *scale-invariant*. The coupling parameters of a quantum field theory can flow even if the corresponding classical field theory is scale-invariant. In this case, the non-vanishing beta function indicates that the classical scale-invariance is *anomalous*. If a beta-function is *positive*, the corresponding coupling increases with increasing energy. An example is QED, where one finds by using perturbation theory that the beta-function is positive. In particular, at low energies, the fine-structure constant measures $\alpha_{\rm EM} \approx 1/137$, whereas at the scale of the Z boson, about 90 GeV, the same constant becomes $\alpha_{\rm EM} \approx 1/127.9$. In non-abelian gauge theories, the beta function can be *negative*. An example is the beta-function for QCD whose coupling decreases at high-energies. Furthermore, the coupling decreases logarithmically, a phenomenon known as *asymptotic freedom*. This means that the coupling becomes large at low energies and predictions can no longer rely on perturbation theory.

Appendix C. The Routh–Hurwitz criterion

We review here implementation of the Routh–Hurwitz criterion in the case of a three-dimensional system of nonlinear differential equations. For additional details, the reader is referred to [18]. Consider the three-dimensional system:

$$\dot{x}_1 = a_{11}x_1 + a_{12}x_2 + a_{13}x_3 + P_1(x_1, x_2, x_3),$$

$$\dot{x}_2 = a_{12}x_1 + a_{22}x_2 + a_{23}x_3 + P_2(x_1, x_2, x_3),$$

$$\dot{x}_3 = a_{13}x_1 + a_{23}x_2 + a_{33}x_3 + P_3(x_1, x_2, x_3),$$

(C1)

in which the functions P_i contain no linear terms. The characteristic equation of (C1) takes the form of the cubic polynomial

$$\lambda^3 + p\lambda^2 + q\lambda + r = 0, \tag{C2}$$

where the three stability parameters are given by

$$p = -(a_{11} + a_{22} + a_{33}),$$

$$q = \begin{vmatrix} a_{11} & a_{21} \\ a_{12} & a_{22} \end{vmatrix} + \begin{vmatrix} a_{11} & a_{31} \\ a_{13} & a_{33} \end{vmatrix} + \begin{vmatrix} a_{22} & a_{32} \\ a_{23} & a_{33} \end{vmatrix},$$

$$r = -\begin{vmatrix} a_{11} & a_{21} & a_{31} \\ a_{12} & a_{22} & a_{32} \\ a_{13} & a_{23} & a_{33} \end{vmatrix}.$$
(C3)

The Routh-Hurwitz stability condition amounts to the following condition:

p > 0, q > 0, r > 0 and $R \equiv pq - r > 0$.

(C4)

Boundaries of the stability region are defined by two surfaces (r = 0, p > 0, q > 0) and (R = 0, p > 0, q > 0). Eq. (C2) has at least one vanishing root on the surface r = 0, and a pair of imaginary roots on the surface (R = 0, q > 0).

References

- [1] Itzykson C, Zuber JB. Quantum field theory. New York: McGraw-Hill; 1980.
- [2] Zinn-Justin J. Quantum field theory and critical phenomena. Oxford: Clarendon Press; 1996.
- [3] Faddeev LD, Popov VN. Feynman diagrams for the Yang-Mills field. Phys Lett B 1967;25:29-30.
- [4] Gross DJ, Wilczek F. Ultraviolet behavior of non-abelian gauge theories. Phys Rev Lett 1973;30:1343-6.
- [5] Ryder LH. Quantum field theory. Cambridge University Press; 1996.
- [6] Kaku M. Quantum field theory. A modern introduction. Oxford University Press; 1993.
- [7] See, e.g., van Baal P. Course notes on Quantum Field Theory, available from: http://www.lorentz.leidenuniv.nl/vanbaal/FT/ extract.pdf.
- [8] See, e.g., http://plato.stanford.edu/entries-quantum-field-theory.
- [9] See, e.g., Ciftci AK et al. Fourth standard model family neutrino at future linear colliders. Phys Rev D 2005;72:053006.
- [10] See, e.g., http://www2.slac.stanford.edu/vvc/theory/model.html.
- [11] See, e.g., http://gesalerico.ft.uam.es/forilloph/20040428.ps.
- [12] Goldfain E. Complex dynamics and the high-energy regime of quantum field theory. Int J Nonlinear Sci Numer Simul 2005;6(3):223–34.
- [13] Goldfain E. Derivation of gauge boson masses from the dynamics of Levy flows. Nonlinear Phenom Complex Syst 2005;8(4):366-72.
- [14] Goldfain E. Derivation of lepton masses from the chaotic regime of the linear σ -model. Chaos, Solitons Fractals 2002;14:1331–40.
- [15] Goldfain E. Feigenbaum scaling, Cantorian space-time and the hierarchical structure of standard model parameters. Chaos, Solitons Fractals 2006;30:324–31.
- [16] Goldfain E. Fractional dynamics and the TeV regime of field theory, available from doi:doi:10.1016/j.cnsns.2006.06.001.
- [17] Morozov A, Niemi AJ. Can renormalization group flow end in a big mess? Nucl Phys B 2003;666:311–36.
- [18] Shilnikov LP et al. Methods of qualitative theory in nonlinear dynamics (Part II). Singapore: World Scientific; 2001.
- [19] See e. g. Donoghue JF et al. Dynamics of the standard model. Cambridge University Press; 1994.
- [20] Delamotte B, Canet L. What can be learnt from the nonperturbative renormalization group? Condens Matter Phys 2005;8(1):163–79. [21] See, e.g., Skarke H. Renormalization Group flow in a general gauge theory, available from hep-th/9407086.
- [22] Huang DW et al. On the chaotic motion of some stochastic nonlinear dynamic systems. Chaos, Solitons Fractals 2007;31:242–6.
- [23] Zhu WQ. Lyapunov exponent and stochastic stability of quasi-non-integrable Hamiltonian systems. Int J Non-Linear Mech 2004;39:569–79.
- [24] Most T, Bucher C. Stochastic dynamic stability of nonlinear structures. In: Grundmann & Schueller, editors. Proc of Structural Dynamics, EURODYN 2002.
- [25] Ariaratnam ST. Stochastic Stability of Modes at Rest in Coupled Nonlinear Systems. In: Grundmann & Schueller, editors. Proc of Nonlinear Stochastic Dynamic Engineering Systems 1987.